Blood Pressure and Cardiovascular Disease in Type 1 Diabetes: an Exploration of Prediction and Control

by

Jingchuan Guo

MPH, University of Pittsburgh, 2016 MD, Peking University, China, 2014

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of

the Department of Epidemiology

Graduate School of Public Health in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh

2019

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PUBLIC HEALTH

This dissertation was presented

by

Jingchuan Guo

It was defended on

December 11, 2018

and approved by

Maria M Brooks, PhD, Professor, Departments of Epidemiology and Biostatistics Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh

Tina Costacou, PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Epidemiology Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh

Matthew F Muldoon, MD, Professor, Heart and Vascular Institute School of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh

Ashely I Naimi, PhD, Assistant Professor, Department of Epidemiology Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh

Dissertation Director: Trevor J Orchard, MD, Distinguished Professor Department of Epidemiology, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh Copyright © by Jingchuan Guo

2019

Blood Pressure and Cardiovascular Disease in Type 1 Diabetes: an Exploration of Prediction and Control

Jingchuan Guo, PhD

University of Pittsburgh, 2019

Abstract

This dissertation provides, in a type 1 diabetes (T1D) cohort followed for 25 years, a comprehensive examination of both blood pressure (BP) as a cardiovascular disease risk predictor and the role of the renin-angiotensin system (RAS) inhibition in reducing cardiovascular risk. Data are from the Pittsburgh Epidemiology of Diabetes Complications (EDC) Study of childhood-onset diabetes.

First, we observed that all five BP indices (systolic [SBP], diastolic [DBP], pulse [PP], mean arterial [MAP] and mid-blood pressure [MidBP]) predicted incident coronary artery disease (CAD) independently of other risk factors. Although PP was less effective in the entire cohort, its prognostic significance improved, and became comparable to SBP, in participants age 35 years and older and/or with poor glycemic control. This likely reflects an early onset of glycation-included vascular stiffening in T1D.

Second, using time-weighted variables that reflected long-term exposure to high BP from youth throughout midlife, we found dose-gradient associations of SBP, DBP and MAP with CAD outcomes, beginning at approximately 120, 80 and 90 mmHg, respectively. This suggests a lower BP goal (i.e.,120/80 mmHg) is needed than currently recommended (140/90 mmHg) for young T1D adults.

In the third analysis, an examination of the RAS inhibition effect on CAD outcomes in T1D, appropriate statistical methods (inverse probability treatment weight, marginal structural

model, and causal mediation analysis) were used under a causal-inference framework. RAS inhibitors, but not β blockers or calcium channel blockers, reduced CAD risk, though the results did not reach statistical significance. Mediation analysis indicated that cardiovascular protective effect of RAS inhibitors was partially achieved through pathways beyond lowering BP and urinary albumin, the two prominent effects of this antihypertensive class. Though not significant, these findings suggest a greater potential for RAS inhibitors to offer superior cardioprotection, compared to β blockers and calcium channel blockers, in T1D.

Overall, the dissertation findings have contributed to filling some critical gaps in our understanding of the magnitude of cardiovascular risk associated with BP and how to effectively control hypertension in T1D. This body of work thus has important public health relevance, given the enormous contribution of cardiovascular disease to T1D mortality and morbidity.

Table of Contents

1.0 Introduction and Background 1
1.1 Diabetes Classification, Natural History and Epidemiology
1.1.1 Diagnosis and Classification2
1.1.2 Natural History of Diabetes
1.1.3 Epidemiology of Diabetes5
1.2 Type 1 Diabetes (T1D) and Complication Burdens6
1.2.1 Mortality in T1D7
1.2.2 Cardiovascular Disease in T1D7
1.2.3 Chronic Kidney Disease in T1D8
1.3 Blood pressure (BP) and Hypertension8
1.3.1 Pathophysiology of Essential Hypertension9
1.3.2 Hypertension Diagnosis and Classification9
1.3.3 BP Components 10
1.3.4 Epidemiology of Hypertension11
1.3.5 High BP as a Cardiovascular Risk Factor12
1.4 BP Measurement Methodologies13
1.5 Hypertension in T1D 15
1.5.1 Epidemiology of Hypertension in T1D15
1.5.2 Pathophysiology of Hypertension in T1D16
1.5.3 Renal Complications17
1.5.4 Cardiovascular Complications18

1.5.5 Cognitive Impairment	20
1.5.6 Other Complications	21
1.6 Antihypertensive Clinical Trials in T1D	23
1.7 Gaps in Knowledge and Significance	24
1.8 Tables	28
2.0 Paper I: Relative Importance of Different BP Components in Type I Diabetes	40
2.1 Introduction	40
2.2 Methods	41
2.2.1 Study Population	41
2.2.2 Ascertainment of Cardiovascular Outcomes	42
2.2.3 Measurement of BP	42
2.2.4 Measurement of Covariates	42
2.2.5 Statistical Analysis	43
2.3 Results	45
2.4 Discussion	48
2.5 Conclusion	50
2.6 Tables and Figures	52
3.0 Paper II: Optimal BP Goals in Young Adults with Type 1 Diabetes	61
3.1 Introduction	61
3.2 Methods	62
3.2.1 Study Population	62
3.2.2 Coronary Artery Disease Definition	63
3.2.3 Assessment of BP	63

3.2.4 Measurement of Covariates64
3.2.5 Statistical Analysis65
3.3 Results
3.4 Discussion
3.5 Conclusion
3.6 Tables and Figures76
4.0 Paper III: RAS Inhibition Effect on CAD Outcomes in Type I Diabetes
4.1 Background 89
4.2 Methods
4.2.1 Study Population91
4.2.2 Ascertainment of Cardiovascular Outcomes
4.2.3 Medication Use Assessment
4.2.4 Risk Factors Measurement92
4.2.5 Statistical Methods93
4.3 Results
4.4 Discussion
4.5 Conclusion
4.6 Tables and Figures104
5.0 Contextual Discussion of Research Findings114
5.1 Introduction
5.2 Major Findings 115
5.2.1 Predictive Utilities of Different BP Components
5.2.2 Temporal Change in BP Reflects Accelerated Vascular Aging in T1D 116

5.2.3 High BP is a Important Risk Factor118
5.2.4 A Lower BP Goal than Currently Recommended is Needed in T1D 119
5.2.5 RAS Inhibition Offers Direct Cardioprotection
5.3 Strengths 122
5.4 Limitations 123
5.5 Future Research124
5.6 Public Health and Clinical Implications124
Appendix A Supplemental Materials of Paper II127
Appendix B Supplemental Materials of Paper III: Sensitivity Analysis with Different
Model Specifications
Appendix C Supplemental Materials of Paper III: Causal Mediation Analysis with
Time-varying SBP and Albuminuria134
Bibliography

List of Tables

Table 1 Diabetes Diagnostic Cut-offs 28
Table 2 Staging of T1D
Table 3 Target Organ Damage of Hypertension
Table 4 Classification of Hypertension (AHA 2017) 31
Table 5 Estimation of Different BP Indices
Table 6 Pros and Cons of BP Measurement Methodologies 33
Table 7 BP and Cardiovascular Risk Prediction in T1D 34
Table 8 Observational Studies of BP Threshods and Cardiovascular Outcomes in T1D35
Table 9 Randomized Control Trials of BP Contorl in T1D
Table 10 Baseline Characteristics of the Overall Study Participants 52
Table 11 Hazard Ratios and C Statistics of Different BP Indices for CAD Prediction 53
Table 12 Interactions of BP with Age, and with HbA1c in CAD Prediction Models
Table 13 Time-varying BP Indices Associated with Incident CAD
Table 14 Baseline Risk Factor Selection for CAD Prediction using LASSO-Cox Model
Table 15 Combined BP versus Single BP Indices in CAD Prediction 57
Table 16 Study Participant Characteristics by Time-weighted BP
Table 17 Time-updated Cumulative BPs (mmHg-Years) and CAD
Table 18 Dose-Gradient Associations of Time-weighted BPs and CAD 79
Table 19 Sensitivity, Specificity and AUC by Different Cut-offs of Time-weighted BPs 80
Table 20 Risk Stratification by Time-weighted BPs and Time-weighted HbA1c for CAD Risk
Prediction

Table 21 Stratified Analysis of Time-weighted BPs and CAD by Antihypertensive Use
Table 22 Dose-gradient Association of Time-weighted HbA1c and CAD 83
Table 23 Baseline Characteristics of Participants by RAS Inhibitor Use Status 104
Table 24 Most Recent Characteristics of Participants 106
Table 25 Mediation Effect of BP and Albuminuria on the Association of Most Recent RAS
Inhibition with CAD 108
Table 26 Time-updated Cumulative BPs (mmHg-years) with CAD (Adjutment for Age but not
Diabetes Duration)
Table 27 Dos-gradient Association of Time-weighted BPs and CAD (Adjustment for Age but not
Diabetes Duration)
Table 28 Risk Stratification by Time-weighted BPs and Time-weighted HbA1c for CAD Risk
Prediction (Adjustment for Age but not Diabetes Duration)
Table 29 Stratified Analysis of Time-weighted BPs and CAD by Antihypertensive Use Status
(Adjustment for Age but not Diabetes Duration) 130
Table 30 Associations of Covariates with RAS Inhibition Exposure and with CAD Outcome. 131
Table 31 Association of Time-varying RAS Inhibition and CAD outcomes by Different Model
Specifications
Table 32 Mediaiton Analysis with Time-varying Covariates Using Controlled Direct Models 134

List of Figures

Figure 1 Age-specific Means of BP Indices between CAD Cases and Non-Cases	59
Figure 2 Model-based Interaction Effect of Age and HbA1c on the Association of PP with	CAD
Outcomes	60
Figure 3 CAD Incidence Rate by Categorized Timed-weighted BPs	84
Figure 4 Risk Stratified Kaplan-MeierSurvival Curves for CAD Risk Prediction	85
Figure 5 Time-updated Cumulative BPs (mmHg-Years) over the Follow-up	86
Figure 6 Model-based Interaction Plot between Time-weighted BP and HbA1c	87
Figure 7 Population Attributable Risk Fraction (PARF) Estimation	88
Figure 8 Simplified Directed Acyclic Graph to Illustrate the Association of RAS Inhibitors	with
CAD	109
Figure 9 Prevalence of Antihypertensive Use over the Fullow-Up	110
Figure 10 Prevalence of RAS Inhibitor Use Prior to CAD Incidence	111
Figure 11 The Effect of Most Recent RAS Inhibition Treatment on CAD	112
Figure 12 The Average Effect of Time-varying RAS Inhibition Treatment on CAD	113

1.0 Introduction and Background

Not only are diabetes and hypertension two of the most common diseases, but they also share a remarkable overlap in the underlying pathophysiological pathways of end-organ damage. In the United States, approximately three-quarters of the diabetes patients also have hypertension ¹, and an estimated 18 million Americans are affected by both conditions ². Moreover, the coexistence of diabetes and hypertension accelerates the course of end-organ damage ³. Previous results showed that 35-75% of diabetes complications could be attributed to elevated blood pressure (BP) ⁴. Hypertension increases the risk of cardiovascular disease by 50% in patients with diabetes ⁵. Hypertension management remains a concern in the diabetes population, including optimal BP targets and choices of antihypertensive agents. The answers to these questions are particularly elusive with regard to type 1 diabetes (T1D). This review focuses on evidence and knowledge gaps of hypertension and BP control in T1D.

1.1 Diabetes Classification, Natural History and Epidemiology

According to the American Diabetes Association (ADA), diabetes is "a group of metabolic diseases characterized by hyperglycemia resulting from defects in insulin secretion, insulin action, or both" ⁶. All forms of diabetes are chronic and progressive, leading to large vessel, small vessel, and/or neuropathic complications. Diabetes has been a substantial burden in the United States because of its high and rising prevalence, as well as its implications for both long-term health and economics ^{7,8}.

1.1.1 Diagnosis and Classification

The primary clinical manifestation and diagnostic feature of diabetes is hyperglycemia ⁹. The ADA diagnostic cut-offs are listed in **Table 1**¹⁰. The presence of one or more of the following four criteria may confirm the diagnosis of diabetes: 1) glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) \geq 6.5%, 2) Fasting plasma glucose (FPG) \geq 126 mg/dL, 3) two-hour plasma glucose in the 75g oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) \geq 200 mg/dL, and 4) random plasma glucose \geq 200 mg/dL in patients with hyperglycemic symptoms (polyuria, polydipsia, or unexplained weight loss) or hyperglycemic crisis. In prediabetes, which usually manifests as impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) and/or impaired fasting glucose (IFG), blood glucose is higher than normal but it does not reach the threshold of a diabetes diagnosis ⁶.

To address the distinct etiologies of different forms of diabetes, the ADA guidelines now recommend a four-category classification, comprising type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus, gestational diabetes mellitus, and other specific forms of diabetes ⁶. These are described below:

- T1D features the autoimmune-mediated destruction of pancreatic β-cells¹¹, resulting in absolute insulin deficiency. It accounts for about 5% of diabetes cases.
- Type 2 diabetes is featured as having glucose-specific insulin secretion defects and/or insulin resistance ¹². It accounts for over 90% of diabetes cases.
- Gestational diabetes mellitus is glucose intolerance that is first identified in the second or third trimester of pregnancy. In the United States, gestational diabetes mellitus affects about 7% of pregnant women ¹³.
- Specific types of diabetes may present with symptoms similar to those of type 1 or type 2 diabetes, but they have diverse causes, such as monogenic diabetes syndromes (e.g.,

2

maturity-onset diabetes of the young [MODY]), pancreatic disorders, drug-induced effects, and transplantation related diabetes.

1.1.2 Natural History of Diabetes

Expert consensus from the ADA, the Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation (JDRF), the European Association for the Study of Diabetes, and the American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists concluded that hyperglycemia due to pancreatic β-cell dysfunction or destruction is the unifying feature of all forms of diabetes regardless of distinct pathophysiological pathways ¹⁴. Hyperglycemia of all forms of diabetes subsequently leads to the risk of developing complications, although disease progression rates may vary.

A natural history model of T1D was proposed in 1986 by Eisenbarth ¹⁵ and subsequent findings have improved the understanding of the autoimmune mechanism as well as the potential triggering effects of genetic and environmental factors in the disease pathogenesis ¹⁶. In genetically susceptible individuals, some environmental factors (possibly infections and chemicals) may trigger a self-autoimmune reaction, which results in the progressive destruction of pancreatic β cells. In the early phases, although the progressive destruction of β -cells and the serological positivity of circulating autoantibodies have been initiated, sufficient pancreatic β -cell function is still preserved to maintain a normal blood glucose level. In this phase, the persistent presence of multiple islet autoantibodies might be predictors of the risk of clinical hyperglycemia and diabetes in the future ¹⁷. In the following disease phases, the β -cell destruction continues, leading to the subsequent loss of insulin production and then the elevation of blood glucose. Overt diabetes eventually develops when most β -cells are lost. T1D staging was recently updated based upon the natural history of the disease (**Table 2**) ^{14,18}. Stage 1 is characterized by the presence of islet β -cell autoimmunity, which is indicated by the serological positivity of multiple autoantibodies with normal glucose status and the absence of symptoms. Stage 2 is characterized by the presence of islet β -cell autoimmunity with impaired glucose status and the absence of symptoms. Stage 3 is the onset of overt diabetes ¹⁸.

The presence of β -cell-targeting autoantibodies reflects the exposure to β -cell autoantigens ¹⁹. The GAD65 and/or insulin autoantibodies usually appear in the first order, and the IA-2 and/or ZNT8 autoantibodies appear in the second or third order ¹⁹. Because autoantibodies can be present in the first stage of the disease ^{14,18}, their detection offers opportunities for early screening and diagnosis prior to the onset of diabetic ketoacidosis. Indeed, screening studies to detect autoantibodies in newborns or children have been conducted in several European counties and the United States. The follow-up visits have suggested a decreased incidence of diabetic ketoacidosis in these screening cohorts, mainly resulting from the earlier start of treatment ^{20–22}.

Genetic susceptibility in T1D has been extensively studied over the past several decades. More than 60 genetic variants have been found to be associated with the disease ²³. The link between the human leukocyte antigens (HLA) region and T1D was first described in the 1970s ²⁴ and it remains the greatest contributor to genetic susceptibility to the disease ²⁵. The HLA region localized on chromosome 6 (6p21.31) and the class II DR-DQ antigens are particularly strongly associated with T1D ^{25,26}. Interestingly, the direction of the association---either susceptible to or protective against---in the development of T1D is dependent on the particular DR-DQ haplotypes ^{25,27,28}. European data showed that the HLA-DR3-DQ2 and HLA-DR4-DQ8 haplotypes were detected in approximately 90% of Caucasian children diagnosed with T1D ^{28,29}. Multiple non-HLA risk loci were identified to be linked to T1D based on the advancements in genotyping methodologies in recent decades 30 . In addition to the HLA region, the insulin gene (INS) and the PTPN22 gene are the two loci that are the most susceptible to T1D 25 .

The pathophysiological pathway that leads to the loss of β -cell mass and/or function is less well understood in type 2 diabetes. Defective insulin secretion in the background of insulin resistance is thought to be the central pathogenesis of the onset and progression of the disease ^{14,31}. In the initial phase, individuals at risk of type 2 diabetes (e.g., obese individuals and first-degree relatives) may exhibit reduced insulin sensitivity compensated by increased insulin secretion in pancreatic islet β -cells, which usually leads to hyperinsulinemia. Overtime, the compensatory hyperinsulinemia is no longer able to cope with the further decrease in insulin sensitivity, which results in increased blood glucose in the background of hyperinsulinemia. The β -cell function progressively declines over time, which eventually leads to overt hyperglycemia. As indicated by the glucose status, a three-stage classification is now used for type 2 diabetes: normal glucose, prediabetes (IGT and/or IFG) and diabetes ⁶. Intervention in the stage of prediabetes may reduce the risk of progression to diabetes ^{32,33} as well as the risk of all-cause mortality ^{34,35}.

1.1.3 Epidemiology of Diabetes

The prevalence of diabetes have increased dramatically in recent years ³⁶. Globally, the number of diabetes cases increased over 12-fold (from 30 to 382 million) in the recent half-century from 1964 ³⁷ to 2013 ³⁶. According to the International Diabetes Federation (IDF), the total health expenditure for diabetes was 673 billion US dollars ⁸.

The United States has the third largest patient population of diabetes in the world ³⁸. According to statistics from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) ³⁹, the age-standardized diabetes prevalence among adults ≥ 20 years of age increased from 9.8% in the period 1988 -1994 to 10.8% in 2001-2002 and to 12.4% in 2011-2012. The prevalence of diabetes was projected to rise to 25% by 2050 40 .

The most recent National Diabetes Report published by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC)¹ documented that 23.1 million U.S. individuals were diagnosed with diabetes in 2015, including 193,000 children and adolescents \leq 20 years of age. Between 2001 and 2009, the prevalence of type 1 and type 2 diabetes in youth increased by 21.1% and 30.5%, respectively⁴¹.

The health, social, and economic impacts of diabetes continue to increase in the United States. Diabetes is the seventh leading underlying cause of mortality ⁴² in the nation. The estimated total economic cost of diabetes increased from \$174 billion in 1997 ⁴³, \$132 billion in 2002⁴⁴, to \$245 billion in 2012 ⁴⁵.

1.2 Type 1 Diabetes (T1D) and Complication Burdens

Type 1 diabetes (T1D) is a common chronic disorder among children ⁴⁶. The United States has the largest T1D population and the highest diabetes-related health expenditures in the world ⁴⁷. According to the NHANES 1999-2010, T1D affected approximately a million people in the nation ⁴⁸. Despite advances in healthcare, the mortality rate of T1D remains two to four times greater than that seen in the general population ^{49,50}. Because the negative impact of the disease continues to increase and prevention remains elusive in T1D, the effective control of the risks of complications is critical.

1.2.1 Mortality in T1D

Mortality in T1D has decreased in recent years ^{51,52}. However, excess mortality remains in the contemporary T1D population ⁵³. The major cause of death has shifted from acute to chronic diabetes complications, especially cardiovascular disease ^{51,54,55}.

1.2.2 Cardiovascular Disease in T1D

Cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of death in long-standing T1D, which accounts for over 60% of all-cause mortality in type 1 patients with more than 20 years of diabetes duration ⁵⁶. Although the prevention and delay of microvascular complications ⁵⁷ have been notably improved in recent years, cardiovascular complications in T1D remain high in ⁴⁷. Typically, cardiovascular events occur more than 10 years earlier in T1D patients compared to the non-diabetic population ⁵⁸. The Pittsburgh Epidemiology of Diabetes Complications (EDC) Study reported an incidence of 0.98% per year for major coronary artery disease (CAD) in T1D individuals between 28 and 38 years of age ⁵⁹, whereas the annual incidence of myocardial infarction in the general population was 0.1% in the age group 35- 44 years ⁶⁰, suggesting an approximate 10-fold increase in cardiovascular risk in young adults with T1D ⁶¹. Another striking finding from the EDC cohort showed that young T1D adults at age 30 - 39 and 40 - 44 years had 33 and 19 times increased risk of cardiovascular mortality, respectively ⁶².

1.2.3 Chronic Kidney Disease in T1D

Epidemiological data of T1D kidney disease vary among cohorts. A review published in 2013 reported that over 30 years, the cumulative incidence of overt nephropathy and end-stage renal disease were 11 - 32% and 3.3 - 7.8%, respectively ⁶³. A striking finding in the EDC cohort suggested that the 50-year cumulative incidences of overt nephropathy and end-stage renal disease were 72% and 60%, respectively ⁶⁴. Another report of the EDC study documented that the death rates of T1D individuals without kidney disease were similar to the age-matched general population, implying that the excess deaths in the T1D population were mainly attributed to renal complications ⁶⁵.

1.3 Blood pressure (BP) and Hypertension

Hypertension is considered as a hemodynamic disorder with a chronic elevation of arterial pressure and leads to premature morbidity and mortality via target organs damage (**Table 3**) ⁶⁶. Hypertension remains the most common risk factor of death and disability according to the 2015 Global Burden of Diseases ⁶⁷. The number of people affected worldwide increased from 600 million to 1 billion between 1980 and 2008 ⁶⁸. The lifetime risk of hypertension was found to be 90% in individuals over 55 years of age ⁶⁹. Most hypertension cases (90 - 95%) that have no apparent cause are categorized as essential (primary) hypertension. About 5 - 10% of the hypertensive population have an identifiable cause, which are referred to as secondary hypertension ⁷⁰.

1.3.1 Pathophysiology of Essential Hypertension

The maintenance of arterial pressure is dependent on the balance of cardiac output and systematic vascular resistance ⁷¹. The pathogenesis of essential hypertension remains elusive. Impaired renal sodium excretion might cause the increased concentration of calcium in the smooth muscle cells in arteries, leading to an increased vascular tone ^{72,73}. Both mechanisms, renal sodium excretion and vascular tone, are fundamental in BP regulation, which may be affected by various genetic and environmental factors ⁷³. Several additional physiological factors are thought to be involved in BP regulation mechanisms, including the circulating and intrarenal renin-angiotensin system (RAS), the autonomic nervous system, endothelial dysfunction as well as vasoactive and inflammatory substances (e.g., bradykinin, endothelin, nitric oxide, arterial natriuretic peptide, ouabain, and cytokines adhesion molecules)^{71–77}. In the context of elevated BP, these factors worsen pathophysiological changes, including damage to the arterial wall and abnormal blood flow, and facilitate a prothrombotic state, which subsequently results in target organ damage ^{78,79}.

1.3.2 Hypertension Diagnosis and Classification

According to the American Heart Association (AHA) ideal cardiovascular health criteria, BP less than 120/80 mmHg was identified as one of the seven components of ideal cardiovascular health ⁸⁰. The most recent classification update from the AHA is displayed in **Table 4** ⁸¹, which shows that normal BP is defined as < 120/80 mmHg ⁸¹. However, the 2018 ADA continued the cutoff of 140/90 mmHg ⁸².

1.3.3 BP Components

Several BP components, such as systolic (SBP) and diastolic (DBP) pressure, mean arterial pressure (MAP), pulse pressure (PP) and mid-blood pressure (MidBP), have shown predictive values of adverse vascular outcomes, (**Table 5**) ^{83–85}. The SBP and DBP represent the maximum and minimum pressures of large arteries within one cardiac cycle. Both SBP and DBP remain the primary indices for hypertension diagnosis, classification, and intervention evaluation ^{86–88}. In the general population, DBP rises until 50 - 60 years of age and then becomes constant or even declines, whereas SBP increases with age ⁷³. The results of the Framingham Heart Study suggested that DBP was the strongest risk factor for adverse cardiovascular outcomes in individuals less than 50 years old, and its prognostic value diminished with age ^{89,90}. In comparison, SBP maintains its predictive value of cardiovascular disease, which is superior in elderly individuals over 60 years old ^{90–92}. Guidelines have recommended SBP as the primary index of antihypertensive therapy evaluation ^{66,88,93}.

BP has both steady and pulsatile components ^{94,95}. The steady component is estimated by MAP, reflecting an average pressure load over a cardiac cycle ⁹⁴. PP is used to estimate the pulsatile component, which represents BP fluctuation and is mainly affected by the stiffness of large arteries ⁹⁴. MAP is a predictor of adverse cardiovascular outcomes ^{83,84}, but its discriminatory power diminishes with age because of the respective changes in SBP and DBP ⁸⁹. In contrast, the changes in SBP and DBP with age result in a significant increase in PP.

MidBP is calculated as the average of SBP and DBP. MidBP has been shown to be a strong predictor of cardiovascular outcomes, and it might even be superior to other single BP measures (i.e., SBP , DBP, and PP) ⁹⁶. The possible explanation is that this index incorporates information

on both SBP and DBP. It is also possible that the average may reflect the halving of the random measuring errors that affect SBP or DBP ⁹⁶.

1.3.4 Epidemiology of Hypertension

Hypertension is the most frequent cause of death and disability in the world, even exceeding tobacco use and obesity ⁶⁷. Hypertension results in more than 9 million deaths worldwide every year, which is as many as all infectious diseases combined ⁹⁷. The global burden of hypertension increased substantially from 1995 to 2005: an increase of 11% in prevalence rates; an increase of 7% in related death; and an increase of 43% in associated loss of disability-adjusted life-years (DALY) ⁹⁸.

In the United States, one in three to four adults has hypertension ⁹⁹, according to a threshold $\geq 140/90 \text{ mm}$ Hg or the use of antihypertensive medications. The overall prevalence of hypertension is 29.0% (approximately 90.0 million people are affected), which increases progressively with age from 7.3% at 18 - 39 years of age to 32.2% at 40 - 59 years of age, and 64.9% in those 60 years of age and older. Compared with women, men have a higher prevalence among those aged 18 - 39 years old (8.4% men vs. 6.1% women) and those aged 40 - 59 years old (34.6% vs. 29.9%), but not in those aged 60 and older (63.1% men vs. 66.5% women) ⁹⁹. Among different races and ethnicities, black adults of both genders have the highest prevalence of hypertension (41.2%) compared with whites (28.0%), Asians (24.9%) and Hispanics (25.9%).

1.3.5 High BP as a Cardiovascular Risk Factor

Hypertension remains one of the most important risk factors of cardiovascular disease, which is more common than diabetes, smoking, and dyslipidemia ^{66,67}. It has been estimated that, at the global level, hypertension accounts for about one-half of cardiovascular diseases ¹⁰⁰. The Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial (MRFIT)¹⁰¹ was one of the first studies with a large sample size to demonstrate a dose-dependent association of high BP with cardiovascular risk. The Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA) study reported that elevated BP was significantly associated with the heavier burden of coronary artery calcification ^{102,103} in young and middle-aged adults. Evidence from randomized control trials (RCTs) demonstrated that antihypertensive therapy reduced the risk of cardiovascular events. A recent meta-analysis of 123 randomized control trails among over 600,000 hypertensive individuals demonstrated that every decrease of 10 mmHg in SBP was associated with a 20% reduction in cardiovascular risk ¹⁰⁴. A subsequent network meta-analysis of 42 antihypertensive therapy randomized control trails confirmed the above findings, showing that a mean SBP of 120 - 124 mmHg reduced cardiovascular risk by 29% compared with a mean SBP of 130 - 134 mmHg; by 42% compared with a mean SBP of 140 - 144 mmHg; by 54% compared with a mean SBP of 150 - 154 mmHg; and by 64% as compared to a mean SBP higher than 160 mmHg¹⁰⁵. The cumulative evidence derived from the available studies supported a causal link between raised BP and cardiovascular risk.

12

1.4 BP Measurement Methodologies

Two basic techniques are available for BP measurement in clinical settings: the auscultatory and oscillometric methods. The auscultatory method is applied using mercury sphygmomanometers, aneroid, or hybrid devices. The advantages and disadvantages of these methods are listed in

Table 6.

The Korotkoff method of auscultatory measurement has been used since it was developed over a century ago ⁸⁷. A cuff is wrapped around the upper arm, which is then inflated and deflated. The cuff is inflated until the pressure exceeds the SBP to ensure that the brachial artery is occluded. With the gradual deflation of the cuff, the pulsatile blood flow reappears in the brachial artery, producing sounds that can be heard through a stethoscope ¹⁰⁶. The Korotkoff sounds, which are thought to be generated by the reestablished pulsatile flow, have been classified in five phases ¹⁰⁶. SBP is determined by the onset of the first phase. There was controversy in the past regarding the use of the fourth or fifth phase for recording DBP. The detection of the fourth phase tends to be more difficult and subjective than that of the fifth phase. Hence, the general consensus now is to use the fifth phase ⁸⁷. Notably, the fifth phase may be heard nearly to a level of 0 mmHg in some children, and the fourth phase should be recorded under such a circumstance ¹⁰⁶.

The mercury auscultatory technique using the Korotkoff sounds, has been the gold standard ⁸⁷. Nevertheless, it is important to note that observer error is the major limitation of this technique. The terminal digit preference is the most common source of this error ^{87,107–109}. Indeed, digital bias frequently occurs when the observer recognizes a particular BP threshold value ⁸⁷.

The Hawksley random-zero sphygmomanometer (RZS), which is a modification of the standard mercury manometer, was designed to reduce digital bias by eliminating the terminal digit preference ¹¹⁰. However, the use of RZS devices was discontinued because of the inherent technical

issue of under-recording the BP values compared with the standard mercury sphygmomanometer ^{111,112}. Nevertheless, in the past, the RZS was widely implemented in epidemiological studies. Recent studies have compared the RZS and the automated oscillometric device to obtain corrections between these two methods ¹¹³.

The use of automated oscillometric devices has increased mainly because of the advantages of eliminating observer error, decreasing the white-coat effect, and increasing measurement frequency. It should be noted that in difference brands of oscillometric devices different algorithms are applied in BP readings, which are kept confidential by the manufacturers. Thus, the BP measuring values may not be comparable across different brands of devices.

BP levels fluctuate physiologically over time, which is due to the regulation mechanisms of the cardiovascular system ¹¹⁴. In addition to these physiological fluctuations, the levels of BP are influenced by various internal and external factors, such as environmental conditions (e.g., noises), emotions, and physical activities. Hence, a BP measured in a single visit may not be sufficiently representative of an individual' s usual BP status ¹¹⁵. More than 40 years ago, the Hypertension Detection and Follow-up Program (HDFP) started using a two-screen protocol for the detection of hypertension ¹¹⁶. In their study, participants with elevated BP at the first screening required a second screening for repeated BP measurements to confirm the diagnosis of hypertension. Since then, repeated readings for elevated BP have been widely recommended in the guidelines for hypertension diagnosis ⁸⁷.

1.5 Hypertension in T1D

Hypertension, which is a strong predictor of microvascular and macrovascular diseases, affects over 40% of T1D patients as early 30 years of age ¹¹⁷. Although high BP is modifiable, it remains a poorly treated risk factor of adverse health outcomes in the contemporary T1D population ¹¹⁸.

1.5.1 Epidemiology of Hypertension in T1D

High BP is a common finding in T1D, and is involved in the pathogenesis of diabetes complications ¹¹⁹. However, the epidemiological data on hypertension in T1D are limited and mainly from Europe ^{120–127} and a few are from the United States ^{117,128,129}. Over 20% of T1D patients less than 18 years old were affected by raised BP, and this proportion increases with age and diabetes duration ^{124,127}. A striking finding from a recent systematic review demonstrated that hypertension occurred in almost one in two young adults with T1D between 18 and 30 years old ¹³⁰. Hypertension in T1D individuals is generally thought to have an approximately 1.5- to 2-fold greater prevalence than that seen in the general population ¹³¹. In individuals with T1D, BP not only rises at an early age but also develops a deleterious pattern in later life, showing a greater elevation in SBP and an earlier fall in DBP ¹²⁴.

In T1D, high BP was generally thought to be a manifestation of underlying nephropathy. Hence, the presence of hypertension was thus thought to be a consequence of nephropathy of T1D and manifested only in the subgroup of patients who had already developed diabetic nephropathy ^{121,132}. Nørgaard et al. showed that hypertension prevalence was similar between normoalbuminuric T1D patients and non-diabetic individuals ¹³³, indicating that BP would not be elevated in T1D before the development of nephropathy. However, recent data demonstrated that T1D individuals, even in the absence of microalbuminuria, exhibited a remarkably increased BP than age-matched non-diabetic controls did ¹²⁴. This findings suggests that hypertension can occur in T1D patients even in the absence of renal impairment ¹²⁴.

1.5.2 Pathophysiology of Hypertension in T1D

Type 1 and type 2 diabetes have distinct biological mechanisms and thus the pathophysiological pathways of hypertension at least partially differ between the two types. Different from type 2 diabetes, BP usually rises after the occurrence of T1D, thus, hyperglycemia (HbA1c and diabetes duration) plays a particularly crucial role in the pathogenesis of hypertension, primarily via hyperglycemia-induced RAS overstimulation, as well as the development of advanced glycated end products ^{2,134}. The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT)/Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications (EDIC) Study has demonstrated that intensive insulin therapy decreased the risk of hypertension in T1D¹²⁸, suggesting the essential effect of glycemic load on hypertension pathogenesis in T1D. Another common characteristic of hypertension in T1D is that hypertension coexists much more frequently with microalbuminuria, suggesting that the increased renal reabsorption of sodium and the impaired renal excretion of sodium is a likely contributor to BP elevation ¹³⁵. Moreover, long-term insulin therapy often leads to weight gain ^{136,137}, which is another major contributor to raised BP. Given the diabetes onset age is usually much younger in type 1 population, the basis of the pathophysiology differs between the two types of diabetes. Therefore, for evidence of hypertension management in the middle-aged and older type 2 population is not likely to be directly extrapolated to individuals with T1D.

16

1.5.3 Renal Complications

Over the past 30 years, hypertension has been extensively studied in conjunction with the renal complications of diabetes ^{131,138,139}. High BP may be both a cause and a consequence of diabetic nephropathy ¹³¹. Traditionally, the development of diabetic nephropathy was based on the albuminuria-centric model; raised albuminuria has been the gold standard of both the screening and diagnosis of diabetic nephropathy. Elevated BP in T1D has been frequently observed to follow the initiation of microalbuminuria ¹⁴⁰. The EDC study also found that high BP was a predictor of microalbuminuria in T1D ¹⁴¹, which indicated the major role of hypertension in the albuminuria-centric model. However, intriguing findings from the most recent studies suggested that a significant renal decline may start in the normoalbuminuric phase. The presence of albuminuria does not always reflect the declining glomerular filtration rate (GFR) ^{142,143}. Thus, Krolewski et al. ¹⁴⁴ proposed a new paradigm of T1D nephropathy in which an early GRF decline is the primary disease progression that leads to impaired renal function. It should be noted that BP remains an independent predictor of the new paradigm T1D nephropathy. A 10 mmHg increase in SBP may lead to a 30% increased risk of renal function decline ^{143,145}.

Because of the close interaction between hypertension and diabetic kidney disease, BP control is of paramount importance in preventing and slowing the decline of renal function in T1D. The antagonism of RAS has been the mainstay therapy used for BP control and albuminuria reduction. Nevertheless, several specific issues remain to be resolved in T1D, such as the optimal BP target to minimize the risk of renal function decline, whether the reduction of albuminuria per se leads to the prevention and/or slower progression of renal decline, and whether the use of RAS inhibiting agents prevent the development of renal decline in ways other than lowering BP and reducing albuminuria.

1.5.4 Cardiovascular Complications

Elevated BP in T1D can begin in childhood, and it causes excess cardiovascular risk at an early age. Schwab et al. ¹⁴⁶ reported that an elevated SBP, but not lipid profile, was significantly correlated with carotid intima-media thickness in T1D children, supporting the greater importance of BP than dyslipidemia in early arteriosclerosis.

Although BP is modifiable, it remains a poorly treated risk factor in the contemporary T1D population ¹¹⁸. A recent series of studies have developed multivariable prediction models of atherosclerotic cardiovascular complications in T1D, which may help to understand the effects of BP on cardiovascular outcomes ^{147–150}. These four studies, which were published between 2010 and 2016, are summarized in **Table 7**. These studies proposed fully developed and valid models of cardiovascular risk prediction in contemporary T1D populations ¹⁵¹. SBP was a significant predictor in all these predictive models except the male participants in the EDC cohort. According to the authors, the absence of BP in the subgroup of EDC males might be explained by a close link between high BP and albuminuria, such that the BP effect was subsumed ¹⁵¹. Additionally, in these models, BPs predicted cardiovascular outcomes in both short- and long-term periods (from 5 years to 27 years), which implied a preservation effect of BP, thus showing the importance of continuing research on BP control.

In the past two decades, RCTs have been conducted examine whether vigorous BP control decreases cardiovascular risk and to determine the ideal BP goals in diabetes. The Hypertension Optimal Treatment (HOT) randomized trial demonstrated that strict BP control with a DBP target <80 mmHg compared with <90 mmHg was especially beneficial in the subgroup with diabetes, showing an over 50%-reduced risk of major cardiovascular events ¹⁵². In the Systolic Hypertension in Europe (Syst-Eur) trial, aggressive BP control was associated with a 63% decrease in the risk

of overall cardiovascular outcomes in diabetic individuals ¹⁵³. However, the Action of Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes (ACCORD) trial, which was recently conducted in older T2D individuals (mean age = 66 years), failed to show cardiovascular benefits except for incident stroke when the intensive BP control target was <120/80 mmHg versus <140/90 mmHg ¹⁵⁴. Intriguingly, a secondary analysis of the ACCORD ¹⁵⁵ and a meta-analysis ¹⁵⁶ both suggested that a SBP <130 mmHg was more favorable in the diabetes population than the more conservative goal of <140 mmHg ⁸⁶.

It should be noted that the existing trials were conducted exclusively in the type 2 population. Therefore, the findings are not useful for individuals with T1D. However, a few observational studies in the T1D population showed a lower risk of cardiovascular events with lower BP levels (Table 8) ¹⁵⁷⁻¹⁵⁹. Orchard et al. examined the ideal BP threshold and T1D compilation outcomes using data on the Pittsburgh EDC 10-year follow-up cohort ¹⁵⁸. A baseline $BP \ge 130/90$ mmHg increased, on average, the risk of CAD more than 5 times compared with BP \leq 110/80 mmHg. Surprisingly, SBP from 120 - 129 mmHg also exhibited a 2.5-times increased risk versus the reference level <110 mmHg. A DBP of 80 - 89 mmHg exhibited a more than twofold risk of CAD compared to the reference level of < 80 mmHg. Similarly, a dose-gradient relationship of BP beginning from 120/70 mmHg with adverse cardiovascular outcomes was observed in both a World Health Organization (WHO) multinational study ¹⁵⁷ and a study by Sibal et al. ¹⁵⁹. These findings strongly support that more intensive control of BP may offer additional cardiovascular benefits in T1D. However, several limitations should be noted with respect to these studies ^{157–159}. Only baseline BPs were examined in all of these three studies although longitudinal changes in BPs have been shown to be significant predictors of cardiovascular complications in T1D beyond baseline pressure levels ¹⁵⁰. A maximum follow-up of only 12 years was undertaken.

In addition, the models only allowed for a limited number of covariates (e.g., age and diabetes duration).

Another important issue is whether a certain class of antihypertensive agents confers superior cardiovascular benefits on other classes in this high-risk population. In addition to underlying renal benefits, the antagonism of RAS has been thought to be particularly important in diabetes patients because it decreased the risk of myocardial infarction and death in type 2 diabetes ^{160,161}. Recent overviews of systematic reviews and meta-analyses with regard to the choice of antihypertensive agents in diabetes concluded that no particular antihypertensive agent class exhibited more cardioprotective benefits than the others did ^{162,163}. Thus, evidence in T1D is still lacking. As mentioned previously, hyperglycemia in T1D was found to play a substantial role in the pathogenesis of hypertension and premature arterial stiffening via the overstimulation of the RAS, shedding light on the hypothesis that the inhibition of RAS may confer additional cardiovascular benefits beyond lowering BP in T1D. Future studies are recommended to examine the effects of RAS inhibitors on cardiovascular endpoints in T1D.

1.5.5 Cognitive Impairment

The increased prevalence of cognitive dysfunction has been consistently observed in individuals with T1D compared to that seen in the general population $^{164-167}$. The EDC study reported that the prevalence of clinically relevant cognitive impairment was 28% in middle-aged T1D individuals (mean age = 49 years) 165 , which was comparable with the general population aged 85 years or older 168 . The pathogenesis of impaired cognition in T1D remains poorly understood. Evidence suggested a linkage between chronic hyperglycemia and cognitive function decline 165,169,170 . Microvascular complications in T1D, such as diabetic retinopathy $^{171-173}$ and distal symmetric

polyneuropathy ^{174,175}, have also been shown to be associated with cognitive impairment, thus supporting the assumption of a microvascular basis of cognitive complications in diabetes ¹⁷⁶.

Hypertension has been shown to be an independent predictor of cognitive impairment ^{177–} ¹⁸⁰. The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study suggested that hypertension was associated with faster cognitive decline, and antihypertensive intervention slowed the decline of cognition during a 20-year follow-up in the general population ¹⁸¹. An association between hypertension and cognitive dysfunction in T1D was also observed in both cross-sectional ^{171,174} and prospective studies ^{170,173}. The DCCT/EDIC cohort study and small studies showed that hypertension was a strong risk factor of impaired cognitive function ^{170,171,174}. Furthermore, Ryan et al. observed an inversely linear association between SBP and cognitive efficiency score in T1D ¹⁷³. In contrast, a recent study by Nunley et al. failed to show the association between high BP and clinically relevant cognitive impairment in T1D ¹⁶⁵. The authors explained that BP might be evaluated at the same time as the implementation of cognition tests in their study, which failed to establish a temporal association between these two conditions ¹⁶⁵.

In summary, studies focusing on impaired cognitive performance are urgently needed in this high-risk population. Hypertension is a modifiable risk factor. Future comprehensive studies are needed to assess the ways in which BP trajectories and antihypertensive interventions individually and/or synergistically influence cognitive performance in T1D.

1.5.6 Other Complications

Hypertension is an independent risk factor of peripheral arterial disease, and it is associated with two to three times the excess risk in diabetes ^{182,183}. Findings from the United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) suggested that every 10 mmHg increase in SBP led to a 25% increased

risk of peripheral arterial disease ¹⁸⁴. Data from the Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation (HOPE) trial suggested that angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors were beneficial for peripheral arterial disease prevention beyond lowering BP ¹⁸⁵ in T2D. The results of the EDC cohort showed that hypertension in T1D was independently associated with peripheral arterial disease ¹⁸⁶. Unfortunately, there is scant evidence regarding the effects of BP control and antihypertensive intervention on peripheral arterial disease outcomes in T1D.

Diabetic retinopathy is an important cause of vision impairment in the young and middleaged population ^{187,188}. Unfortunately, almost all people with T1D are affected by diabetic retinopathy in their lifetime ¹⁸⁹. The presence of hypertension might be a risk factor of incident diabetic retinopathy. The results of Wisconsin Epidemiology of Diabetic Retinopathy cohort study suggested that hypertension in T1D was associated with the more than 70% increased risk of incident proliferative retinopathy ¹⁹⁰. However, the Wisconsin cohort study and others failed to show the association of high BP with the disease progression of diabetic retinopathy ¹⁹⁰. A recent Cochrane meta-analysis of clinical trials ¹⁹¹, including five trials with 4,036 T1D patients (Chase ¹⁹²; DIRECT Prevent 1 ¹⁹³; DIRECT Protect 1 ¹⁹³; EUCLID ¹⁹⁴; and RASS ¹⁹⁵), suggested that the antihypertensive therapy was associated with an 18% reduced risk of incident diabetic retinopathy but had no effect on the retinopathy progression during 1.5 to 3 years of the follow-up. Interestingly, the EDC study found an association of high BP with the progression of retinopathy in a subgroup with T1D nephropathy ¹⁹⁶, which suggests that high BP may affect the progression of retinopathy particularly in patients with advanced microvascular damage.

Hypertension has been identified as a risk factor of diabetic neuropathy in T1D ¹⁹⁷. The EDC study was the first to report a cross-sectional association between hypertension and diabetic neuropathy ¹⁹⁸. Subsequently, hypertension was suggested to be the strongest predictor of distal

symmetric polyneuropathy in the follow-up study ¹⁹⁹. Later, the EURODIAB cohort confirmed EDC's findings that hypertension was strongly associated with diabetic neuropathy after adjusting for age and diabetes duration in T1D ²⁰⁰. However, evidence is lacking regarding the effects of the antihypertensive intervention on diabetic neuropathy in T1D.

1.6 Antihypertensive Clinical Trials in T1D

In the past 30 years, many clinical trials have been conducted to examine the effects of antihypertensive agents on lowering BP and/or target-organ protection in the diabetes population. It is not surprising that fewer prospective clinical trials have been conducted on T1D than on T2D. A review of the relevant RCTs conducted on T1D is provided in Table 9^{201–208}. It should be noted that trials that did not include hypertensive participants, and trials with a sample size of less 50 participants were excluded. Among the eight trials that were identified all (i) were conducted more than a decade ago, (ii) recruited T1D individuals in the presence of renal impairment (either microalbuminuria or overt nephropathy), and (iii) focused on only renal outcomes. Of the eight studies, six ^{201,205–209} were conducted to examine the renal protective abilities of ACE inhibitors versus a placebo, and the remaining two were conducted to examine intensive versus regular BP control ^{202,204}. The remarkable reduction of urinary albuminuria with the ACE inhibitor therapy compared to the placebo was found in all six studies, and changes in urinary albuminuria were observed to be parallel to the changes in BP 201,205-209. Similarly, in both studies, in the intervention of intensive versus standard BP controls, the group with more rigid BP control showed significant reductions in urinary albuminuria ^{202,204} compared with the group with regular BP control. Despite favorable changes in both urinary albuminuria and BP during the study periods, the renal function

indicators, including GFR and creatinine clearance, did not exhibit parallel changes in most of these trials. Indeed, only one study identified a significantly increased creatinine clearance with the captopril intervention versus placebo in T1D individuals with overt nephropathy ²⁰¹. Another trial by Sawicki et al. suggested that a BP control of less than 140/90 mmHg was associated with the decreased risk of a composite outcome of all-cause mortality and the need for renal replacement ²⁰². However, they failed to show an association with the single endpoint of the "need for renal replacement therapy."

In summary, these trials demonstrated that the administration of the ACE inhibitor in T1D with raised albuminuria led to both albuminuria reduction and lowered BP. The results of these major trials have led to the promotion of RAS inhibitors as the first-line choice for treating hypertension in patients with diabetes. In contrast, there has been no strong evidence showing a favorable change in renal function with the intervention of RAS inhibitors in this patient group. Because of the nature of clinical trials, the intervention and follow-up periods were short compared with patient conditions in the real world. Thus, the long-term effect of RAS inhibitors remains elusive in this group of patients. Additionally, a BP goal of 140/90 mmHg in the early trails might not be sufficient to maximize benefits based on the evidence from previous observational studies ^{210,211}.

1.7 Gaps in Knowledge and Significance

Hypertension affects over 40% of the T1D population as early as their 30s¹¹⁷. Effective BP control may reduce as much as 75% of the risk of CAD in T1D¹⁵⁸ and subsequently reduce approximately over a half billion U.S. dollars of health expenditure per year ^{212,213}. However, the current
knowledge about optimizing BP management in this high-risk population remains insufficient. Several questions, such as when intervention should start, what BP level should be targeted, and which agents to choose, are still unanswered.

Practical guidelines have frequently been changed regarding the BP control goals. The current ADA recommendations have raised the BP target to 140/90 mmHg for the diabetes population regardless of the type ²¹⁴. The evidence was mostly derived from trials that focused on the middle-aged and older T2D population, such as the ACCORD trial. In the ACCORD trial, the aggressive SBP goal of less than 120 mmHg versus a goal of less than 140 mmHg did not improve cardiovascular outcomes or mortality ¹⁵⁴. However, the Systolic Blood Pressure Intervention Trial (SPRINT) demonstrated that a SBP goal of less than 120 mmHg versus and all-cause mortality in a group of participants with high cardiovascular risk but without diabetes ²¹⁵. The SPRINT findings reinforced the importance of vigorous BP control in high-risk groups, which has implications for the diabetes population because it carries a substantially greater cardiovascular risk than the general population does.

The findings of an early clinical trial of T1D patients suggested that a strict BP goal with a MAP target of 92 mmHg compared with 107 mmHg might offer renal benefits in reducing urinary albumin ²⁰⁴. Recently, a few prospective longitudinal studies of T1D cohorts suggested that lower BP levels (<110–120/70–80 mmHg) were associated with a lower risk of adverse cardiovascular and renal outcomes ^{157–159,210,211}. Despite the observational nature of these studies, the results were encouraging because they considered a BP target lower than the currently recommended 140/90 mmHg, which may benefit the T1D population by further decreasing morbidity and mortality.

Not only does the pathogenesis of hypertension differ in individuals with T1D and T2D but also the onset of T1D occurs at a much earlier age, suggesting that findings in the T2D population may not be directly extrapolated to the T1D population. Thus, there is a great need to identify BP goals in this patient population.

In addition to BP regulation, RAS was found to be involved in the pathophysiological pathways of inflammation, oxidative stress, fibrosis remodeling, and end-organ damage ²¹⁶. This finding suggests that RAS inhibitors may offer additional benefits beyond lowering BP. However, the cumulative evidence from recent head-to-head comparison clinical trials and associated meta-analyses demonstrated that RAS inhibitors were not better than other antihypertensive classes (i.e., calcium-channel blockers, β receptor blockers, and thiazides) in diminishing the cardiovascular risk ^{217–219}. The most recent hypertension guidelines ^{86,220} recommend any class of antihypertensive medications in diabetes patients; RAS inhibitors are preferred only in those with raised albuminuria.

It should be noted that the existing trial results were derived exclusively from samples of middle-aged or older T2D patients, and evidence of antihypertensive recommendations is still largely lacking in T1D patients. Indeed, hyperglycemia-induced RAS overstimulation was found to play a crucial role in the pathogenesis of hypertension particularly in T1D ^{2,134}, suggesting that the pharmacological effects of RAS inhibitors might be potentially exaggerated in T1D.

The results of a few observational studies suggested that RAS inhibitors might have additional cardioprotective benefits beyond lowering BP in T1D individuals. The EDC study found that ACE inhibitors, but not calcium-channel blockers, had a significant inverse association with mortality ²²¹. Additionally, the Coronary Artery Calcification in Type 1 Diabetes (CACTI) study showed that RAS inhibition treatment was associated with a lower risk of coronary artery

calcification progression in young adults with T1D ²²². These findings are encouraging because they imply the cardiovascular benefits of RAS inhibitors in addition to lowered BP in T1D individuals. Future studies are needed to evaluate the effects of RAS inhibitors on hard cardiovascular endpoints as well as their effectiveness compared with other antihypertensive classes.

Major gaps persist in the knowledge regarding effective BP control in T1D. Although the causes of poor complication outcomes are multifactorial, the focus on BP is important because the association is plausible, modifiable, and has important implications for long-term health outcomes. Filling the critical gaps in our understanding of the effects of BP and hypertension on adverse complications outcomes in T1D could have positive effects on clinical practice.

1.8 Tables

Table 1 Diabetes Diagnostic Cut-offs

Diagnostic criteria ¹⁰	Fasting plasma glucose (mg/dL)	2-hour plasma glucose in the 75g oral glucose tolerance test (mg/dL)	Random plasma glucose (mg/dL)	HbA1c (%)
Normal	<100	<140		<5.7
Dradiahatas	100-125 (IFG)			5761
Prediabetes		140-199 (IGT)		3.7-0.4
Diabetes	≥ 126	≥ 200	≥ 200 ª	≥6.5

^a In a patient with classic symptoms of hyperglycemia or hyperglycemic crisis (Adapted from Chamberlain et al ¹⁰)

Table 2 Staging of T1D

Stage ^{14,18}	Stage 1	Stage2	Stage3			
Feature	 Autoimmunity Normoglycemia Presymtomatic 	AutoimmunityDysglycemiaPresymtomatic	 New-onset hyperglycemia Symtomatic 			
Diagnostic criteria	 Multiple autoantibodies No IGT or IFG 	 Multiple autoantibodies Dysglycemia: IFG and/or IGT FPG 100-125 mg/dL 2-g PG 140-199mg/dL HbA1c 5.7-6.4% or ≥10% increase in HbA1c 	 Clinical symptoms Diabetes by standard criteria 			

PG: plasma glucose, IFG: impaired fasting glucose, IGT: impaired glucose tolerance (Adapted from Skyler et al¹⁴)

Target organ damage of hypertension ⁶⁶							
Heart disease							
✓ Left ventricular hypertrophy							
✓ Angina or prior myocardial infarction							
✓ Prior coronary revascularization							
✓ Heart failure							
• Stroke or transient ischemic attack							
Chronic kidney disease							
Peripheral arterial disease							
• Retinopathy							
(Adapted from Chobanian et al ⁶⁶)							

Table 3 Target Organ Damage of Hypertension

BP Classification ⁸¹	SBP mmHg	DBP mmHg		
Normal	<120	<80		
Elevated	120-139	80-89		
Stage 1 hypertension	130-139	80-89		
Stage 2 hypertension	≥140	≥90		

Table 4 Classification of Hypertension (AHA 2017)

AHA: American Heart Association; BP indicates blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; SBP, systolic blood pressure (Adapted from Whelton et al ⁸¹)

Blood pressure index	Definition/Estimation
Systolic blood pressure (SBP)	Maximum pressure in large arteries of the systemic circulation during one cardiac cycle.
Diastolic blood pressure (DBP)	Minimum pressure in large arteries of the systemic circulation during one cardiac cycle.
Pulse pressure (PP)	PP=SBP-DBP
Mean arterial pressure (MAP)	MAP=DBP + 1/3 *(SBP+DBP)
Mid-blood pressure (MidBP)	MidBP=1/2*(SBP+ DBP)

Table 5 Estimation of Different BP Indices

Techniques ^{87,223}	Pros	Cons
Auscultatory Mercury devices	 Gold standard with a high stability over time Simple design of device with negligible difference in the accuracy between brands Widely used in clinical studies 	 Observer error Environmental issue for the use of mercury
Auscultatory Aneroid devices	Avoid the use of mercury	 Inaccuracy issues of the devices Require frequent calibration Observer error
Auscultatory Hybrid devices	• A combination of the main benefits of electronic and mercury technique, including avoiding the use of mercury and minimizing terminal digit preference	 Inaccuracy issues of the devices Require individual validation of devices
Oscillometric	 Less susceptible to external noise and placement location of the cuff Avoiding Observer error Decrease impact of white coat increasing the measuring frequency 	 Difference in BP measurements between devices from different manufacturers Potential error inherent in the oscillometric technique Epidemiological studies have mostly used auscultatory methods for the BP measurement

Table 6 Pros and Cons of BP Measurement Methodologies

Study	Follow-up time	Outcomes	Findings	
U.S. Pittsburgh EDC cohort ¹⁴⁷ 2010	14 years	CAD death or non-fatal MI	Men: No Women: Baseline SBP	
Swedish national diabetes registry 148 2011	5 years	CVD death, or non-fatal MI, or stroke, or unstable angina, or revascularization	Baseline SBP	
Denmark Steno Type 1 Risk Engine ¹⁴⁹ 2016	5 years	Ischemic heart disease or stroke, heart failure or peripheral vascular disease	Baseline SBP	
U.S. DCCT/EDIC cohort ¹⁵⁰ 2016	27 years	CHD death, non-fatal MI or stroke	Baseline and time- updated mean of SBP	

Table 7 BP and Cardiovascular Risk Prediction in T1D

DCCT/EDIC: Diabetes Control and Complications Trial/Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications Study, EDC: Pittsburgh Epidemiology of Diabetes Complications Study, SBP: systolic blood pressure

(Adapted from the Orchard et al. ¹⁵¹)

Source and publication year	Participants features and sample size	Age, years Mean (SD)	Follow- up	Statistical analysis and covariates	CVD Outcomes	Relative risk of BP
U.S. Pittsburgh EDC cohort Orchard et al ¹⁵⁸ 2001	T1D adults 18 years or older N=598	NA	up to 10 years	Cox model Covariate: age or HbA1	CAD	Baseline SBP (mmHg): <110: ref 110-119: HR=1.8 (p<.01) 120-129: HR=2.5 (p<.05) ≥130: HR=5.6 (p<.001) Baseline DBP (mmHg): <80: ref 80-84: HR=1.4 85-89: HR=2.0 ≥90: HR=4.2 (p<.01)
WHO multinational study Fuller et al ¹⁵⁷ 2001	T1D patients N=1260	Male: 44.4 (6.1) Female: 44.5 (6.2)	up to 12 years	Cox model Covariate: age	fatal and non- fatal MI fatal and non- fatal stroke	Baseline SBP (mmHg) for Male: <120: ref 120-139: HR=1.4 140-159: HR=1.3 160-179: HR=3.6 \geq 180: HR=4.1 HR(95%CI) per SD: 1.4 (1.1-1.8) Bassline SBP (mmHg) for Female: <120: ref 120-139: HR=1.5 140-159: HR=2.0 160-179: HR=4.4 \geq 180: HR=1.9 HR(95%CI) per SD: 1.4 (1.1-1.9) Baseline SBP (mmHg) for Male: <120: ref 120-139: HR=1.1 140-159: HR=1.6 160-179: HR=2.2

Table 8 Observational Studies of BP Threshods and Cardiovascular Outcomes in T1D

Table 8 Continued

						≥ 180 : HR=4.5
						HR(95%CI) per SD: 1.5 (1.1-2.0)
						Baseline SBP (mmHg) for Female:
						120.120 HR=0.8
						140-159: HR = 3.1
						160-179: HR=2.1
						>180: HR=8.1
						HR(95%CI) per SD: 1.8 (1.3-2.5)
				Cox model Covariate: age,		
				diabetes		
				duration, total	CVD mortality	Baseline SBP (mmHg) for Male: $UP(059/CP) = PP(14, 14, 14, 14, 14, 14, 14, 14, 14, 14, $
				cholesterol, smoking		R(95/0CI) per SD. 1.4 (1.1-1.6) Baseline SBP (mmHg) for Female:
			proteinuria			HR(95%CI) per SD: $1.5(1.1-2.0)$
				retinopathy and		(1.1 2.0)
				ECG		
				abnormalities		
					Composite	Baseline SBP (mmHg):
					endpoint of	<=118: ref
					macrovascular	119-130: HR=2.99 (p=.087)
	T1D patients				diseases,	131-142: HR=3.79 (p=.042)
U.K.	aged of 17-76		up to 9	Cox model	including	\geq 143: HR=5.21 (p=.010)
Sidai et al 155	years	39 (13)	years	Covariate: age	discossos	Desaling DDD (mmHg);
2006	N=363				uiseases, peripheral artery	< 70 ref
					diseases and	270.101 71-78: HR= 0.86
					cerebrovascular	79-84: HR= 0.90
					diseases	\geq 85: HR=1.81 (p=0.07)

CAD: coronary artery disease, CI: confidence interval CVD: cardiovascular disease, DBP: diastolic blood pressure, ECG: electrocardiogram, HR: hazards ratio, SBP: systolic blood pressure, SD: standard deviation, WHO: World Health Organization

Source and publicatio n year	Features of T1D subjects	Ν	Interventio n (I)	Control (C)	Age (mean (SD))	Baseline blood pressure (mean, mmHa)	Follow- up	Primary outcomes	Other outcomes	Major findings
U.S. Lewis et al ²⁰¹ 1993	overt nephropathy	409	Captopril (n=207)	Placebo (n=202)	35 (7) (I) 34 (8) (C)	137/85 (I) 140/86 (C)	4 years	Creatinine clearance	Combined endpoint of death, dialysis and kidney transplant	Captopril group had slower decline in creatinine clearance
Germany Sawicki et al ²⁰² 1995	Hypertension and overt nephropathy	91	Intensified hypertension control with goal of <140/90 mmHg (n=45)	Routine hypertensi on therapy (n=46)	35.8 (8.6) (I) 37.2 (10.5) (C)	154/92 (I) 143/87 (C)	5 years	Combined endpoint of all- cause mortality and the need for renal replaceme nt therapy	Single endpoint of all- cause mortality or the need for renal replaceme nt therapy	Intervention group had significantly lower risk of combined endpoint of all-cause mortality and the need for renal replacement therapy, but not the need for renal replacement therapy alone
Europe, U.S., Canada and Asia Microalbum inuria Captopril	Micro- albuminuria	225	Captopril (n=116)	Placebo (n=119)	31.8 (I) 32.5 (C)	122/77 (I) 122/77 (C)	2 years	AER	1. Creatinine clearance 2. Incidence of hypertensi on	Captopril reduced risk of AER progression, but not the decline of creatinine clearance

Table 9 Randomized Control Trials of BP Contorl in T1D

Table 9 Continued

Study Group ²⁰⁸ 1996										
Europe EUCLID Study Group ²⁰⁹ 1997	norm- or micro- albuminuria	530	Lisinopril (n=265)	Placebo (n=265)	31.8 (I) 32.5 (C) (median)	122/79 (I) 121/80 (C) (median)	2 years	AER		Lisinopril slowed the progression of AER
U.S. Lewis et al ²⁰⁴ 1999	Overt nephropathy	128	Intensive BP control with goal of MAP ≤92 mmHg (n=62)	Standard BP control with goal of MAP 100-107 mmHg (n=66)	37 (7) (I) 37 (8) (C)	95 (I) 97 (C) (MAP)	2 years	GFR measured by iothalamat e clearance	1. AER 2. Combined endpoint of death or ESRD	BP control group had lower urinary protein, but similar GFR changes
U.K. ATLANTIS Study Group ²⁰⁵ 2000	Micro- albuminuria	134	Ramipril (n=88)	Placebo (n=46)	40(12) (I) 40(12) (C)	133/77 (I) 130 /76 (C)	2 year	AER	1. GFR 2. BP	Ramipril reduced risk of AER progression, but there was no significant difference of GFR between Ramipril and placebo group
Denmark Poulsen et al 2001 ²⁰⁶	Micro- albuminuria	58	Lisinopril (n=33)	Placebo (n=25)	34.9(1.8) (I) 38.5(10.4) (C)	124/83 (I) 129 /79 (C)	2 years	AER	1. BP 2. Renal filtration fraction	Lisinopril slowed the progression of AER, and the change of AER were positively correlated with FF only in lisinopril group

Table 9 Continued

Japan	Raised	79	Imidapril(Im	Placebo	36.2 (6.7)	129.3/79.8	30	AER	Both imidapril
Katayama	albuminuria) (n=26)	(Pl) (n=27)	(Im)	(Im)	months		and captopril
et al ²⁰⁷			Captopril(Ca		30.9 (8.5)	125.5/76.0			were
)		(Ca)	(Ca)			significantly
2002			(n=26)		33.4(7.9)	126.7/78.1			associated with
					(Pl)	(Pl)			less increase in
									AER
									compared to
									placebo

AER: albumin excretion rate, BP: blood pressure, GFR: glomerular filtration rate, MAP: mean arterial pressure, SD: standard deviation

Inclusion criteria: (1) including hypertensive patients, (2) sample size >50

2.0 Paper I: Relative Importance of Different BP Components in Type I Diabetes

2.1 Introduction

High BP is a major modifiable risk factor of cardiovascular disease ^{96,224} that displays a series of distinct changes with increasing age ⁸⁹. SBP progressively increases with age ⁸⁹, whereas DBP generally declines after 50 or 60 years of age. The prognostic importance of SBP as a cardiovascular disease risk factor increases with age ⁹⁰, while the predictive value of DBP declines or reverses with age ²²⁵. The levels of MAP, along with its predictive values, also decline with older age given this diverging pattern of SBP and DBP ⁸⁹. The age-related changes of SBP and DBP result in an increase in PP with age, which appears to constitute a surrogate marker of arterial stiffness and vascular aging ²²⁶. Collectively, the prognostic significance of these different BP measures are altered by aging. However, their comparative roles in T1D remains unknown, which is particularly important given that "accelerated aging" has been suggested in this high risk population ^{227–229}. SBP has been recommended as the primary measure reflecting cardiovascular risk in current hypertension guidelines ⁸¹. DBP and MAP may carry further value for risk prediction at younger ages. PP is an independent determinant of adverse cardiovascular outcomes especially in older people but appeared less informative than the other BP measures in the general population ⁹⁶. The degree to which similar relationships exist in people with T1D is still unclear.

Since hyperglycemia and insulin resistance are associated with greater stiffening of arteries and premature vascular aging, PP may be more informative for risk prediction in the diabetes population ^{230,231}. However, very few studies have tested the relative importance of PP

40

compared with other BP measures in diabetes, and previous data were exclusively from the older aged type 2 diabetes population ^{91,232}. High BP can affect T1D individuals as early as in their childhood ¹⁴⁶. Compared to the non-diabetes population, individuals with T1D experience an elevated SBP at all ages and an earlier decline in DBP, resulting in an premature increase in PP ¹²⁴. However, the discriminatory abilities of different BP indices for cardiovascular risk have not been established in the T1D population. The objective of this study, therefore, is to assess and compare the relative predictive utilities of different BP variables for CAD in T1D.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Study Population

Participants were from the Pittsburgh EDC Study, which has previously been described in detail ²³³. In brief, this is a prospective longitudinal cohort study of childhood-onset (<17 years of age) T1D, diagnosed between 1950 and 1980 at Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh. There were 658 eligible participants who were initially examined between 1986 and 1988. Subsequent clinical assessments, including resting BP measurements, took place biennially for 10 years, with further examinations at the 18- and 25-year follow-up visits. Importantly, the EDC cohort has been shown to be epidemiologically representative of the T1D population in Allegheny County, Pennsylvania ²³⁴. There were 605 participants who were free from CAD at the study entry and these were selected for the present analysis.

2.2.2 Ascertainment of Cardiovascular Outcomes

Cardiovascular disease status was evaluated biennially from the baseline visit. CAD was defined as EDC physician-diagnosed angina; myocardial infarction confirmed by Q-waves on an electrocardiogram (Minnesota codes 1.1 or 1.2) or hospital records; angiographic stenosis \geq 50%; revascularization; or ischemic electrocardiograph (ECG) changes (Minnesota codes 1.3, 4.1–4.3, 5.1–5.3, and 7.1).

2.2.3 Measurement of BP

BP was measured by a random-zero sphygmomanometer for the initial 10 years of the study and subsequently by an aneroid device. At each clinic visit, BP was measured three times by trained and certified research staff, after the participant had been peacefully sitting for five minutes in a quiet room, according to the Hypertension Detection and Follow-up Program protocol ²³⁵. PP was defined as the difference between SBP and DBP, MAP was calculated as the sum of one third of the SBP and two thirds of the DBP, and MidBP was quantified as the average of the SBP and DBP.

2.2.4 Measurement of Covariates

Demographic and medical history information was obtained through biennial questionnaires beginning at study initiation. Participants self-reported all medication use via questionnaires. Antihypertensive medication use was identified using the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical Classification System/Defined Daily Dose (ATC/DDD) index. An ever-smoker was defined as someone who had smoked at least 100 cigarettes in a lifetime. BMI was calculated as weight in kilograms divided by the square of height in meters. HbA1 was obtained by ion-exchange chromatography (Isolab, Akron, OH, USA) for the first 18 months, and the subsequent 10 years by automated high-performance liquid chromatography (Diamat, BioRad, Hercules, CA, USA). Results from the two methods were highly correlated (r=0.95). HbA1c was subsequently obtained using the DCA 2000 analyzer (Bayar, Tanytown, NY, USA) for assessments beyond the first 10 years. The DCA and Diamat assays were also highly correlated (r=0.95). Before being used in the analysis, all glycosylated hemoglobin values were converted to DCCT-aligned HbA1c using regression equations derived from duplicate assays ²³⁶. Total cholesterol was determined enzymatically ²³⁷. High-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol was obtained version of the Lipid Research Clinics method ²³⁸. Non-HDL cholesterol was estimated from total cholesterol. Urinary albumin was measured by immunonephelometry ²³⁹.

2.2.5 Statistical Analysis

Baseline characteristics of the study population were examined; categorical variables were presented as a percentage (number) and continuous variables as a mean (standard deviation [SD]) or median (1st and 3rd quantiles), as appropriate.

Cox proportional hazard models were constructed to estimate the associations of each baseline BP measure with incident CAD, adjusting for sex, age, age at diabetes onset, HbA1c and antihypertensive use. In all of the Cox models, time was measured as time since the study entry (i.e. time 0 = date of study entry). The adjusted hazards ratios (HR) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were presented. To evaluate whether the predictive abilities of BP measures vary

at different ages or glycemic levels, stratified analysis was conducted by age < 35 and \geq 35 years and by HbA1c < 9 and \geq 9%, respectively. The age cut-off of 35 years is based on previous findings that PP showed a steep rise from the 30s to 40s in T1D ¹²⁴; the HbA1c cut-off of 9% was close to the median of baseline HbA1c in this cohort. In addition to stratified analysis, the interaction effect of different age and HbA1c groups on the association of BP with outcome events were tested and then plotted (model-based interaction plot) ²⁴⁰. The predictive ability of each baseline BP measure was also assessed using the C-statistic method by Uno et al. ²⁴¹; all pairwise comparisons were tested.

Cox proportional hazard models with time-varying BP measures were also created, adjusting for sex, age, age at diabetes onset, HbA1c, and time-varying antihypertensive medication use. The interaction tests and stratified analyses were also conducted by different baseline age (< vs \ge 35 years) and HbA1c (< vs \ge 9 %) groups, respectively.

The least absolute selection and shrinkage operator (LASSO)-penalized Cox regression ²⁴² was also employed for variable selection, allowing for all four BP measures (SBP, DBP, PP, and MAP) and a wide range of potential baseline risk factors (age, sex, age at diabetes onset, ever smoker, BMI, pulse rate, HbA1c, urinary albumin excretion rate, HDL and non-HDL cholesterol, white blood cells (WBC), and antihypertensive use). The optimal penalty parameter was determined using the 10-fold cross-validation method. The considerations of using LASSO regression were as follows: 1) penalized regression handles multicollinearity between predictors by imposing a penalty factor in the estimation of coefficients ^{243,244} and 2) LASSO, as one of the most widely-used penalized models, is applicable for both low- and high-dimensional data and has been shown to be superior to the stepwise technique ²⁴⁵.

The assessment of improvement in model fit of the combination of BP variables (SBP and DBP, MAP and PP, or SBP and PP) vs a single BP variable was conducted using the likelihood-ratio χ^2 test. The combined MAP and PP was tested as the MAP and PP reflects two distinct BP characteristics, the steady and pulsatile components, receptively ⁹⁵. PP has been suggested to be more informative for cardiovascular risk prediction in the diabetes population ^{230,231}, and SBP has been recommended as the primary BP measure in current guidelines ⁸¹. Thus, we indented to test whether risk prediction might be improved with the combination of SBP and PP.

A two-sided p<0.05 was considered significant. The analyses were performed with SAS v 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC) and R version 3.5.1 (R core team, Vienna, Austria).

2.3 Results

Baseline characteristics are shown in **Table 10**. Among 605 eligible participants without known CAD at baseline, mean age and diabetes duration were 27 and 19 years, respectively. During the 25 years of follow up, 219 (36.2%) incident CAD cases were identified. The Pearson correlation coefficients of different baseline BP measures were 0.72 (SBP vs DBP), 0.68 (SBP vs PP), 0.90 (SBP vs MAP), 0.95 (SBP vs MidBP), -0.02 (DBP vs PP), 0.95 (DBP vs. MAP), 0.90 (DBP vs MidBP), 0.28 (PP vs MAP), 0.41 (PP vs MidBP), and 0.99 (MAP vs MidBP).

Age-specific means of BPs were calculated among CAD cases and non-cases, comprising all BP values from the baseline to the last available measure, prior to the event occurrence for cases or at the end of the follow up for non-cases (**Figure 1**). CAD cases experienced a higher SBP and a higher PP than non-cases across all age groups; the differences of BP between cases and non-cases became greater with older age. The DBP increased until late 30s and early 40s and started falling thereafter; the CAD cases showed a decline in DBP 10 years earlier than seen in non-cases.

Controlling for sex, age, age at diabetes onset, HbA1c levels, and antihypertensive medication use, the HRs (95% CI) associated with one increment in SD for CAD risk were 1.35 (1.17, 1.56) for SBP; 1.30 (1.12, 1.51) for DBP; 1.20 (1.03, 1.39) for PP; 1.35 (1.17, 1.56) for MAP; and 1.36 (1.18, 1.57) for MidBP (**Table 11**). In an analysis stratified by baseline age < vs \geq 35 years, PP was not significantly associated with CAD at age < 35 years (HR [95%CI]: 1.07 [0.88, 1.29], p value =0.508), but PP became the strongest BP predictor in those aged 35 years or older (HR [95%CI]: 1.51 [1.16, 1.96], p value =0.002). In a stratified analysis by baseline HbA1c < vs \geq 9%, the HR of PP associated with CAD was statistically significant, and the effect size was similar to that of other BP measures (HR [95%CI]: 1.32 [1.01, 1.72], p value=0.044) in those with worse glycemic control; however, the association was less powerful and non-statistically significant (HR [95%CI]: 1.14 [0.94, 1.38], p value=0.177) in those with better glycemic control.

The effect modification was significant for HbA1c (HR: 1.41, p value=0.023) and was marginally significant for age (HR: 1.29, p value=0.093) on the association of PP with CAD outcomes (**Figure 2**). No significant interaction effect was found for the other four BP measures (SBP, DBP, MAP, and MidBP) in this analysis (**Table 12**).

Consistently, although the C-statistic value was significantly lower for PP compared to the other four BP indices in the entire cohort, PP performed similarly to that of other indices in those with higher HbA1c levels ($\geq 9\%$) or at an older age (≥ 35 years) (**Table 11**).

46

In the analysis of Cox proportional model with time-varying covariates (**Table 13**), the associations of time-varying BP measures with incident CAD displayed a similar pattern as that of baseline measures. Overall, PP was less powerful as a determinant of CAD risk compared to the other BP measures. The association of PP with CAD was significant in those with higher HbA1c levels >9 % (HR [95%CI]:1.49 [1.14, 1.96], p value =0,004), but not seen in those with HbA1c < 9%, while, the association of PP with CAD was not statistically significant in either age group, baseline age < or \ge 35 years. Consistently, the interaction of "PP x HbA1c" was positively significant (p value=0.027), but not for "PP x age". There was no evidence of interaction effect for the other four time-varying BP measures (data not shown).

Table 14 shows the baseline risk factor selection for the prediction of CAD using a LASSO-Cox model for overall participants as well as subgroups of different age and glycemic levels. Allowing for a wide range of potential risk factors as well as four BP measures (SBP, DBP, PP, and MAP), SBP was retained in the model after LASSO selection in the entire cohort, and the two subcohorts with HbA1c < and \geq 9%. Consistent with the conventional Cox models, PP exerted an important role in CAD risk prediction for those over 35 years of age and in those with an HbA1c of over 9%. As expected, MAP, compared to other BP measures, showed a stronger effect in the younger group.

A model with combined SBP and DBP or combined SBP and PP, was not remarkably superior to a model with a single SBP for CAD risk prediction. A model with combined MAP and PP, was not remarkably superior to a model with a single MBP (**Table 15**).

2.4 Discussion

This study presents a comprehensive comparison of the CAD risk prediction of five BP measures in a cohort with long duration T1D. We observed a fall of DBP at late 30s and early 40s in this group of participants, leading to an early rise in PP. This early fall in DBP occurred approximately 20 years earlier in these T1D individuals than that seen in the general population ⁸⁹. Significant positive baseline and time-varying associations were observed between each BP measure (SBP, DBP, PP, MAP, and MidBP) and incident CAD in the entire study cohort after adjusting for age, sex, glycemic burden and antihypertensive treatment. Although the relative magnitudes of the associations appear similar among the SBP, DBP, MAP, and MidBP measures, SBP tends to be more effective overall since it remained in the CAD prediction models after LASSO selection among a wide range of potential risk factors in the entire cohort. PP appears to be inferior to the other four BP measures, but becomes comparable in those aged 35 years or older and in those with worse glycemic control. Of note, PP was the only BP measure that was retained after LASSO selection in the subcohort with older age (> 35 years). Not surprisingly, MAP seems more informative than the other measures at younger ages as it was the only one retained in the model after LASSO selection in the subgroup of age < 35 years. Compared to a single measure, no significant benefit was observed for predicting CAD risk using a combination of the measures of SBP and DBP, MAP and PP or SBP and PP.

To our knowledge, very few studies have previously presented such a comprehensive evaluation of different BP measures in the T1D population, especially incorporating both baseline and time-varying BP measures. The current observations of the relative importance of different BP variables for cardiovascular risk prediction, in general, are in line with findings from people with type 2 diabetes ^{91,246} and the general population ^{96,247}. Collectively, no

48

remarkable difference has been found between the different BP measures, but SBP appears to be a more informative and reliable predictor in different settings and populations compared to other BP indices. Consistent with reports from the Framingham Heart Study ²⁴⁸ and secondary analysis of the ADVANCE trial ⁹¹, we observed a small improvement of prognostic significance with combined BP measures versus a single measure. However, no convincing evidence is shown that combined SBP and DBP or combined SBP and PP is superior to SBP or that combined MAP and PP is superior to MAP.

Stiffening of the arterial wall as a sign of vascular aging is thought to be a complex process involving collagen overproduction and accumulation, elastin fiber degradation, vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation, and vascular calcification ²⁴⁹. Increased cardiovascular risk in diabetes is at least partially explained by glycation-induced accelerated vascular aging, such as advanced glycated end products (AGE), cross-linking, and decreased turnover of collagen on the arterial wall, leading to a decline of artery elasticity ^{250,251}. An increased PP results from agerelated stiffening of the large arteries ²⁵², leading to increasing interest in the role of PP in contributing to cardiovascular risk, particularly in diabetes ²³¹. According to the current study, T1D individuals have an increased SBP across all ages compared to the non-diabetes population, and also have a sharp rise of PP as early as the third and fourth decade of life. We found a weaker, but significant association of PP with incident CAD in the entire cohort, in line with the results of other T1D studies, such as the EURODIAB study ²¹³ and the FinnDiane study ²⁵³. Our observations extend previous findings by showing that PP is a powerful determinant for CAD risk particularly in those 35 years or older and/or with poorer glycemic control. These findings strongly support the hypothesis that vascular aging is accelerated by glycation mediated changes in this high-risk population.

The 2017 ADA position paper "Diabetes and Hypertension" ²⁵⁴ states that a higher PP (> 60 mmHg, systolic hypertension in association with low DBP) in older people with diabetes may result in an increased risk of adverse cardiovascular outcomes. Our findings suggest that, in T1D individuals, PP may start playing an important role from an early age, i.e., late 30s, in predicting cardiovascular disease. An increased PP may not only be a marker of cardiovascular risk but also reflect a diseased state of stiffened arteries. Thus, studies focusing on premature vascular aging in T1D may open a window for us to better understand the pathogenesis of general vascular aging that is typically occurred at older ages in the general population.

This EDC Study is a well-characterized T1D cohort with an extended follow-up duration. Different BP measures for CAD risk prediction were examined using both baseline single timepoint and time-varying variables, along with age and HbA1c stratified analyses. Advanced statistical methods (e.g., LASSO regression) were employed to further confirm the study findings. Several limitations of the current work should also be noted. Our sample consisted primarily of white T1D individuals and therefore may not be representative of other ethnic or racial groups. The cohort was relatively young at study entry, which allowed us to observe a long disease course of T1D. However, some types of outcome events, such as stroke and cause-specific mortality, were relatively rare even at the 25-year follow up, which have limited our ability to fully evaluate different classes of cardiovascular outcomes.

2.5 Conclusion

In a group of individuals with childhood-onset T1D, we observed that an early fall of DBP beginning from late 30s, leads to an early rise of PP. All five studied BP measures (SBP, DBP,

PP, MAP and MidBP) are independent predictors of CAD in the entire cohort. The current study supports SBP to be a primary BP determinant of cardiovascular risk, especially considering its reliability and convenience in the implementation of its measurement in clinical settings. Although PP is less effective for risk prediction in CAD in the entire cohort, its prognostic significance may improve and become comparable to SBP in those aged 35 years or more or those under poor glycemic control, reflecting an early onset of glycation-induced vascular stiffening in T1D. PP may be necessary to incorporate into the clinical evaluation in T1D, especially in those over 35 years old and/or in poor glycemic control.

2.6 Tables and Figures

Variables ^a	Data
Age, yrs	27.2 (7.7)
Age at diabetes onset, yrs	8.2 (4.1)
Diabetes duration, yrs	19.0 (7.4)
Female, %(n)	49.8 (301)
SBP, mmHg	112.9 (14.7)
DBP, mmHg	72.5 (10.8)
PP, mmHg	40.4 (10.3)
MAP, mmHg	85.9 (11.3)
MidBP, mmHg	92.7 (11.9)
Antihypertensive medication use, %(n)	12.9 (78)
Hypertension, %(n)	14.4 (87)
Pulse rate, beats/min	78 (10)
HbA1c, %	8.8 (1.5)
Ever smoker, %(n)	37.2 (225)
BMI, kg/m ²	23.5 (3.2)
High WHR ¹ , %(n)	4.8 (29)
AER, μg/min	14.4 (7.2, 101.7)
Raised albuminuria, %(n)	44.4 (269)
Total cholesterol, mg/dL	189.6 (41.0)
Non-HDL cholesterol, mg/dL	135.6 (41.0)
HDL cholesterol, mg/dL, Male	49.5 (9.8)
HDL cholesterol, mg/dL, Female	58.4 (12.9)

Table 10 Baseline Characteristics of the Overall Study Participants

Categorical variables were presented as percentage (number) and continuous variables as mean (SD) or median (1st and 3rd quantiles)

^a High WHR was defined as >1 in men or > 0.85 in women

AER: urinary albumin excretion rate, BMI: body mass index, BP: blood pressure, CAD: coronary artery disease, DBP: diastolic blood pressure, HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c, HDL: high density lipoprotein, MAP: mean arterial pressure, MidBP: mid-blood pressure, PP: pulse pressure, SBP: systolic blood pressure, SD: standard deviation, WHR: waist-hip ratio

BP measure	Cox model		C-statistics	
	HR (95% CI) Per SD p value		C-statistic (95%CI)	
Overal	n=605, events=219	1		
SBP	1.35 (1.17, 1.56)	< 0.001	0.791 (0.747, 0.823)*	
DBP	1.30 (1.12, 1.51)	< 0.001	0.784 (0.746, 0.822)*	
РР	1.20 (1.03, 1.39)	0.021	0.770 (0.729, 0.810)	
MAP	1.35 (1.17, 1.56)	< 0.001	0.789 (0.747, 0.831)*	
MidBP	1.36 (1.18, 1.57)	< 0.001	0.788 (0.748, 0.828)*	
Stratified by age				
	Baseline age < 35 years			
	n=500, events=150			
SBP	1.30 (1.09, 1.56)	0.004	0.760 (0.705, 0.815)	
DBP	1.32 (1.12, 1.58)	0.002	0.773 (0.719, 0.827)*	
PP	1.07 (0.88, 1.29)	0.508	0.748 (0.691, 0.805)	
MAP	1.34 (1.13, 1.60)	0.001	0.770 (0.713, 0.826)*	
MidBP	1.34 (1.12, 1.60)	< 0.001	0.767 (0.712, 0.823)	
	Baseline age \geq 35 years			
	n=105, events=69			
SBP	1.40 (1.08, 1.81)	0.012	0.658 (0.567, 0.749)	
DBP	1.09 (0.79, 1.51)	0.600	0.638 (0.540, 0.736)	
PP	1.51 (1.16, 1.96)	0.002	0.661 (0.567, 0.754)	
MAP	1.26 (0.94, 1.70)	0.126	0.642 (0.549, 0.735)	
MidBP	1.32 (0.99, 1.75)	0.059	0.649 (0.557, 0.741)	
Stratified by HbA1c				
	Baseline HbA1c < 9 %			
	n=380, events=141			
SBP	1.35 (1.12, 1.62)	0.001	0.751 (0.696, 0.806)*	
DBP	1.37 (1.13, 1.66)	0.001	0.768 (0.715, 0.822)*	
PP	1.14 (0.94, 1.38)	0.177	0.731 (0.678, 0.784)	
MAP	1.39 (1.16, 1.68)	< 0.001	0.774 (0.710, 0.838)*	
MidBP	1.39 (1.16, 1.67)	< 0.001	0.773 (0.710, 0.835)*	
	Baseline HbA1c \ge 9 %			
	n=225, events=78			
SBP	1.32 (1.04, 1.68)	0.023	0.840 (0.780, 0.900)	
DBP	1.18 (0.93, 1.50)	0.164	0.836 (0.773, 0.898)	
PP	1.32 (1.01, 1.72)	0.044	0.838 (0.786, 0.890)	
MAP	1.25 (0.99, 1.58)	0.064	0.839 (0.792, 0.887)	
MidBP	1.27 (1.01, 1.61)	0.044	0.838 (0.782, 0.890)	

Table 11 Hazard Ratios and C Statistics of Different BP Indices for CAD Prediction

*p<0.05 compared to PP. p>0.05 for the rest of pairwise comparisons between different blood pressure measures (SBP, DBP, PP, MAP, and MidBP)

BP: blood pressure, CAD: coronary artery disease, DBP: diastolic blood pressure, HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c, MAP: mean arterial pressure, MidBP: mid-blood pressure, PP: pulse pressure, SBP: systolic blood pressure

Interaction term	HR (95%CI)	p value
Age ($< vs \ge 35years$) x BP		
SBP	0.874 (0.675, 1.132)	0.307
DBP	0.800 (0.591, 1.083)	0.149
PP	1.293 (0.958, 1.745)	0.093
MAP	0.828 (0.630, 1.090)	0.179
MidBP	0.838 (0.642, 1.094)	0.193
HbA1c ($\langle vs \ge 9\%$) x BP		
SBP	1.127 (0.871, 1.458)	0.365
DBP	0.937 (0.708, 1.241)	0.652
PP	1.410 (1.049, 1.897)	0.023
MAP	1.004 (0.772, 1.306)	0.977
MidBP	1.038 (0.801, 1.344)	0.779

Table 12 Interactions of BP with Age, and with HbA1c in CAD Prediction Models

BP, age (or HbA1c), and their interaction term (e.g., BP x Age) were in the model for testing

BP: blood pressure, DBP: diastolic blood pressure, HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c, MAP: mean arterial pressure, MidBP: mid-blood pressure, PP: pulse pressure, SBP: systolic blood pressure

BP measure	Model ^a	HR (95%CI) ^b	p value
SBP	Overall	1.99 (1.48, 2.67)	< 0.001
	Age < 35 yrs	2.22 (1.53, 3.23)	< 0.001
	Age \geq 35 yrs	1.67 (1.01, 2.77)	0.045
	HbA1c < 9 %	1.84 (1.25, 2.72)	0.002
	$HbA1c \ge 9\%$	2.49 (1.54, 4.05)	< 0.001
DBP	Overall	2.00 (1.48, 2.69)	< 0.001
	Age < 35 yrs	2.43 (1.68, 3.51)	< 0.001
	Age \geq 35 yrs	1.42 (0.86, 2.36)	0.175
	HbA1c < 9 %	2.29 (1.57, 3.34)	< 0.001
	$HbA1c \ge 9\%$	1.82 (1.09, 3.02)	0.021
PP	Overall	1.19 (1.01, 1.41)	0.041
	Age < 35 yrs	1.18 (0.94, 1.48)	0.164
	Age \geq 35 yrs	1.21 (0.93, 1.57)	0.156
	HbA1c < 9 %	1.05 (0.83, 1.32)	0.677
	$HbA1c \ge 9\%$	1.49 (1.14, 1.96)	0.004
MAP	Overall	2.37 (1.71, 3.29)	< 0.001
	Age < 35 yrs	2.77 (1.86, 4.11)	< 0.001
	Age \geq 35 yrs	1.77 (0.98, 3.19)	0.058
	HbA1c < 9 %	2.54 (1.66, 3.89)	< 0.001
	$HbA1c \ge 9\%$	2.50 (1.44, 4.33)	0.001
MidBP	Overall	2.37 (1.70, 3.29)	< 0.001
	Age < 35 yrs	2.71 (1.82, 4.03)	< 0.001
	Age \geq 35 yrs	1.84 (1.02, 3.33)	0.043
	HbA1c < 9 %	2.43 (1.58, 3.73)	< 0.001
	HbA1c \geq 9 %	2.65 (1.54, 4.57)	< 0.001

Table 13 Time-varying BP Indices Associated with Incident CAD

^a Adjusted for sex, age, age at diabetes onset, HbA1c, and time-varying antihypertensive use ^b Per SD increase

BP: blood pressure, CAD: coronary artery disease, DBP: diastolic blood pressure, HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c, MAP: mean arterial pressure, MidBP: mid-blood pressure, PP: pulse pressure, SBP: systolic blood pressure

Risk factors	β Coefficient				
		Subset	Subset	Subset	Subset
	Overall	age	Age	HbA1c	HbA1c
		< 35 yrs	\geq 35 yrs	< 9%	$\geq 9\%$
SBP	0.168	•	•	0.033	0.081
DBP					
PP			0.247		0.128
MAP		0.153		0.147	
Age	0.717	0.526		0.588	0.801
Age of	0.102	0.177	0.172	0.207	0.151
diabetes onset	-0.192	-0.1//	-0.172	-0.207	-0.131
Female	•		•	•	•
Ever smoking	0.137	0.073	0.219	0.075	0.192
BMI	0.024	0.108			
Pulse rate					
HbA1c					
Urinary AER	0.197	0.191	0.075	0.212	0.155
HDLc	-0.134		-0.388	-0.085	-0.125
non-HDLc	0.208	0.230		0.214	0.167
WBC	0.090	0.082	0.030	0.066	0.094
Antihypertensive use	0.098	0.078	0.107	0.042	0.179

 Table 14 Baseline Risk Factor Selection for CAD Prediction using LASSO-Cox Model

AER: urinary albumin excretion rate, BMI: body mass index, BP: blood pressure, CAD: coronary artery disease, DBP: diastolic blood pressure, HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c, HDLc: high density lipoprotein cholesterol, LASSO: least absolute shrinkage and selection operator, MAP: mean arterial pressure, MidBP: mid-blood pressure, PP: pulse pressure, SBP: systolic blood pressure, WBC: white blood cell counts

Comparison		Likelihood ratio test	
Model 1	Model 2	$\Delta \chi^2$	p value
Overall			-
	SBP	0.63	0.426
SBP+DBP	DBP	5.01	0.025
	РР	11.21	< 0.001
	MAP	1.08	0.299
	MidBP	0.23	0.633
	SBP	0.63	0.426
	DBP	5.01	0.025
MAP+PP	РР	11.21	< 0.001
	MAP	1.08	0.299
	MidBP	0.23	0.633
	SBP+DBP	0.00	>0.999
	SBP	0.63	0.426
	DBP	5.01	0.025
	рр	11.21	< 0.001
SBP+PP	MAP	1.08	0.299
	MidBP	0.23	0.633
	SBP+DBP	0.00	>0 999
	MAP+PP	0.00	>0 999
$HbA1c \leq 9\%$		0.00	
	SBP	1.88	0.170
	DRP	1.80	0.178
SBP+DBP	pp	9.88	0.002
	ΜΔΡ	0.04	0.834
	MidBP	0.04	0.054
	SRP	1.88	0.170
	DRP	1.80	0.170
M A P+PP	pp	9.88	0.002
	ΜΔΡ	0.04	0.834
	MidBP	0.04	0.054
		0.00	>0.000
	SBD	1.88	0.170
		1.00	0.170
	DD	0.88	0.002
SBP+PP	ΜΑΡ	0.04	0.002
	MidBP	0.04	0.034
		0.08	>0.00
		0.00	>0.999
$Hb \wedge 1_{2} > 09/$		0.00	~0.999
$110A10 \leq 7/0$	SBD	0.29	0.588
		3 30	0.500
SBP+DBP		1.40	0.000
		1.47	0.223
	MidDD	1.75	0.103
		1.33	0.249
	201	0.29	0.588
MAP+PP	עט	3.39	0.000
		1.49	0.223
	MAP	1.93	0.165

Table 15 Combined BP versus Single BP Indices in CAD Prediction

Table 15 Continued

	MEADD	1.22	0.240
		1.55	>0.249
		0.00	0.588
SBP+PP	DBP	3 30	0.066
	DD	1 /0	0.000
	ΜΔΡ	1.49	0.165
	MidBP	1.95	0.105
	SBP+DBP	0.00	>0.249
	$M \land D \perp DD$	0.00	>0.999
$\Delta qe < 35$ years		0.00	~0.999
rige < 55 years	SBP	2 69	0.101
	DBP	0.71	0.399
SBP+DBP	DD	10.07	0.002
	MAP	0.03	0.002
	MidDD	0.03	0.525
		2.60	0.323
		2.09	0.101
		0./1	0.399
MAP+PP	PP	10.07	0.002
	MAP	0.03	0.860
	MidBP	0.41	0.525
	SBP+DBP	0.00	>0.999
	SBP	2.69	0.101
	DBP	0.71	0.399
SBP+PP	PP	10.07	0.002
	MAP	0.03	0.860
	MidBP	0.41	0.525
	SBP+DBP	0.00	>0.999
	MAP+PP	0.00	>0.999
Age \geq 35 years			
	SBP	3.21	0.073
SBP+DBP	DBP	8.93	0.003
	РР	0.02	0.877
	MAP	6.88	0.009
	MidBP	5.71	0.017
	SBP	3.21	0.073
	DBP	8.93	0.003
MAP+PP	РР	0.02	0.877
	MAP	6.88	0.009
	MidBP	5.71	0.017
	SBP+DBP	0.00	>0.999
	SBP	3.21	0.073
	DBP	8.93	0.003
מת⊥חם	PP	0.02	0.877
SDFTFF	MAP	6.88	0.009
	MidBP	5.71	0.017
	SBP+DBP	0.00	>0.999
	MAP+PP	0.00	>0.999

DBP: diastolic blood pressure, MAP: mean arterial pressure, MidBP: mid-blood pressure, PP: pulse pressure, SBP: systolic blood pressure.



Figure 1 Age-specific Means of BP Indices between CAD Cases and Non-Cases



Figure 2 Model-based Interaction Effect of Age and HbA1c on the Association of PP with CAD Outcomes

CAD: coronary artery disease, HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c, PP: pulse pressure
3.0 Paper II: Optimal BP Goals in Young Adults with Type 1 Diabetes

3.1 Introduction

Individuals with T1D carry a substantially greater cardiovascular risk, especially at younger ages, than the general population. The Pittsburgh EDC Study has shown that young adults with childhood-onset T1D exhibit more than a 30-fold higher risk of cardiovascular mortality compared to age- and sex-matched individuals in the general population 62 . BP begins to rise at an early age in T1D individuals such that hypertension (defined as BP \geq 140/90 mmHg or the use of BP lowering mediations) affects over 40% of these individuals as early as in their 30s 117 . However, very few studies have examined the impact of chronic exposure to elevated BP, from an early phase in life, on cardiovascular outcomes in this high-risk population. Long term exposure to glycaemia has been widely shown to be associated with diabetes complications, including cardiovascular disease 255,256 . Nonetheless, the relative importance of chronic exposure to high BP versus hyperglycemia for diabetes complication outcomes remains unknown.

Although high BP is modifiable, it continues to be a poorly treated risk factor for adverse health outcomes in the contemporary population of individuals with T1D ¹¹⁸. Currently, the major guidelines recommend a BP target of 130/80 (AHA 2017) ⁸¹ or 140/90 mmHg (ADA 2018) ²⁵⁷ in diabetes populations based on evidence exclusively in middle-aged or older type 2 diabetes populations. However, not only may the pathogenesis of hypertension differ between individuals with T1D compared with those with type 2 diabetes but also the onset of the condition occurs at a much earlier age in the former group ⁵. Unfortunately, there is an absence of clinical trial-based evidence regarding the optimal BP targets in T1D. A few observational studies of T1D have

reported that a lower BP threshold (i.e., less than 110 or 120 mmHg) was associated with a lower cardiovascular risk ^{157–159}, however, usually only a single baseline BP measure was examined. These limited studies and the lack of BP lowering clinical trials indicate an insufficiency of data regarding the BP management targets in T1D.

The primary aim of the study was, therefore, to determine optimal BP goals in terms of minimizing cardiovascular risk in young adults with long duration childhood-onset T1D. In addition, we examined the relative importance of long-term glycemic and BP exposures for cardiovascular risk prediction in T1D.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Study Population

The Pittsburgh EDC Study is a prospective cohort of individuals with childhood-onset T1D, who were diagnosed prior to 17 years of age ²³³. The participants were seen at diagnosis, or within one year of diagnosis, at the Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh between 1950 and 1980. Though clinic based, this cohort has been shown to be epidemiologically representative of the T1D population in Allegheny County, Pennsylvania ²³⁴. There were 658 eligible participants examined at study entry (baseline) between 1986 and 1988. Participants were then assessed biennially by surveys for 25 years, and biennially by examination for the first 10 years and again at 18 and 25 years ⁵⁹. Of these participants, 605 were free from CAD at study entry and thus comprised the study population of the present analysis. Participants were followed up to their first CAD event, death, or the 25th year of the EDC cohort (2011–2014).

3.2.2 Coronary Artery Disease Definition

The CAD status was evaluated biennially from baseline to the end of the follow-up period. A CAD event was defined as new-onset angina diagnosed by an EDC physician, myocardial infarction confirmed by Q-waves on an electrocardiogram (Minnesota codes 1.1 or 1.2) or hospital records, angiographic stenosis \geq 50%, revascularization, or ischemic ECG changes (Minnesota codes 1.3, 4.1-4.3, 5.1-5.3, and 7.1).

3.2.3 Assessment of BP

BP was measured by a random-zero sphygmomanometer for the initial 10 years of the study and subsequently by an aneroid device. At each clinic visit, BP was measured three times by trained and certified research staff, after the participant had been peacefully sitting for five minutes in a quiet room, according to the Hypertension Detection and Follow-up Program protocol ²³⁵. The average of the second and third readings was used in the analysis. MAP was calculated as the sum of one third of the SBP and two thirds of DBP.

The cumulative BP (mmHg-year) was determined as a sum of the products of average BP (mmHg) from two consecutive follow-up visits multiplied by the time interval (year) between the two visits; that is, cumulative BP = ([BP1 + BP2] / 2) × (time2 - time1) + ([BP2 + BP3] / 2) × (time3 - time2)... ²⁵⁸. This cumulative variable increases as time progresses over the follow-up period. The time-weighted BP (mmHg) was then obtained by dividing cumulative BP by the total follow-up time: time-weighted BP = cumulative BP / ([time2 - time1]+ [time3 - time2]+...) ²⁵⁹. This weighted variable is time-invariant and reflects the entire observed follow-up period, i.e., from baseline to the first CAD event if a case, to death or the 25th year follow-up if a non-case.

3.2.4 Measurement of Covariates

Demographic and medical information was self-reported via questionnaires. Clinical exams were conducted by trained personnel using standardized protocols. An ever smoker was defined as a person who had smoked at least 100 cigarettes in his or her lifetime. The body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight in kilograms divided by the square of height in meters. Participants self-reported all medication use biennially since the study baseline. The medication class was determined using the ATC/DDD code.

HbA1 was measured by ion-exchange chromatography (Isolab, Akron, OH, USA) for the first 18 months, and the subsequent 10 years by automated high-performance liquid chromatography (Diamat; Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA); the results of the two methods were highly correlated (r = 0.95). For follow-up beyond 10 years, HbA1c was measured with the DCA 2000 analyzer (Bayer, Tarrytown, NY, USA). The DCA and Diamat assays were also highly correlated (r = 0.95). The values were then converted to DCCT - aligned HbA1c using regression equations derived from duplicate assays ²³⁶. The time-weighted HbA1c was also calculated, using the same method as that for BP measures.

Total cholesterol was determined enzymatically ²³⁷. HDL cholesterol was measured by a precipitation technique (heparin and manganese chloride) using a modified version of the Lipid Research Clinics method ²³⁸. Non-HDL cholesterol was determined as total cholesterol minus HDL cholesterol. Urinary albumin was determined by immunonephelometry ²³⁹. Raised albuminuria was defined as an urinary albumin excretion rate (AER) >20 μ g/min (30 mg/24h) in at least two of three validated timed biennial urine collections ⁶⁴.

3.2.5 Statistical Analysis

Demographics and baseline clinical characteristics were compared by time-weighted BP levels ($< vs \ge 120/80 \text{ mmHg}$) and between CAD incident cases and non-cases. In these comparisons, the Chi-square test or Fisher's exact test were used for the dichotomous variables and the Student t-test or the nonparametric Wilcoxon test were used for the continuous variables, as appropriate.

The cumulative SBP, DBP and MAP were calculated at each follow-up visit until the first occurrence of a CAD event for cases or the end of the follow-up for non-cases. Each time-updated cumulative BP variable (i.e. time-varying) was included in a Cox model to assess the association between the cumulative BP and incident CAD. The models were adjusted for covariates that have previously been demonstrated to be important predictors of CAD in the Pittsburgh EDC cohort ¹⁴⁷ or those that were found to be significantly associated with outcome events in the univariate analyses. Specifically, the final models were adjusted for age, sex, diabetes duration, current use of antihypertensive medications, ever smoking, raised albuminuria, updated mean BMI, HbA1c, HDL and non-HDL cholesterol.

Cox models including time-weighted BP measures (time-invariant) were constructed to examine a dose-gradient association between the categorized BP and incident CAD. The time-weighted SBP (<110, -<120 [reference], - <130, <140, \geq 140 mmHg), DBP (<60, -<70 [reference], - <80, <90, \geq 90 mmHg) and MAP (<80, -<90 [reference], - <100, <110, \geq 110 mmHg) were categorized into 5 groups and tested. Model 1 was adjusted for age, diabetes duration, sex and current antihypertensive use. Model 2, the fully adjusted model, was further adjusted for time-weighted HbA1c, ever smoking, raised albuminuria, and updated mean BMI, HDL and non-HDL cholesterol.

Sensitivity, specificity, and the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUC) were then summarized by different BP cut-points ²⁶⁰. The Youden's index criterion ²⁶¹ was also applied to select the optimal cut-offs.

To evaluate the relative importance of long-term exposure to elevated BP versus hyperglycemia in T1D, we subsequently stratified the participants into four groups by timeweighted BP and time-weighted HbA1c: Group 1 (reference group, SBP/DBP < 120/80 mmHg and HbA1c < 8%), Group 2 (high BP only, SBP/DBP $\ge 120/80$ mmHg and HbA1c < 8%), Group 3 (high HbA1c only, SBP/DBP < 120/80 mmHg and HbA1c $\ge 8\%$), and Group 4 (both, SBP/DBP \geq 120/80 mmHg and HbA1c \geq 8%). Cox models were built to estimate the hazard ratios among these groups controlling for the same set of covariates described above. A similar risk stratification strategy was also applied to time-weighted MAP ($< vs \ge 90 \text{ mmHg}$) and HbA1c ($< vs \ge 8\%$). The cut-offs of 120/80 mmHg for SBP/DBP and 90 mmHg for MAP were established according to a significantly increased risk for these thresholds in the prior analyses of the dose-gradient associations between time-weighted BP categories and incident CAD, as well as the best cut-offs determined by the AUC and Youden index criteria. Similarly, the time-weighted HbA1c showed a remarkably increased risk from 8% according to the analysis of the time-weighted HbA1c categories and incident CAD. In addition to risk stratification analysis, the interaction effects of high BP ($\langle vs \ge 120/80 \text{ mmHg}$) with HbA1c and the high MAP ($\langle vs \ge 90 \text{mmHg}$) with HbA1c were also tested within the Cox models; model-based interaction plots were then displayed.

In addition, to understand the potential impact on CAD outcome of the two different BP cutoffs, 120/80mmHg and 140/90 mmHg, the population attributable risk fraction (PARF) was estimated for each of these two cutoffs, using the equation $PARF = (P * [I_{Exposed} - I_{Unexposed}])$

/ I total, where P = prevalence of a given risk factor, I $_{Exposed}$ = event incidence rate in the Exposed population, I $_{Unexposed}$ = event incidence rate in the unexposed population, and I $_{total}$ = Incidence rate in the total population. In this case, a PARF represents the percentage of CAD cases in this T1D cohort that can be attributed to $\geq 120/80$ mmHg, and $\geq 140/90$ mmHg, respectively.

In the exploratory sensitivity analysis, we examined the association of high BP (timeweighted SBP/DBP \geq 120/80 mmHg, or time-weighted MAP \geq 90 mmHg) with incident CAD in the subgroups who were never treated and who were ever treated with antihypertensives.

A two-sided P <0.05 was considered significant. Analyses were performed using SAS v 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC) and R version 3.5.1 (R Core Team, Vienna, Austria).

3.3 Results

Among the 605 EDC participants who were free from clinical CAD at study entry, the mean age and diabetes duration were 27 and 19 years, respectively. The average age of diabetes onset was eight years. Of all the participants, half of the cohort were females; 13% took antihypertensive medications at baseline (**Table 16**).

There were 219 (36.2%) individuals who experienced at least one CAD event over 25 years follow up. Compared to participants without incident CAD, those who developed CAD were more likely to be older, have a longer duration of diabetes, smoke, take antihypertensive medications, have raised albuminuria, and have higher BMI, higher levels of BP and non-HDL cholesterol at baseline (**Table 16**).

The time-weighted SBP, DBP, and MAP were all approximately normally distributed with the respective means (SD) of 116.3 (13.7), 72.3 (9.6) and 87.0 (10.1) mmHg. Overall, the incidence

rates of CAD progressively increased as time-weighted BP increased (all p trends <0.01) (**Figure 3**). At 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 18 and 25 years of follow-up, the mean (SD) cumulative BP values were 235(52), 497(82), 704(98), 933(116), 1144(134), 2104(198), and 2830(261) mmHg-years for SBP, and 150(34), 316(53), 447(62), 590(71), 723(83), 1307(139) and 1735(170) mmHg-years for DBP (**Figure 5**).

The time-updated cumulative SBP, DBP and MAP were separately examined in three Cox models. Over the follow-up period, all these three cumulative BP measures independently and significantly predicted the risk of incident CAD after adjusting for age, sex, diabetes duration, ever smoking, raised albuminuria, antihypertensive use, updated mean BMI, HbA1c, HDL and non-HDL cholesterol. The adjusted Hazard ratio (HR) (95% CI) of incident CAD per 500 mmHg-years increase in cumulative SBP, DBP and MAP were 1.3 (1.04, 1.7), 1.5 (1.02, 2.2) and 1.4 (1.03, 2.0), respectively (**Table 17**).

The dose-gradient association of each time-weighted BP measure (SBP, DBP, and MAP) with incident CAD is presented in **Table 18**. In the fully adjusted model (Model 2), compared to SBP within 110 to <120 mmHg, the HR (95%CI) associated incident CAD for <110, 120 to <130, 130 to <140, and \geq 140 mmHg was 1.1 (0.7, 1.6), 1.6 (1.1, 2.3), 1.9 (1.2, 3.0) and 2.6 (1.6, 4.5), respectively. For DBP, with 60 to <70 mmHg as the reference group, the HR (95%CI) in the groups for <60, 70 to <80, 80 to <90, and \geq 90mmHg was 0.9 (0.5, 1.7), 1.8 (1.2, 2.7), 4.5 (2.9, 6.9) and 5.6 (3.0, 10.3), respectively. Compared to MAP within 80 to < 90mmHg, the HR (95%CI) for <80, 90 to <100, 100 to<110, and \geq 110 mmHg was 0.9 (0.6, 1.4), 2.5 (1.7, 3.5), 2.9 (1.8, 4.9) and 8.5 (4.3, 16.8), respectively.

The results of sensitivity, specificity, and AUC by different cut-off points of the timeweighted BPs are summarized in **Table 19**. Among the cut-offs ≥ 110 , ≥ 120 , ≥ 130 and ≥ 140 mmHg, a SBP cut-off \geq 120 mmHg provided the highest AUC (0.614) with a sensitivity of 48% and a specificity of 75%. In evaluating DBP with cut-offs \geq 60, \geq 70, \geq 80, and \geq 90 mmHg, the cut-off point with the highest AUC (0.605) was \geq 80 mmHg. A MAP \geq 90 mmHg showed the best discrimination ability (AUC: 0.621) compared to cut-offs \geq 80, \geq 100, and \geq 110 mmHg. According to the Youden index criterion, the optimal cut-off points for SBP, DBP and MAP were 116.1, 78.6, and 91.4 mmHg, respectively.

In the risk stratification analysis (**Table 20**), compared to participants with a time-weighted BP <120/80 mmHg, a higher BP \geq 120/80 mmHg carried almost doubled increased risk of CAD (HR [95%CI]): 1.9 [1.4, 2.6]) in the fully adjusted model. When the participants were categorized into four groups according to time-weighted BP (< vs \geq 120/80 mmHg) and time-weighted HbA1c (< vs \geq 8%), the high BP only group (\geq 120/80 mmHg and <8%) (HR: 2.0 [1.06, 3.9]) had a similar hazards ratio as the high HbA1c only group (<120/80mmHg and \geq 8%) (HR: 1.6 [0.97, 2.8]) for CAD risk prediction (**Figure 4 and Table 20**). In the risk stratification analysis by MAP (< vs \geq 90 mmHg) and HbA1c (< vs \geq 8%), the high MAP only group (\geq 90 mmHg and <8%) tended to carry higher CAD risk than the high HbA1c only group (<90mmHg and \geq 8%) though the two 95% CIs were largely overlapping (3.4 [1.8, 6.5] vs 1.9 [1.1, 3.2]).

In the tests for interaction, both of the two interaction terms, high BP ($\langle vs \ge 120/80 \text{ mmHg}$) x HbA1c (HR: 0.851, p value=0.111) and MAP ($\langle vs \ge 90 \text{ mmHg}$) x HbA1c (HR: 0.786, p value=0.018) showed negative β coefficients (**Figure 6**).

In the sensitivity analyses (**Table 21**), a high BP \geq 120/80 mmHg, vs <120/80 mmHg, was associated with a significantly increased risk in both subgroups who were never (HR: 2.3 [1.3, 4.1]) and ever (HR: 2.7 [1.7, 4.1]) treated with antihypertensives over the study period. (Dosegradient association of time-weighted HbA1c and CAD was displayed in **Table 22**.) As BP changes with age, and the duration exposure to diabetes is an important measure of diabetes burden, both age and diabetes duration were adjusted in our primary analyses. However, age and diabetes duration are highly correlated (r=0.84) in this childhood onset T1D cohort, it may be inappropriate to have both in the same model. Therefore, models adjusted for age, but not diabetes duration, were also constructed (**Appendix A Table 26 - 29**). These models yielded similar results as those with adjustment of both variables as stated above.

According the PARF calculations (**Figure 7**), compared to the BP cutoff 140/90 mmHg (PARF=19.1%), the cutoff 120/80 mmHg (PARF: 37.4%) identified a further 18.3% CAD cases in this type 1 cohort.

3.4 Discussion

In the current study, long-term cumulative BP exposure independently predicted the risk of CAD in individuals who were living with T1D since their childhood. A dose-gradient association was also observed between time-weighted BP and incident CAD. Time-weighted SBP and DBP, approximately starting from 120 and 80 mmHg, strongly predicted the CAD risk in this group of individuals with childhood-onset T1D. Compared with participants with reasonably good control of both BP and glycaemia (time-weighted SBP/DBP <120/80 mmHg and time-weighted HbA1c < 8%), the magnitude of the risks associated with incident CAD in the high BP only group (\geq 120/80 mmHg and <8%) were comparable to the hyperglycemia only group (<120/80 mmHg and \geq 8%). In aggregate, these results suggest that chronic exposure to higher BP from youth/young adulthood through midlife plays an important role in the development of CAD in individuals with long duration T1D. Furthermore, chronically elevated BP and HbA1c showed a comparable

magnitude of effect on long-term CAD risk prediction, indicating BP control is at least as equally important as glycemic control is for cardiovascular risk reduction in T1D.

This study is unique in its provision of information about how chronically elevated BP in young to midlife affects cardiovascular outcomes in T1D. Both time-updated cumulative BP exposures (mmHg-year) and time-weighted (mmHg) BP measures were utilized in the present work to quantify long-term BP exposure. A time-weighted BP accounts for the amount of time that a participant has been exposed to a given BP level. Hence, it may better reflect the true exposure over time than a BP obtained on a single occasion (i.e., at baseline or current) or a simple average of multiple measures over time, i.e., an updated mean. Indeed, a most recent report from Lifetime Risk Pooling Project cohorts reported an improvement of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease risk prediction using the 5 or 10 years cumulative SBP in comparison with using the current SBP ²⁶².

Although several previous studies have shown the importance of cumulative BP exposure on adverse health outcomes, their data were exclusively collected from the general population $^{102,259,262-265}$. BP rises at a much earlier age in T1D individuals than in the general population 124 . The prevalence of hypertension ($\geq 95^{th}$ percentile) can be as high as over 16% in T1D youth even less than 18 years of age 126 ; over 40% were affected by hypertension ($\geq 140/90$ mmHg or the use of BP lowering medications) in their early-mid adulthood 117 . In the present study, we have examined the effects of cumulative BP burden on adverse cardiovascular events in T1D individuals during young ages through midlife as well as its importance relative to chronic glycemic exposure.

Although the existing trial-based evidence did not support the benefit of a lower BP target (i.e., <120 mmHg) among individuals with type 2 diabetes (e.g., the ACCORD trial)¹⁵⁴, we believe it is inappropriate to simply extrapolate the findings in older type 2 population to the younger type

1 population. A few observational studies ^{157–159} conducted within T1D cohorts have shown a decreased cardiovascular risk at lower BPs levels even within the normal range as denoted by the current ADA recommendations (<140/90 mmHg) ²⁵⁷. A prior report from the Pittsburgh EDC Study demonstrated that a baseline BP over 130/90 mmHg carried more than a five-fold greater risk of CAD than a BP of 110/80 mmHg after adjusting for age ¹⁵⁸. A similar dose-gradient relationship of BP (beginning at 120/70 mmHg) with adverse cardiovascular outcomes was also observed in a multinational study conducted by the World Health Organization ¹⁵⁷ and a study by Sibal et al ¹⁵⁹ in the U.K. In these prior reports, however, only baseline BPs were examined, a limited number of covariates were adjusted for in the risk prediction models (i.e., sex and age), and the follow-up periods were relatively short. The findings of the present study expand those of previous studies by providing data based on a cohort in which the follow-up period was up to 25 years, using a time-weighted BP and an adjustment for a wide range of potential risk factors.

We also conducted exploratory sensitivity analyses in subgroups who were never and ever treated with antihypertensive medications, respectively. A high BP (SBP/DBP >120/80 mmHg or MAP >90 mmHg) was consistently shown as an independent predictor of incident CAD in both subgroups, reflecting the inadequacy of BP control even in treated T1D individuals. Moreover, in our test of discrimination ability of different BP cut offs, the sensitivity was improved by 37% when the SBP cut-off was lowered from 140 to 120 mmHg, and by 24% when the DBP cut-off was lowered from 90 to 80 mmHg. In addition, according to the PARF estimation, a BP cutoff of 120/80 mmHg was able to identify a further 18% of CAD events than the 140/90 mmHg cutoff in this T1D cohort, nearly doubling the PARF. Collectively, these findings support a much lower BP target than 140/90mmHg, in order to fully reduce cardiovascular risk seen in the young T1D individuals.

The recent results from the DCCT/EDIC study suggested that a BP threshold of 120/70 mmHg was associated with the risk of adverse renal outcomes ²¹¹ in individuals with T1D. The results of our study were reasonably consistent with these findings as we found a threshold of 120/80 mmHg to be associated with incident CAD. Although we also observed that DBP was significantly associated with CAD risk beginning at 70 mmHg based on the Cox models, the AUC value was highest at the cut-off 80 mmHg. Overall, our observational data and those of others may provide support for conducting clinical trials in T1D individuals to further test the hypothesis that tighter BP control benefits this high-risk population.

The clinical management of T1D has traditionally focused on glycemic control ²⁵⁶. In the current study, chronically elevated BP in participants who already had reasonably good glycemic control was independently associated with the increased risk of CAD, and the magnitude of effect was comparable to that seen in those who had poor glycemic control but reasonably good BP. This suggests that these two modifiable risk factors are similarly important in cardiovascular risk prediction in individuals with long standing T1D. It is not surprising that the relative risk was further increased in those who were exposed to both elevated BP and HbA1c. Indeed, animal studies have suggested a positive interaction between hyperglycemia and high BP on the progression of atherogenesis ²⁶⁶. Intriguingly, we however found a "negative" interaction effect between high BP and HbA1c, such that the impact of BP is greater in those with lower HbA1c levels. We think these findings have major clinical implications, emphasizing the need for initial focus on glycaemia control when very high, but as HbA1c approaches high normal range, an increasing focus on BP becomes critical.

Our findings suggest that a BP management goal of < 120/80 mmHg is associated with minimal CAD risk. Because of the lack of interventional randomized trials with clinical outcomes

in BP management goals in T1D, observational evidence from an epidemiologically representative and well-characterized type 1 cohort, such as the EDC Study, could be important and helpful for clinical recommendation development. Thus, if BP trials are not going to be conducted in this high-risk population, it would seem reasonable to strengthen the ADA recommendations by embracing a lower goal of 120/80 mmHg for young and middle-aged adults with childhood-onset T1D.

The strengths of our investigation include the well-characterized cohort of childhood-onset T1D with standardized measurements, the long follow-up period over 25 years, and the application of cumulative and time-weighted BP measures that are able to reflect long-term exposure to high BP. Over the entire study period, BP measurement has been conducted by trained and certified research staff, strictly following the standard protocol ²³⁵.

However, we also recognize a number of limitations. We have to note that the cumulative BP exposure in the current analysis does not represent the entire history of disease, i.e. from the diagnosis of T1D. The EDC Study is a historical prospective T1D cohort and thus participants were already exposed to the disease for certain amount of time prior to study entry (mean baseline diabetes duration: 19 years). Due to the absence of pre-baseline data, we are unable to accurately estimate the BP exposure in this left censored period (from diabetes diagnosis to study baseline). However, when we arbitrarily estimated the pre-baseline cumulative BP exposure as the product of baseline BP with baseline diabetes duration (BP1 × [time at study baseline - time at diabetes diagnosis]) and added it into the current cumulative BP measure, the results were consistent regarding the optimal BP cut-offs associated with minimal CAD risk (data not shown). In addition, because of the observational nature of the study, our interpretation of the results might not reflect the direct casual effects of lower BP target on outcome endpoints. Our sample consists primarily

of white T1D individuals and therefore may not be representative of other ethnic or racial groups. Finally, these findings only focus on CAD events; the effects of BP and glycemia on other clinical outcomes was not addressed.

3.5 Conclusion

Long term cumulative BP exposure is an independent predictor of incident CAD among people with long duration childhood-onset T1D. Time-weighted BP analyses also suggest that a BP of 120/80 mmHg maximally predicts CAD events over 25 years follow up. Chronically elevated BP and glycaemia are similarly important in predicting cardiovascular endpoints. These findings raise the need for those setting treatment guidelines to consider lower goals (120/80mmHg) than now exist (140/90mmHg), especially for young adults with childhood-onset T1D as in the EDC cohort. In the absence of any pending or existing direct evidence from clinical outcome trials, which sadly do not seem likely to be conducted, such review should be take place sooner than later.

3.6 Tables and Figures

Table 16 Study Participant Characteristics by Time-weighted BP

Variables	Total	Time-weighted BP (mmHg)		Incident CAD	
	N=605	< 120/80	≥ 120/80	Non-cases	Cases
		(n=387)	(n=218)	(n=386)	(n=219)
Age, years	27.2 (7.7)	25.7 (7.5)	29.8 (7.4) **	24.8 (7.2)	31.3 (6.8) **
Age at diabetes onset, years	8.2 (4.1)	8.0 (4.1)	8.5 (4.0)	8.1 (4.2)	8.3 (3.8)
Diabetes duration, year	19.0 (7.4)	17.7 (7.1)	21.3 (7.4) **	16.7 (6.6)	23.0 (7.1) **
Female, %(n)	49.8 (301)	57.1 (221)	36.7 (80) **	51.0 (197)	47.5 (104)
SBP, mmHg	112.9 (14.7)	106.3 (8.7)	124.6 (16.1) **	109.9 (12.3)	118.1 (17.1) **
DBP, mmHg	72.5 (10.8)	68.1 (7.9)	80.2 (11.1) **	70.8 (9.8)	75.5 (12.0) **
PP, mmHg	40.4 (10.3)	38.1 (8.1)	44.4 (12.4) **	39.1 (9.6)	42.7 (10.7) **
MAP, mmHg	85.9 (11.3)	80.9 (7.2)	95.0 (11.6) **	83.8 (9.8)	89.7 (13.0) **
Antihypertensive use, %(n)	12.9 (78)	5.7 (21)	26.6 (57) **	7.6 (28)	23.0 (50) **
Hypertension, %(n)	14.4 (87)	3.6 (14)	33.5 (73) **	7.8 (30)	26.0 (57) **
Pulse rate, beats/min	78 (10)	76.9 (9.1)	80.5 (10.6) **	77.4 (9.8)	79.6 (9.7) *
HbA1c, %	8.8 (1.5)	8.7 (1.5)	8.8 (1.6)	8.8 (1.5)	8.7 (1.5)
Ever smoker, %(n)	37.2 (225)	36.2 (140)	39.0 (85)	30.3 (117)	49.3 (108) **
BMI, kg/m ²	23.5 (3.2)	23.2 (3.2)	24.1 (3.2) **	23.2 (3.2)	24.0 (3.2) **
High WHR ^a , %(n)	4.8 (29)	5.0 (19)	4.6 (10)	5.2 (20)	4.2 (9)
AER, μg/min	14 (7, 102)	11 (6, 25)	10 (12, 985) **	11 (7, 42)	39 (9, 470) **
Raised albuminuria, %(n)	44.4 (269)	29.7 (115)	70.6 (154) **	36.5 (141)	58.5 (128) **
Non-HDLc, mg/dL	135.6 (41.0)	128.0 (36.7)	149.6 (46.4) **	127.6 (38.8)	149.9 (42.9) **
HDLc in male, mg/dL	49.5 (9.8)	50.1 (9.9)	48.7 (9.7)	50.8 (10.0)	47.3 (9.0) **
HDLc in female, mg/dL	58.4 (12.9)	58.4 (12.6)	58.6 (13.7)	58.9 (13.0)	57.5 (12.5)

Categorical variables were presented as percentage (number) and continuous variables as mean (SD) or median (1^{st} and 3^{rd} quantile) ^a high WHR defined as >0.9 in men or > 0.85 in women

*p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01 between comparisons of time-weighted BP < vs $\ge 120/80$ mmHg, and CAD non-cases vs cases

AER: urinary albumin excretion rate, BMI: body mass index, BP: blood pressure, CAD: coronary artery disease, DBP: diastolic blood pressure, HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c, HDL: high density lipoprotein, MAP: mean arterial pressure, PP: pulse pressure, SBP: systolic blood pressure, SD: standard deviation, WHR: waist-hip ratio

	Model for SBP		Model for DBP		Model for MAP	
Variables ^a	HR (95% CI)	p value	HR (95% CI)	p value	HR (95% CI)	p value
Cumulative BP (per 500 mmHg-years)	1.3 (1.04, 1.7)	0.025	1.5 (1.02, 2.2)	0.042	1.4 (1.03, 2.0)	0.031
Age	1.4 (1.01, 1.9)	0.041	1.4 (1.04, 1.9)	0.028	1.4 (1.03, 1.9)	0.033
Diabetes duration	1.7 (1.3, 2.3)	< 0.001	1.7 (1.3, 2.3)	< 0.001	1.7 (1.3, 2.3)	< 0.001
Female	1.4 (0.9, 1.9)	0.069	1.4 (0.9, 2.0)	0.055	1.4 (0.9, 1.9)	0.059
Ever smoking	1.1 (0.7, 1.3)	0.915	1.1 (0.7, 1.4)	0.971	1.1 (0.7, 1.3)	0.952
BMI	0.9 (0.7, 1.02)	0.083	0.9 (0.7, 1.02)	0.080	0.9 (0.7, 1.02)	0.080
HbA1c	1.3 (1.04, 1.5)	0.016	1.3 (1.04, 1.5)	0.018	1.3 (1.04, 1.5)	0.017
non-HDL cholesterol	1.6 (1.4, 1.9)	< 0.001	1.6 (1.4, 2.0)	< 0.001	1.6 (1.4, 2.0)	< 0.001
HDL cholesterol	0.8 (0.7, 0.94)	0.010	0.8 (0.7, 0.95)	0.012	0.8 (0.7, 0.95)	0.011
Raised albuminuria	2.5 (1.8, 3.6)	< 0.001	2.6 (1.8, 3.6)	< 0.001	2.5 (1.8, 3.6)	< 0.001
Current antihypertensive use	0.4 (0.3, 0.6)	< 0.001	0.4 (0.3, 0.6)	< 0.001	0.4 (0.3, 0.6)	< 0.001

Table 17 Time-updated Cumulative BPs (mmHg-Years) and CAD

Per SD increase if a continuous variable, unless specified

^aBMI, HbA1c, and lipids (non-HDLc, HDLc and triglycerides) were updated means (time- invariant) in the models

BMI: body mass index, BP: blood pressure, CAD: coronary artery disease, CI: confidence interval, DBP: diastolic blood pressure, HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c, HDLc: high density lipoprotein cholesterol, HR: hazard ratio, MAP: mean arterial pressure, SBP: systolic blood pressure, SD: standard deviation

	Model 1		Model 2	
	HR (95% CI)	p value	HR (95% CI)	p value
SBP, mmHg				
<110	0.9 (0.6, 1.3)	0.558	1.1 (0.7, 1.6)	0.801
110 to <120	ref		ref	
120 to <130	1.7 (1.1, 2.5)	0.013	1.6 (1.1, 2.3)	0.027
130 to <140	2.3 (1.4, 3.7)	< 0.001	1.9 (1.2, 3.0)	0.011
140+	3.3 (2.0, 5.5)	< 0.001	2.6 (1.6, 4.5)	< 0.001
DBP, mmHg				
<60	1.1 (0.6, 1.9)	0.813	0.9 (0.5, 1.7)	0.825
60 to <70	ref		ref	
70 to <80	1.9 (1.3, 2.8)	< 0.001	1.8 (1.2, 2.7)	0.002
80 to <90	5.9 (3.9, 8.9)	< 0.001	4.5 (2.9, 6.9)	< 0.001
90+	9.2 (5.2, 16.3)	< 0.001	5.6 (3.0, 10.3)	< 0.001
MAP, mmHg				
<80	0.9 (0.6, 1.3)	0.556	0.9 (0.6, 1.4)	0.718
80 to <90	ref		ref	
90 to <100	2.9 (2.1, 4.2)	< 0.001	2.5 (1.7, 3.5)	<0.001
100 to <110	4.1 (2.6, 6.6)	< 0.001	2.9 (1.8, 4.9)	< 0.001
110+	13.9 (7.2, 26.9)	< 0.001	8.5 (4.3, 16.8)	< 0.001

Table 18 Dose-Gradient Associations of Time-weighted BPs and CAD

Model 1: Adjusted for age, sex, diabetes duration, and current use of antihypertensive medications

Model 2: Model 1+ time-weighted HbA1c, ever smoking, updated mean BMI, HDL and non-HDL cholesterol, and raised albuminuria BMI: body mass index, BP: blood pressure, CAD: coronary artery disease, CI: confidence interval, DBP: diastolic blood pressure, HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c, HDL: high density lipoprotein, HR: hazard ratio, MAP: mean arterial pressure.

BP (mmHg)	Sensitivity	Specificity	AUC	p value for AUC comparison
SBP				
≥110	0.7534 (0.6895, 0.8082)	0.4378 (0.3886, 0.4870)	0.5956 (0.5578, 0.6335)	0.336
≥120	0.4795 (0.4110, 0.5479)	0.7487 (0.7047, 0.7902)	0.6141 (0.5745, 0.6537)	ref
≥130	0.2557 (0.2008, 0.3151)	0.9119 (0.8834, 0.9379)	0.5838 (0.5516, 0.6160)	0.075
≥140	0.1142 (0.0776, 0.1598)	0.9637 (0.9430, 0.9819)	0.5389 (0.5159, 0.5620)	< 0.001
Optimal cutoff by Youden Index criteria :116.1 mmHg	0.5753 (0.5069, 0.6417)	0.6891 (0.6403, 0.7350)	0.648 (0.601, 0.695)	/
DBP				
≥60	0.9315 (0.8995, 0.9635)	0.0777 (0.0518, 0.1036)	0.5036 (0.4817, 0.5256)	<0.001
≥70	0.6530 (0.5890, 0.7169)	0.4896 (0.4404, 0.5415)	0.5683 (0.5278, 0.6088)	0.068
≥80	0.3288 (0.2690, 0.3882)	0.8808 (0.8472, 0.9119)	0.6048 (0.5697, 0.6399)	ref
≥90	0.0868 (0.0500, 0.1233)	0.9741 (0.9585, 0.9896)	0.5304 (0.5101, 0.5507)	< 0.001
Optimal cutoff by Youden Index criteria :78.6 mmHg	0.3699 (0.3058, 0.4375)	0.8523 (0.8129, 0.8862)	0.611 (0.563, 0.660)	/
MAP				
≥80	0.8128 (0.7580, 0.8630)	0.2694 (0.2254, 0.3135)	0.5411 (0.5070, 0.5752)	<0.001
≥90	0.4749 (0.4064, 0.5388)	0.7668 (0.7254, 0.8083)	0.6209 (0.5816, 0.6602)	ref
≥100	0.1872 (0.1370, 0.2374)	0.9482 (0.9249, 0.9689)	0.5677 (0.5395, 0.5959)	0.003
≥110	0.0594 (0.0274, 0.0913)	0.9948 (0.9870, 1.0000)	0.5271 (0.5110, 0.5432)	< 0.001
Optimal cutoff by Youden Index criteria :91.4 mmHg	0.4384 (0.3712, 0.5068)	0.8187 (0.7765, 0.8558)	0.633 (0.585, 0.681)	/

Table 19 Sensitivity, Specificity and AUC by Different Cut-offs of Time-weighted BPs

AUC: area of under receiver operating curve, BP: blood pressure, CAD: coronary artery disease, DBP: diastolic blood pressure, MAP: mean arterial pressure, SBP: systolic blood pressure

	Model 1		Model 2	
	HR (95% CI)	p value	HR (95% CI)	p value
SBP/DBP				
BP≥120/80 vs. <120/80	2.4 (1.8, 3.3)	< 0.001	1.9 (1.4, 2.6)	< 0.001
BP<120/80, and HbA1c<8	ref		ref	
BP≥120/80, and HbA1c<8	2.3 (1.3, 4.3)	0.007	2.0 (1.06, 3.9)	0.033
BP<120/80, and HbA1c≥8	2.2 (1.4, 3.6)	0.002	1.6 (0.97, 2.8)	0.071
BP≥120/80, and HbA1c≥8	5.8 (3.5, 9.7)	< 0.001	3.3 (1.9, 6.0)	< 0.001
MAP				
MAP≥90 vs. <90	3.5 (2.6, 4.7)	< 0.001	2.6 (1.6, 3.5)	< 0.001
MAP<90, and HbA1c<8	ref		ref	
MAP≥90, and HbA1c<8	4.6 (2.5, 8.4)	< 0.001	3.4 (1.8, 6.5)	< 0.001
MAP<90, and HbA1c≥8	2.6 (1.6, 4.2)	< 0.001	1.9 (1.1, 3.2)	0.016
MAP≥90, and HbA1c≥8	8.5 (5.1, 14.1)	< 0.001	4.9 (2.7, 8.7)	< 0.001

Table 20 Risk Stratification by Time-weighted BPs and Time-weighted HbA1c for CAD Risk Prediction

Model 1: Adjusted for age, sex, diabetes duration, and current use of antihypertensive medications

Model 2: Model 1+ ever smoking, updated mean BMI, HDL and non-HDL cholesterol, and raised albuminuria

BMI: body mass index, BP: blood pressure, CAD: coronary artery disease, CI: confidence interval, HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c, HDL: high density lipoprotein, HR: hazard ratio, MAP: mean arterial pressure

	Subgroup of neve	r treated with	Subgroup of even	treated with	
	antihypertensives		antihypertensives		
	(n=223, events=89)		(n=382, events=130)		
	HR (95% CI)	p value	HR (95% CI)	p value	
$BP \ge 120/80 \text{ vs.}$ <120/80	2.3 (1.3, 4.1)	0.007	2.7 (1.7, 4.1)	< 0.001	
$MAP \ge 90 \text{ vs.} < 90$	2.6 (1.5, 4.7)	0.001	4.0 (2.5, 6.3)	< 0.001	

Table 21 Stratified Analysis of Time-weighted BPs and CAD by Antihypertensive Use

Adjusted for age, sex, diabetes duration, ever smoking, time-weighted HbA1c, and updated mean BMI, HDL and non-HDL cholesterol, and raised albuminuria

BMI: body mass index, BP: blood pressure, CAD: coronary artery disease, CI: confidence interval, HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c, HDL: high density lipoprotein, HR: hazard ratio, MAP: mean arterial pressure

	Model 1		Model 2	
HbA1c, %	HR (95% CI)	p value	HR (95% CI)	p value
<7	ref		Ref	
7-<8	1.3 (0.6, 2.8)	0.441	1.6 (0.7, 3.3)	0.251
8-<9	2.1 (1.06, 4.4)	0.033	2.1 (1.0, 4.3)	0.0497
9-<10	2.8 (1.4, 5.7)	0.005	1.9 (0.9, 3.9)	0.094
10+	3.9 (1.9, 8.0)	< 0.001	2.2 (1.04, 4.7)	0.041

Table 22 Dose-gradient Association of Time-weighted HbA1c and CAD

Model 1: Adjusted for diabetes duration, sex

Model 2: Model 1+ time-weighted SBP, ever smoking, updated means BMI, HDL and non-HDL cholesterol, and raised albuminuria

BMI: body mass index, CAD: coronary artery disease, CI: confidence interval, HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c, HDL: high density lipoprotein, HR: hazard ratio, SBP: systolic blood pressure



Figure 3 CAD Incidence Rate by Categorized Timed-weighted BPs

Chi-square test was used

CAD: coronary artery disease, DBP: diastolic blood pressure, MAP: mean arterial pressure, SBP: systolic blood pressure



Figure 4 Risk Stratified Kaplan-MeierSurvival Curves for CAD Risk Prediction



Figure 5 Time-updated Cumulative BPs (mmHg-Years) over the Follow-up



Figure 6 Model-based Interaction Plot between Time-weighted BP and HbA1c BP: blood pressure; CAD: coronary artery disease, MAP: mean arterial pressure



Figure 7 Population Attributable Risk Fraction (PARF) Estimation

4.0 Paper III: RAS Inhibition Effect on CAD Outcomes in Type I Diabetes

4.1 Background

T1D confers a high risk for cardiovascular disease ^{62,267}. Although the prevention and delay of microvascular complications have improved notably because of diabetes healthcare advances in recent years ^{47,57}, risk of cardiovascular complications remains high ²⁶⁷. A prior report from the Pittsburgh EDC Study has shown that cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of death in individuals who have lived with T1D over 20 years, accounting for over 60% of all-cause mortality ⁵⁶.

RAS inhibition treatment (i.e., angiotensin-converting enzyme [ACE] inhibitors or angiotensin receptor blockers [ARBs]), is known to reduce proteinuria in addition to BP regulation $^{201,205-209}$, and is usually the first-line recommendation of antihypertensive therapy in diabetes patients with elevated BP. However, hypertension guidelines 86,220,257,268 have recently changed to recommend any class of antihypertensive agents for diabetes patients, with a preference for RAS inhibitors only in the presence of raised albuminuria. This guideline change is mainly based on evidence from recent head-to-head comparison clinical trials and associated meta-analyses, which have shown RAS inhibitors are not superior to other antihypertensive classes (thiazides, calcium channel blockers, and β receptor blockers) for decreasing cardiovascular risk 217,218 . It is important to note that this evidence was derived mostly from middle-aged or older type 2 diabetes patients who were already on antihypertensive treatment, and therefore may not be generalizable to younger people with T1D.

Unfortunately, clinical trial-based evidence of antihypertensive treatment recommendations in T1D is strikingly lacking and thus the question of whether RAS inhibition treatment reduces cardiovascular disease risk in the T1D population remains unanswered. While two observational analyses have indicated that the use of RAS inhibitors might be associated with decreased coronary artery calcification progression ²²² or cardiovascular events ¹⁵⁰, these studies were not primarily aimed to test the effect of RAS inhibition on cardiovascular outcomes. Also, they used common conditional models for treatment effect estimation, which, given the observational nature of the data, make statistical inferences of the treatment effect on the outcome, subject to observed and unobserved confounding factors ²⁶⁹. Confounding by indication is a particular concern for the analysis of treatments like RAS inhibition.

The aim of the present study was, therefore, to rigorously evaluate the effect of RAS inhibition treatment (ACE inhibitors and/or ARBs) on incident CAD in individuals with T1D participating in the Pittsburgh EDC Study of childhood-onset T1D. Both most recent (time-invariant, the last value before the event or end of follow up) and time-varying RAS inhibition treatment effects were considered. In addition, we explored two potential pathways for RAS inhibition to affect CAD, the direct and indirect paths mediated by BP and albuminuria. To minimize the confounding effects in this observational study, inverse probability of treatment weighting based on a propensity score was employed in Cox models, testing the association between RAS inhibition treatment and CAD outcomes.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Study Population

Participants in this analysis were from the Pittsburgh EDC Study, which has previously been described in detail ²³³. In brief, this is a historical prospective longitudinal cohort study of childhood-onset (<17 years of age) T1D, diagnosed between 1950 and 1980 at Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh. There were 658 eligible participants, who were initially examined between 1986 and 1988 (baseline). Subsequent clinical assessments took place biennially for the first 10 years, with further examinations at the 18- and 25-year follow-up visits. Since baseline, self-reported surveys were undertaken biennially to obtain updated information from the participants, including demographic and medical history, reproductive health, healthcare, and life styles. The EDC cohort has been shown to be epidemiologically representative of the T1D population in Allegheny County, Pennsylvania ²³⁴. Of the 658 EDC participants, 605 were free from CAD at the start of the study and were selected for the present analysis. Participants were followed until the first occurrence of CAD, death, or 25th year of the study (2011-2014).

4.2.2 Ascertainment of Cardiovascular Outcomes

CAD was defined as myocardial infarction that was confirmed by Q-waves on an electrocardiogram (Minnesota codes 1.1 or 1.2) or hospital records, angiographic stenosis of \geq 50%, revascularization, EDC physician-diagnosed angina, or ischemic ECG changes (Minnesota codes 1.3, 4.1–4.3, 5.1–5.3, and 7.1).

4.2.3 Medication Use Assessment

Participants self-reported medication use through biennial questionnaires for the entire duration of the EDC Study. Antihypertensive classification was identified using the ATC/DDD index, which comprises RAS inhibitors (ACE inhibitors and/or ARBs), β receptor blockers, calcium channel blockers, diuretics, and other types of antihypertensives. At each follow-up, a dichotomous indicator (yes/no) was created for each antihypertensive class.

4.2.4 Risk Factors Measurement

BP was measured by certified personnel according to the Hypertension Detection and Follow-up Program protocol ²³⁵ in a sitting position using the right arm after a participant had sat quietly for 5 min with an appropriate-sized cuff. The measurement was conducted by a Hawksley random zero sphygmomanometer in the initial 10 years of the study and by aneroid devices in the subsequent follow up visits. An average of the second and third readings was recorded for data analysis. Pulse rate (beats/min) was determined by palpitating the radial pulse for 30s and multiplying by two. BMI was calculated as the weight in kilograms divided by the square of the height in meters. An ever-smoker was determined as someone who had smoked at least 100 cigarettes in his/her lifetime. Hypertension was defined as a SBP \geq 140 mmHg, a DBP \geq 90 mmHg, or the use of BP lowering medications. A high waist-hip ratio (WHR) was defined as WHR >0.1 in men or >0.85 in women. Overt nephropathy was defined as urinary AER > 200 µg/min (300 mg/24h) in at least two of three validated timed urine collections. Onset of end stage renal disease (ESRD) was determined as starting dialysis or undergoing kidney transplantation.

HbA1 was measured by ion-exchange chromatography (Isolab, Akron, OH, USA) for the first 18 months, and the subsequent 10 years by automated high-performance liquid chromatography (Diamat; Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA); the results of the two methods were highly correlated (r = 0.95). For follow-up beyond 10 years, HbA1c was measured with the DCA 2000 analyzer (Bayer, Tarrytown, NY, USA). The DCA and Diamat assays were also highly correlated (r = 0.95). The values were then converted to DCCT - aligned HbA1c using regression equations derived from duplicate assays ²³⁶. Total cholesterol and triglycerides were determined enzymatically ^{237,270}. HDL cholesterol was obtained enzymatically with a precipitation technique (heparin and manganese chloride) using a modified version of the Lipid Research Clinics method ²³⁸. Non-HDL cholesterol was defined as total cholesterol minus HDL cholesterol. An Ectachem 400 Analyzer (Eastman Kodak Co.) was used to measure serum creatinine. The estimated GFR was obtained using the CKD-EPI creatinine equation ²⁷¹. Urinary albumin was measured by immunonephelometry ²³⁹. Urinary AER was calculated for each of the three, timed, urine samples (24-hour, overnight, and 4-hour collections obtained over a two-week period); the median of the three AERs was used in the analyses. There were 615 EDC participants having the haptoglobin genotype tested (haptoglobin 1/1, 2/1 and 2/2). For 486 participants having DNA sample, the haptoglobin was genotyped by an amplification method ^{272,273}; for the other 129 participants without DNA but with stored blood samples available, haptoglobin phenotype was assessed using an Elisa test ²⁷⁴.

4.2.5 Statistical Methods

Both baseline and most recent clinical characteristics of the study participants were examined, by status of incident CAD (cases vs non-cases) and most recent RAS inhibition treatment (users vs

non-users), respectively. Categorical variables were presented as a percentage (number) and continuous variables as a mean (SD) or median (1st and 3rd quantiles), as appropriate. The prevalence rates of antihypertensive use (RAS inhibitors only, other classes only, and both) were calculated by study cycle. The prevalence rates of using RAS inhibitors at each cycle were then calculated for CAD cases and non-cases, respectively. All prevalence rates were estimated according to antihypertensive usage before the first CAD occurrence.

We first analyzed the effect of the most recent RAS inhibition treatment, as a time-invariant variable, on incident CAD. The status of most recent RAS inhibition treatment was determined by the most recent medication usage information prior to the first CAD event occurrence for cases or at the end of the follow up for non-cases. The exposure-outcome association was assessed using an inverse probability treatment weighed (IPTW) Cox proportional hazard model with robust variance. The IPTWs of participants were calculated using the inverse of the estimated probability of receiving RAS inhibition treatment based on a multiple logistic regression model. Specifically, the model included covariates: age, sex, diabetes duration, college education (yes/no), family history of myocardial infarction, haptoglobin genotype (1/1, 2/1 and 2/2), baseline and most recent smoking status, most recent hypertension and renal disease status (overt nephropathy and/or ESRD), most recent WHR, SBP, PP, HbA1c, non-HDL and HDL cholesterol, triglycerides, WBC, GFR, urinary AER and historical use of RAS inhibitors. All covariates in this model were timeinvariant, obtained from the last collection prior to the most recent RAS inhibition treatment. The IPTWs were stabilized by the marginal probability of the most recent use of RAS inhibitors. Of the 605 participants without known CAD at baseline, 565 had the haptoglobin genotype results and thus were included in the analyses of most recent RAS inhibition treatment (CAD events=207).

Mediation analysis using natural effect models 275,276 was subsequently employed to evaluate the mediation effect of BP and urinary albumin on the association of RAS inhibition treatment with CAD outcomes. The total effect was the sum of the direct and indirect effects; the mediated proportion was calculated as the ratio of indirect effect over total effect (mediated proportion = indirect effect / total effect). In this scenario, as the BP and urinary albumin levels were interdependent, the mediation effects of the two factors were tested individually and together. Specifically, SBP and urinary AER were used as mediators to be examined per 10 mmHg and per 1 log-unit (μ g/min) change, respectively. A parametric survival model with a Weibull distribution to the follow-up time was employed during the mediation analysis, adjusting for the full set of covariates, as described above. The CIs of total, direct, and indirect effects were obtained via 5000 bootstrap repetitions. Simplified directed acyclic graph is shown in **Figure 8**.

Additionally, a marginal structural model with robust variance was employed to estimate the long term average effect of time-varying RAS inhibition treatment on CAD outcomes controlling for time-varying confounders ²⁷⁷. The model-based inverse probability of the RAS inhibition treatment and the censoring status of participants were estimated using logistic regression models. Age, sex, diabetes duration, college education (yes/no), family history of myocardial infarction, haptoglobin genotype (1/1, 2/1 and 2/2), time-varying smoking, hypertension, and renal disease status (over nephropathy and/or ESRD), time-varying WHR, SBP, PP, HbA1c, non-HDL and HDL cholesterol, triglycerides, WBC, GFR and urinary AER were included in the models for inverse probability estimation. Weights were stabilized before being applied into the final exposure-outcome model.

Prior to the application of marginal structural models, missing data were handled using multiple imputations by chained equations (MICE) ^{278,279} for all variables that were included in the

analyses. A total of 50 datasets were imputed and analyzed; the results were subsequently pooled using Rubin's combination rules ²⁸⁰.

Of the 605 participants with up to 8 clinic visits (baseline, follow-up year 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 18, and 25), the CAD outcome status was completely documented. There were 11.8%, 21.0%, and 25.3% of missing values for time-varying RAS inhibition treatment status, SBP, and urinary AER, respectively. The WHR had the highest missing rate of 50.0%, as it was not examined in three clinic visits (year 4, 6, and 8). Among the remaining covariates included in the analysis, the missing rates were no higher than 28.1% (WBC).

Two-sided tests were performed with a 5% level of significance. SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute, Carry, NC) and R 3.5.1 (R Core Team, Vienna, Austria) were utilized for statistical analysis.

4.3 Results

The mean age and diabetes duration of the 605 EDC Study participants free of CAD at study entry were 27 and 19 years, respectively; half of the cohort were females. There were 219 (36.2%) participants who experienced at least one CAD event during the follow-up period. Compared to participants without incident CAD, those who developed CAD were more likely to be older and less educated, have a longer duration of diabetes, smoke, take antihypertensive medications, have family history of myocardial infarction, have hypertension and/or renal disease, and have higher BMI, higher levels of BP, non-HDL cholesterol and urinary AER, and lower GFR at baseline (**Table 23**). In the primary analysis of time-varying RAS inhibition effect, participants were censored at their first loss to follow-up, and thus 192 CAD events were included in the final analysis. Sensitivity analysis that included all the CAD events (n=219) were conducted (only
participants who never came back were censored) and the results were similar as in the primary analysis (**Appendix B**).

Of all the participants, 42.3% (256) were most recent users of RAS inhibitors. The most recent participant characteristics are displayed in **Table 24**. Compared to non-users, RAS inhibitor users were less likely to smoke, more likely to be hypertensive and concurrently use other classes of antihypertensive medications and have higher BMI and BP and lower WBC levels.

The overall prevalence rate of antihypertensive use increased with longer follow-up time. RAS inhibitors have become the dominate treatment since the early 1990s (EDC Study cycle 3) (**Figure 9**). When examined retrospectively by CAD event status, cases had a higher prevalence rate of taking RAS inhibitors compared to non-cases over the entire follow up period (**Figure 10**).

In the weighted Cox model, most recent RAS inhibition treatment was associated with a 20% lower risk for incident CAD events compared to being untreated, though the results were not statistically significant (HR [95%CI]: 0.80 [0.54, 1.18]). Most recent use of β receptor blockers (HR [95%CI]: 0.92 [0.47, 1.79]) and calcium channel blockers (HR [95%CI]: 1.07 [0.63, 1.84]) did not show a clear protective effect on CAD outcomes (Figure 11).

In the mediation analysis (**Table 25**), an increase of 10 mmHg in SBP and 1 log-unit (μ g/min) in urinary AER explained 45% of the beneficial effect of RAS inhibition on CAD outcomes. Using the parametric survival model, the estimated total effect of RAS inhibition treatment was associated with a reduction in CAD events of 17% (HR [95%CI]: 0.83 [0.73, 0.96]). Of the total 17% risk reduction, 8% was mediated by BP and urinary albumin (HR [95%CI]: 0.92 [0.75, 1.07]); while the direct effect reduced the risk by a further 9% (HR [95%CI]: 0.91 [0.79, 1.05]). When SBP (per 10 mmHg) and urinary AER (per 1 log-unit [μ g/min]) were individually

tested, the mediation proportion of the total effect attributable to each factor was 38.2% and 21.9%, respectively.

Finally, in the analysis of time-varying RAS inhibition treatment, using marginal structural modelling (**Figure 12**), the average effect of RAS inhibition decreased the CAD risk by 53% over the follow up period, again non-significantly (HR [95%CI]: 0.47 [0.15, 1.44]). Using the same analytical strategies, treatment with β receptor blockers (HR [95%CI]: 0.96 [0.20, 4.69]) or calcium channel blockers (HR [95%CI]: 1.16 [0.34, 3.99]) did not show an attenuation in CAD risk.

Sensitivity analyses with different model specifications were conducted and the results were presented in the Appendix B (Table 30 and Table 31).

4.4 Discussion

We used an observational study cohort of individuals with long standing T1D to evaluate the effect of RAS inhibition treatment on CAD outcomes. The IPTW-based modeling with robust variance was employed to reduce confounding in the association between treatment initiation and clinical outcomes. A trend indicating that RAS inhibition was associated with a clinically meaningful risk reduction for adverse cardiovascular outcomes was observed in the current analysis. A mediation analysis also showed that BP and albuminuria explained half of the association between RAS inhibitors and CAD events. These results suggest that RAS inhibition treatment may protect against adverse cardiovascular outcomes in individuals with T1D, although the association did not reach statistical significance.

RAS inhibitors have been demonstrated to reduce urinary albumin in addition to BP regulation ^{201,205–209}. Both high BP and albuminuria are independent risk factors of cardiovascular disease in the T1D population ¹⁵¹, and hence a major benefit of RAS inhibition would be anticipated. This large anticipated effect was not seen in the current analyses, though the results are consistent with a small effect. The CACTI study ²²² reported a significant interaction effect between RAS inhibition treatment (ACE inhibitors and/or ARBs) and albuminuria on coronary artery calcification progression, showing that the positive association of albuminuria with coronary artery calcification progression was repressed by RAS inhibition treatment. This suggests that the cardiovascular protective value of RAS inhibitors is partially mediated by proteinuria reduction. In addition, a recent report from the DCCT/EDIC study, which exclusively examined many cardiovascular risk factors in their long-term follow up of this T1D cohort, showed the most recent RAS inhibition treatment was associated with a decreased risk of major atherosclerosis cardiovascular events ¹⁵⁰. It should be noted, however, that these prior studies were not primarily aimed to examine the effect of RAS inhibition treatment. Moreover, only standard modeling methods were employed without addressing confounding by indication between those who were treated and untreated in the statistical analysis.

Our study is consistent with results obtained from prior studies ^{150,222}, and extends them by investigating the effect of RAS inhibition treatment on cardiovascular outcomes using IPTWbased modeling, a widely accepted statistical method used with observational data to better allow a causal interpretation of the exposure-outcome associations ²⁸¹. Moreover, the present analysis is unique for evaluating not only the most recent but also the long-term treatment effect of RAS inhibition over 25 years of follow up. We found the magnitude of risk reduction was greater in the evaluation of long-term RAS inhibition than it was in the analysis of most recent RAS inhibitor use (CAD risk reduced by 29% vs 18%), suggesting that the cumulative beneficial impact on cardiovascular endpoints for continuing RAS inhibition in T1D individuals may increase with longer term treatment.

Although the point estimates derived from the present analyses consistently suggest a decreased cardiovascular risk for RAS inhibition treatment in this study, the wide CIs when using the robust variance for CI estimation, prohibit significant conclusions. In the analysis of the association between most recent RAS inhibition treatment and CAD outcomes, the 95% CI were close to borderline by using IPTW and robust variance estimation and became narrower and reached statistical significance when using the G-computation based method with a parametric survival model and bootstrap variance estimation (the total effect in the mediation analysis as shown in Table 25). The discrepancy of the two CIs as well as the slightly different point estimates may be explained by the two fundamentally different methods, the inverse probability based, and G-computation based methods. A much wider 95% CI, crossing over 1, was obtained from the test of the average effect of time-varying RAS inhibition on outcome events using the marginal structural model, and the bootstrap variance estimation did not show improvement (data not shown). The relatively small sample size, particularly when using time-varying predictors with multiple time points of measurement, resulted in an underpowered analysis and thus wide CIs. Furthermore, multiple imputations were employed to handle the missing data prior to the marginal structural modeling, and this may have increased the variability of the data. Consequently, these findings need to be confirmed in future studies with a larger sample size.

We are unable to conclude that RAS inhibition treatment has a causal effect on cardiovascular outcomes through the present study; however, we believe that our results, taken together with others ^{150,222}, are encouraging and have important clinical implications, highlighting

the potential cardiovascular benefits of long-term RAS inhibition treatment in this high risk population. These findings support the need for interventional clinical trials to test the effect of the targeted-organ protection of RAS inhibition treatment in T1D.

One of the unique aspects of the present study is that we present a causal mediation analysis, which suggests that RAS inhibition treatment associated with decreased cardiovascular risk was only partially achieved through the pathways of lowering BP and urinary albumin excretion. This supports the hypothesis that RAS inhibition provides additional cardiovascular benefit beyond BP regulation and albumin excretion reduction. As stated above, a prior report from the CACTI study suggested the cardiovascular protective effect of RAS inhibitors was attained by reducing albuminuria ²²², results which we have confirmed in this analysis by utilizing a formal mediation analysis. Indeed, animal evidence support that, in addition to BP regulation, RAS is involved in the pathophysiological pathways of oxidative stress, chronic inflammation, and fibroblast activation, leading to fibrosis, remodeling and then end-organ damage ²¹⁶. Furthermore, a reinforcing feedback cycle between RAS and hyperglycemia has been previously proposed based on animal studies ²⁸²: the activation of RAS contributes to insulin resistance and altered glucose homeostasis, leading to hyperglycemia which further increases angiotensin II synthesis. Collectively, we think the present results are plausible and intriguing, indicating that RAS inhibition treatment might be superior to other classes of antihypertensives for targeted-organ protection, particularly in T1D individuals who are usually chronically exposed to hyperglycemia since the very early phase of life.

In addition to RAS inhibitors, we also tested the effects of β blockers and calcium channel blockers on CAD outcomes and did not observe a cardiovascular protective effect of these two antihypertensive classes in this cohort, which is in line with previous T1D studies ^{150,221}. Only a small proportion of participants received non-RAS inhibition antihypertensive treatment alone in this cohort, which limits our ability to conduct a head-to-head comparison. However, these results suggest that RAS inhibition treatment might be superior to other classes of antihypertensive medications (β blockers and calcium channel blockers) for cardiovascular protection.

The observed treatment rates of antihypertensive medications progressively increased with longer follow up, which can be explained by increasing age and the disease course of diabetes over time. RAS inhibitors have been the dominant antihypertensive treatment since the early 1990s in this T1D population, which is consistent with the trial-based evidence supporting an albuminuria reduction effect of RAS inhibition over the last two decades. It is not surprising that the CAD cases had a higher treatment rate with RAS inhibitors as compared with non-cases even before the occurrence of CAD events, reflecting a confounding by indication bias. This emphasizes the importance of using appropriate statistical methods, as in the current analyses, to address the confounding effect between initiation of treatment and the risk of clinical outcomes, to draw valid statistical inferences.

This study was conducted within a well-characterized, epidemiologically representative, and long-term follow-up cohort of childhood-onset T1D. The analysis has focused on the association of RAS inhibition treatment with CAD outcomes in individuals who have lived with T1D since childhood. Being a longitudinal cohort with multiple follow-ups, the EDC Study has offered the opportunity to evaluate the long term effect of RAS inhibition treatment in this patient population. Appropriate statistical methods (i.e., IPTW and marginal structural modeling) were utilized to minimize the effect of differences between treated and untreated participants to obtain a causal interpretation of the findings. Moreover, the study is unique by conducting a causal mediation analysis to estimate the direct effect of RAS inhibition on cardiovascular outcomes in addition to the indirect effect that was mediated by BP and albuminuria.

Several limitations of the present study should also be noted. Due to the observational nature of the study and the presence of unmeasured confounding, we are unable to definitively conclude that there is a causal effect of RAS inhibition treatment on CAD outcomes. The application of the IPTW approach should, however, have partially accounted for differences between participants who were treated and untreated with RAS inhibitors. The study is likely to be underpowered because of a relatively small sample size leading to wide confidence intervals. Lastly, the interpretation of the mediation analysis results warrants caution in a time-to-event study design, as the mediator effect might be underestimated as the occurrence of the event has a truncation effect on the mediator process ²⁸³.

4.5 Conclusion

RAS inhibition treatment was not statistically associated with CAD benefit in current IPTW based analyses, however, it tended to be associated with a decreased risk of CAD in individuals with long-standing T1D, and the beneficial effect appeared to be increased with longer term treatment. It was also evident that the cardiovascular protective effect of RAS inhibitors was only partially explained by lowering BP and albumin excretion, indicating that RAS inhibition may provide cardiovascular benefits beyond BP regulation and albuminuria reduction. Our study suggests that clinical trials of RAS inhibition treatment on clinical complication outcomes in the T1D population may be warranted.

4.6 Tables and Figures

Table 23 Baseline Characteristics of Participants by RAS Inhibitor Use Status

Baseline characteristics	Total	Most recent use of RAS inhibitors		Incident CAD		
	N-605	No	Yes	Non-cases	Cases	
	N=003	(n=349)	(n=256)	(n=386)	(n=219)	
Age, years	27.2 (7.7)	27.2 (8.0)	27.2 (7.4)	24.8 (7.2)	31.3 (6.8) **	
Age at diabetes onset, years	8.2 (4.1)	8.3 (4.0)	8.1 (4.1)	8.1 (4.2)	8.3 (3.8)	
Diabetes duration, year	19.0 (7.4)	18.9 (7.6)	19.1 (7.2)	16.7 (6.6)	23.0 (7.1) **	
Female, %(n)	49.8 (301)	50.4 (176)	48.8 (125)	51.0 (197)	47.5 (104)	
College education, %(n)	42.6 (258)	41.8 (146)	43.8 (112)	47.7 (184)	33.8 (74) **	
Family history of MI, %(n)	41.3 (248)	40.3 (139)	42.8 (109)	32.6 (124)	56.6 (124) **	
Haptoglobin 1/1	11.5 (65)	10.6 (35)	12.8 (30)	12.3 (44)	10.1 (21)	
Haptoglobin 2/1	46.0 (260)	43.6 (144)	49.4 (116)	47.2 (169)	44.0 (91)	
Haptoglobin 2/2	42.5 (240)	45.8 (151)	37.9 (89)	40.5 (145)	45.9 (95)	
Ever smoker, %(n)	37.2 (225)	40.7 (142)	32.4 (83) *	30.3 (117)	49.3 (108) **	
BMI, kg/m ²	23.5 (3.2)	23.4 (3.3)	23.7 (3.1)	23.2 (3.2)	24.0 (3.2) **	
High WHR ^a , %(n)	4.8 (29)	4.1 (14)	5.9 (15)	5.2 (20)	4.2 (9)	
Hypertension, %(n)	14.4 (87)	11.5 (40)	18.4 (47) *	7.8 (30)	26.0 (57) **	
SBP, mmHg	112.9 (14.7)	111.5 (14.0)	114.7 (15.6) **	109.9 (12.3)	118.1 (17.1) **	
DBP, mmHg	72.5 (10.8)	71.6 (11.3)	73.7 (10.2) *	70.8 (9.8)	75.5 (12.0) **	
PP, mmHg	40.4 (10.3)	39.9 (9.2)	41.0 (11.5)	39.1 (9.6)	42.7 (10.7) **	
HbA1c, %	8.8 (1.5)	8.8 (1.5)	8.7 (1.5)	8.8 (1.5)	8.7 (1.5)	
Non-HDLc, mg/dL	135.7 (41.7)	135.9 (43.0)	135.5 (39.8)	127.6 (38.8)	149.9 (42.9) **	
HDLc in men, mg/dL	49.5 (9.8)	48.8 (9.5)	50.4 (10.1)	50.8 (10.0)	47.3 (9.0) **	

Table 23 Continued

HDLc in women, mg/dL	58.4 (12.9)	57.1 (12.2)	60.4 (13.6) *	58.9 (13.0)	57.5 (12.5)
Triglycerides, mg/dL	82 (60, 121)	83 (62, 126)	80 (58, 118)	76 (57, 108)	93 (70, 141) **
WBC, x1000/m ³	6.6 (1.9)	6.7 (1.9)	6.4 (1.9) *	6.4 (1.8)	6.9 (2.0) **
GFR, mL/min per 1.73 m ²	103.8 (30.8)	103.3 (32.4)	104.5 (28.4)	108.3 (30.1)	95.9 (30.4) **
AER, μg/min	14 (7, 102)	15 (7, 115)	14 (8, 97)	11 (7, 42)	39 (9, 470) **
Over nephropathy/ESRD, %(n)	22.6 (137)	23. 5 (82)	21.5 (55)	14.5 (56)	37.0 (81) **
Antihypertensive use, %(n)	13.3 (78)	11.8 (40)	15.4 (38)	7.6 (28)	23.0 (50) **
RAS inhibitors,	2.9 (17)	0.6 (2)	6.1 (15) **	1.6 (6)	5.1 (11) *
β blockers, %(n)	3.3 (19)	3.9 (13)	2.5 (6)	2.2 (8)	5.1 (11)
Calcium channel blockers, %(n)	0.3 (2)	0.3 (1)	0.4 (1)	0.6 (2)	0 (0)

Categorical variables were presented as percentage (number) and continuous variables as mean (SD) or median (1st and 3rd quantile)

^a High WHR defined as >1.0 if men or > 0.85 if women

*p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01 between comparisons

AER: urinary albumin excretion rate, BMI: body mass index, BP: blood pressure, CAD: coronary artery disease, DBP: diastolic blood pressure, ESRD: end stage renal disease, HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c, HDL: high density lipoprotein, PP: pulse pressure, RAS: renin angiotensin system; SBP: systolic blood pressure, SD: standard deviation, WBC, white blood cell count, WHR: waist-hip ratio

Most recent collection	Total	Most recent use	of RAS inhibitors	Incide	Incident CAD		
	N=605	No (n=349)	Yes (n=256)	Non-cases (n=386)	Cases (n=219)		
Follow-up time, years	17.8 (8.0)	16.0 (8.5)	20.3 (6.5) **	20.8 (6.7)	12.5 (7.3) **		
Age, years	43.9 (8.6)	42.2 (8.7)	46.2 (8.0) **	45.4 (8.7)	41.2 (7.8) **		
Current smoker, %(n)	17.7 (107)	20.9 (73)	13.3 (34) *	13.2 (51)	25.6 (56) **		
BMI, kg/m ²	26.1 (4.5)	25.4 (4.3)	26.9 (4.7) **	26.5 (4.7)	25.3 (4.2) **		
High WHR ^a , %(n)	17.9 (108)	16.1 (56)	20.3 (52)	20.1 (77)	14.2 (31)		
Hypertension, %(n)	44.0 (266)	31.0 (108)	61.7 (158) **	42.2 (163)	47.0 (103)		
SBP, mmHg	117.9 (17.1)	115.8 (15.5)	120.7 (18.7) **	115.4 (15.7)	122.2 (18.5) **		
DBP, mmHg	71.2 (11.6)	70.8 (11.7)	71.8 (11.4)	70.0 (10.7)	73.4 (12.7) **		
PP, mmHg	46.6 (14.4)	45.0 (13.1)	48.9 (15.8) **	45.4 (13.4)	48.8 (15.8) **		
HbA1c, %	8.7 (1.8)	8.7 (1.8)	8.6 (1.8)	8.4 (1.8)	9.0 (1.6) **		
Non-HDLc, mg/dL	136.3 (42.2)	138.7 (43.5)	133.0 (40.2)	129.0 (41.5)	149.1 (40.5) **		
HDLc in male, mg/dL	49.3 (11.4)	49.1 (11.7)	49.7 (12.3)	51.0 (11.7)	46.6 (10.4) **		
HDLc in female, mg/dL	61.1 (15.4)	59.8 (14.5)	63.0 (16.5)	61.5 (15.5)	60.4 (15.3)		
Triglycerides, mg/dL	84 (61, 123)	88 (61, 134)	82 (57, 117)	78 (55, 113)	100 (71, 152) **		
WBC, x1000/m ³	7.1 (2.2)	7.3 (2.2)	6.8 (2.0) **	6.8 (2.0)	7.5 (2.3, 5.9) **		
GFR, mL/min per 1.73 m ²	90.0 (30.6)	90.5 (31.2)	89.3 (29.7)	92.4 (29.2)	85.6 (32.4) *		
AER, μg/min	15 (6, 158)	13 (6, 144)	20 (6, 191)	10 (5, 60)	64 (11, 489) **		
Over nephropathy/ESRD, %(n)	35.4 (198)	33.4 (109)	38.2 (89)	27.9 (97)	47.9 (101) **		
Concurrent use of β blockers, %(n)	11.2 (68)	8.9 (31)	14.5 (37) *	11.1 (43)	11.4 (25)		
Concurrent use of calcium channel blockers, %(n)	12.2 (74)	10.6 (37)	14.5 (37)	12.4 (48)	11.9 (26)		
Concurrent use of any antihypertensive class other than RAS inhibitors, %(n)	29.6 (179)	22.6 (79)	39.1 (100) **	28.0 (108)	32.4 (71)		

Table 24 Most Recent Characteristics of Participants

Categorical variables were presented as percentage (number) and continuous variables as mean (SD) or median (1st and 3rd quantile)

^a High WHR defined as >1.0 if men or > 0.85 if women

*p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01 between comparisons

AER: urinary albumin excretion rate, BMI: body mass index, BP: blood pressure, CAD: coronary artery disease, DBP: diastolic blood pressure, ESRD: end stage renal disease, HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c, HDL: high density lipoprotein, PP: pulse pressure, RAS: renin angiotensin system; SBP: systolic blood pressure, SD: standard deviation, WBC, white blood cell count, WHR: waist-hip ratio

RAS inhibition effect	Total	Direct	Indirect				
Mediated by SBP (per 10 mmHg) and urinary AER (per 1 log[AER])							
HR (95%CI)	0.83 (0.73, 0.96)	0.92 (0.79, 1.05)	0.91 (0.75, 1.07)				
Mediation proportion	100%	55.2%	44.8%				
Mediated by SBP (per 10 mmHg)							
HR (95%CI)	0.83 (0.73, 0.96)	0.90 (0.79, 1.02)	0.94 (0.76, 1.11)				
Mediation proportion (%)	100%	61.8%	38.2%				
Mediated by AER (per 1 log [AER])							
HR (95%CI)	0.83 (0.73, 0.96)	0.88(0.77, 1.00)	0.95 (0.79 1.14)				
Mediation proportion (%)	100%	70.5%	29.5%				

Table 25 Mediation Effect of BP and Albuminuria on the Association of Most Recent RAS Inhibition with CAD

CAD: coronary artery disease, CI: confidence interval, HR: Hazard ratio, RAS: renin-angiotensin system, SBP: systolic blood pressure

The CIs were obtained using 5000 bootstraps



Figure 8 Simplified Directed Acyclic Graph to Illustrate the Association of RAS Inhibitors with CAD

CAD: coronary artery disease, RAS: renin-angiotensin system



Figure 9 Prevalence of Antihypertensive Use over the Fullow-Up

CAD: coronary artery disease, RASI: renin-angiotensin system inhibitors

C1: 1986-1988, C2: 1988-1990, C3: 1990-1992, C4: 1992-1994, C5: 1994-1996, C6: 1996-1998, C7: 1998-2000, C8/9: 2000-2004, C10: 2004-2006, C11: 2006-2008, C12: 2008-2010, C13: 2010-2012, C14: 2012-2014



CAD: coronary artery disease, RASI: renin-angiotensin system inhibitors

C1: 1986-1988, C2: 1988-1990, C3: 1990-1992, C4: 1992-1994, C5: 1994-1996, C6: 1996-1998, C7: 1998-2000, C8/9: 2000-2004, C10: 2004-2006, C11: 2006-2008, C12: 2008-2010, C13: 2010-2012, C14: 2012-2014



Figure 11 The Effect of Most Recent RAS Inhibition Treatment on CAD

CAD: coronary artery disease, CI: confidence interval, HR: hazard ratio, RAS: renin-angiotensin system



Figure 12 The Average Effect of Time-varying RAS Inhibition Treatment on CAD

CAD: coronary artery disease, CI: confidence interval, HR: hazard ratio, RAS: renin-angiotensin system

5.0 Contextual Discussion of Research Findings

5.1 Introduction

The findings of this dissertation reflect a comprehensive examination of risk prediction and control of BP on cardiovascular complication outcomes in T1D. Our first objective was to assess the comparative predictive utilities of different BP indices (SBP, DBP, PP, MAP, and MidBP) on CAD outcomes. We have demonstrated that all five BP indices are independent predictors of incident CAD in the EDC Study cohort of T1D with a long term follow up and diabetes duration. Although PP is less effective for cardiovascular risk prediction in the entire cohort, its prognostic significance improves and becomes comparable to SBP in age 35 years and older and/or with poor glycemic control. This likely reflects an early onset of glycation-included vascular stiffening in T1D.

Our second objective was to determine optimal BP targets that were associated with minimal cardiovascular risk among young adults with T1D, in an effort to provide evidence for developing BP management recommendations for this high-risk population. Notably, there is absence of high-quality data to guide BP goals in T1D. Using time-weighted variables that reflect a long-term exposure to high BP from youth throughout midlife, we have found dose-gradient associations of SBP, DBP and MAP with CAD outcomes, beginning at approximately 120, 80 and 90 mmHg, respectively. Furthermore, our data have shown BP may play an even more important role for cardiovascular risk prediction in those T1D individuals with lower glycaemia exposure. This suggests a lower BP goal (i.e., 120/80mmHg) may be needed than currently recommended (140/90mmHg) for young T1D adults.

Our third objective was to examine the effect of RAS inhibition treatment (ACE inhibitors and/or ARBs) on long term CAD outcomes in T1D. To obtain a causal interpretation of the exposure-outcome association in an observational study, appropriate statistical methods (propensity score based IPTW, marginal structural model, and causal mediation analysis) have been utilized under a causal-inference framework. In this analysis, RAS inhibitors, but not β blockers or calcium channel blockers, tended to reduce the CAD risk in T1D, though the results did not reach statistical significance. Any beneficial effect of RAS inhibition appeared to increase with longer term treatment. Mediation analysis indicated the cardiovascular protective effect of RAS inhibitors is partially achieved through pathways beyond lowering BP and urinary albumin, the two prominent effects of this class of antihypertensive therapy. These findings indicate that long term RAS inhibition treatment may offer superior cardioprotection for individuals with long standing T1D.

5.2 Major Findings

5.2.1 Predictive Utilities of Different BP Components

SBP is recognized as the primary predictor of cardiovascular risk, which has been supported by studies in both the general population ^{248,284,285} and the type 2 diabetes population ²³¹. The present study extends previous work to the T1D population and confirms that, among five BP indices (SBP, DBP, PP, MAP and MidBP), SBP is a preferred predictor of cardiovascular risk in this patient population. A recent position paper by the ADA ²⁵⁴ indicated that DBP might be a strong determinant of cardiovascular disease in adults less than 50 years, according to the findings in the

general population from the Framingham heart study⁸⁹. However, in the ADA paper, there was an absence of prior evidence regarding the T1D population. Our study fills this gap in the research by providing evidence derived from a group of young T1D individuals with a mean baseline age of 27 years. SBP is shown to be a strong determinant relative to other BP measures in our analyses of the entire study cohort, i.e., only SBP was retained in the final model among all five BP indices with LASSO modelling for risk factor selection. In addition, we observed an early decrease in DBP beginning in the late 30s, which further supports SBP, in relation to DBP, as a preferred predictor of cardiovascular risk in T1D individuals even in their early adulthood. Furthermore, the reliability of DBP appears to be inferior to SBP with regard to measurement ⁸⁷. It's been controversial as to whether DBP should be determined by the fourth or fifth Korotkoff sound, although the current guidelines support the fifth phase. In addition, there are situations in which the fifth Korotkoff cannot reliably be determined for identifying the DBP, i.e., in pregnant women and children ⁸⁷. Taken together, we consider SBP to be a primary predictor for cardiovascular risk in T1D, relative to DBP, MAP, MidBP and PP.

5.2.2 Temporal Change in BP Reflects Accelerated Vascular Aging in T1D

As a sign of vascular aging, arterial stiffness contributes to an increase in SBP and a decrease in DBP in older individuals, resulting in an increase in PP ^{90,286}. In the general population, age-related impaired vascular compliance, as indicated by lowering DBP ⁸⁹ along with widening PP ⁸⁹, was observed by age 50 and 60 years and was found to increase cardiovascular risk ^{225,287}. However, the temporal change in BP in the aging process has not been well described in people with long lasting T1D. In this work, we have characterized temporal changes in different BP components from young adulthood throughout middle-age in a cohort of individuals who was living with the

T1D since their childhood. SBP progressively increases according with age. Moreover, there is an early decrease in DBP beginning in the late 30s and early 40s, leading to an early rise in PP. When examined retrospectively by incident CAD status, CAD cases experience not only a higher SBP across all ages but also a decline in DBP 10 years earlier than seen in the non-cases.

In sum, these findings are an important contribution to our in-depth understanding of the magnitude of the accelerated vascular aging process and its impact on cardiovascular outcomes in people with long-standing T1D. Our results suggest that the vascular aging process in this group of T1D individuals is accelerated by 20-30 years compared to the general population in whom DBP decreases and PP rises beginning in the fifth and sixth decades ⁸⁹. More importantly, this accelerated vascular aging is shown to be related to adverse cardiovascular outcomes in this high-risk population. We believe these findings partially explain the substantially high risk of premature cardiovascular events in the T1D population as early as in their 30s and 40s ⁶².

We subsequently found that PP is a strong determinant of CAD outcomes particularly in people aged 35 years and older and/or in those who have poor glycaemia control. This finding further supports that premature vascular aging is a risk factor of CAD in T1D individuals, beginning in the third or fourth decade of life. Our results are consistent with previous mechanistic studies, suggesting the pathogenesis of premature stiffening in vessel walls in diabetes has been related to the extra exposure to glycation ^{250,251}. These results also support the DCCT's findings that CAD risk can be reduced by intensive glycemic control in T1D ²⁵⁶. Although the tests of model fit improvement were not statistically significant with combined SBP and PP versus a single SBP measure in this cohort, the collective findings implicate PP as a useful marker for vascular aging and cardiovascular risk in T1D individuals aged 35 years and older, especially considering its ease of measurement in clinical settings.

5.2.3 High BP is a Important Risk Factor

In line with previous studies on T1D $^{147-150}$, we have demonstrated that high BP plays an important role in the development of CAD in this patient population. These results are highly consistent in examining different BP variables, such as single time-point baseline values, time-weighted values, and cumulative exposures calculated in mmHg-years. Our results have indicated the inadequacy of BP control in real-world clinical settings in the modern T1D population. Indeed, a previous EDC report ¹¹⁸ has examined the change of predictors of major complication outcomes in two subcohorts of the study separated by 10 years (diabetes diagnosed in 1960-1969 and 1970-1979, respectively) but otherwise comparable in terms of age and diabetes duration. The study demonstrated that hyperglycemia, high cholesterol and smoking were significant predictors only in the earlier diagnosed subcohort but not in the later diagnosed one. Only hypertension was consistently shown to be a strong predictor in both subcohorts, suggesting it remains a poorly treated risk factor in the contemporary T1D population. Interestingly, another recent EDC report ²⁸⁸ looked at the achievement of concurrent ADA recommendations of different cardiovascular risk factors, and showed that attainment rate of BP goals remained high throughout the EDC follow-up (89.7% at baseline and 87.4% at 25-year follow-up). Taking together, it seems that T1D individuals have experienced a good compliance regarding BP control according to concurrent guidelines; meanwhile, studies consistently demonstrated that high BP remains a major cardiovascular risk factor in same cohort. This apparent paradox leads us to believe that the currently recommended BP goals may not be low enough to minimize cardiovascular risk in young adults with T1D. High BP is modifiable, and it is relatively easy and economical to manage. It is thus upsetting that it has remained a poorly treated risk factor for adverse health outcomes in this high-risk population.

Our results regarding the interaction between BP and HbA1c are also intriguing and clinically meaningful. We have found that high BP is a more powerful predictor of CAD outcomes in participants with lower glycaemia exposure than in those with higher glycaemia exposure. These results might partially explain the remaining increased cardiovascular risk in T1D individuals, even in those with effective glycemic control ²⁶⁷. These findings also indicate the importance of BP control in so-called "lower risk" groups, such as individuals with good glycaemia control. An initial focus on glycemia control is necessary when very high, but as HbA1c approached the high normal range, an increasing focus on BP becomes critical.

5.2.4 A Lower BP Goal than Currently Recommended is Needed in T1D

The current ADA recommendation of BP target 140/90 mmHg ^{254,257} is based on trial results derived exclusively from type 2 diabetes patients in middle age and older ¹⁵⁴. Although a tighter BP control may be considered for younger adults with T1D according to the recommendations, there has been an absence of clinical trial-based evidence in guiding BP targets in younger T1D individuals. Because diabetes onset is earlier in people with T1D than in those with type 2 diabetes, the disease has a significantly larger impact on life expectancy and cardiovascular risk in the former population ^{56,147}. Therefore, we believe the evidence based on the general population or type 2 diabetes population should not be simply extrapolated to young T1D adults. One of the major findings in this work is that SBP and DBP, approximately starting at 120 and 80 mmHg, respectively, are associated with a substantially increased risk of CAD outcomes. The cardiovascular risk was doubled in participants with BP \geq 120/80 mmHg compared with those < 120/80 mmHg, even in the fully adjusted models. In an exploratory, sensitivity, analysis of those who reported having "never" or "ever" taken antihypertensive medications, a BP \geq 120/80 mmHg,

vs < 120/80 mmHg, was consistently and significantly associated with an increased risk of CAD. These findings suggest inadequate BP management in both untreated and treated T1D individuals in whom CAD risk might have been reduced if they had been adequately treated.

Combined, our results suggest that the currently recommended BP target of 140/90 mmHg may be too high for maximal cardiovascular protection in the young to middle-aged T1D population. Instead, our findings suggest that a BP management goal of <120/80 mmHg may be associated with minimal CAD risk. Because of the lack of interventional randomized trials with clinical outcomes in BP management goals in T1D, observational evidence from an epidemiological representative and well-characterized T1D cohort, such as the EDC Study, could be important and helpful for clinical recommendation development. If BP trials are not going to be conducted in this high-risk population, it would seem reasonable to strengthen the ADA recommendations to embrace a lower goal of 120/80 mmHg for young and middle-aged adults with T1D.

5.2.5 RAS Inhibition Offers Direct Cardioprotection

In the last part of our work, we conducted an exploratory analysis to evaluate the effect of RAS inhibition treatment (ACE inhibitors and/or ARBs) on CAD outcomes in T1D. A trend indicating that RAS inhibition is associated with a clinically meaningful risk reduction for adverse cardiovascular outcomes was observed in the current analysis, and the RAS inhibitors offer direct cardioprotection beyond the recognized pathways of BP control and albuminuria reduction. Although the main results are not statistically significant, and we are unable to definitively conclude that there is a causal effect of RAS inhibition treatment on CAD outcomes, we do think

these findings have clinical relevance, in that they shed light on RAS inhibitors as a potential prioritized choice of antihypertensive therapy in T1D individuals.

According to a meta-analysis of the data collected in 19 randomized trials in the diabetes population, RAS inhibition treatment (ACE inhibitors and/or ARBs), in the absence of albuminuria, was not found to afford superior cardioprotection compared to other antihypertensive agents ²¹⁷. Notably, all these trials enrolled only type 2 diabetes participants. Thus, the evidence may not be generalizable to younger TD1 individuals. It is disappointing that the Adolescent T1D Cardio-Renal Intervention Trial (AdDIT) did not show a reduction in urinary albumin in T1D adolescents ²⁸⁹. In addition, in the AdDIT trial, ACE inhibitors did not significantly lower SBP z scores, and also failed to show significant effects on subclinical cardiovascular markers, i.e., carotid intima-media thickness and asymmetric dimethylarginine. However, we could not use these results to indicate the long-term effect of RAS inhibition treatment on clinical outcomes of targeted organs in this patient population.

By developing a causal inference framework and utilizing appropriate statistical methods to address confounding by indication between those who were treated and untreated, we have investigated the likelihood of a casual association of RAS inhibition treatment with CAD outcome and the two potential pathways to link the exposure and outcome. Although this part of our work has not been fully explored at this stage (alternate outcome evaluation, e.g., major atherosclerotic cardiovascular events [MACE]), we hope the applications of causal inference and the implications of the results will eventually be informative in developing clinical guidelines for this high-risk population. Because of the high costs and practical difficulties of conducting a randomized trial in a rare disease population for examining chronic outcomes, studies such as ours could be valuable and helpful to provide information in guiding clinical practice.

5.3 Strengths

The present study was conducted using existing data from the Pittsburgh EDC Study of childhoodonset T1D. The EDC Study is based on a well-characterized prospective longitudinal observational cohort with good representativeness of the T1D population in Allegheny County, Pennsylvania ²³⁴. BP measurement was conducted by trained and certified research staff, strictly following the Hypertension Detection and Follow-up program Protocol ²³⁵. Diabetes complications were assessed biennially; more than 150 risk markers were assayed at various time points over the follow-up period. Overall, the EDC cohort has been an extremely valuable source of research on T1D complications. In particular, the long-term follow-up of the study with multiple surveys and exams has allowed us to evaluate the risk of long-term exposure to high BP as well as the longterm effects of RAS inhibition treatment on the CAD outcomes. In addition, no previous study, to our best knowledge, has conducted a similar comprehensive evaluation of BP with adverse cardiovascular outcomes in a T1D cohort, including the predictive utilities of different BP measures, optimal BP thresholds associated with minimal cardiovascular risk, as well as how BP, as a cardiovascular risk factor, interacts with hyperglycemia. Because of the absence of trial-based evidence, the above information has major clinical implications for BP management in this highrisk population. Propensity score method has been employed in examining the effect of RAS inhibition treatment on CAD outcomes, which allows the study to achieve some of the characteristics of randomized clinical trials by minimizing the effect of differences between treated and untreated participants. This method has controlled for the measured confounding factors. It is important to note that, however, unlike randomized trials, propensity score analyses have the limitation that remaining unmeasured confounding factors may still be present.

5.4 Limitations

The present work has several limitations. Since participants in the EDC Study cohort were mainly Caucasian, the results may not be generalizable to other races and ethnicities. Due to the observational nature of the study and the presence of unmeasured confounding, we are unable to definitively conclude that there is a causal effect of RAS inhibition treatment on CAD outcomes. However, we think this association is likely to be causal in examining causality by using the Bradford Hill criteria ²⁹⁰. The association of RAS inhibition treatment with CAD outcomes has met six of the nine Hill's criteria, including consistency (results were in line with previous studies ^{150,222}), specificity (studied in T1D population), temporality (RAS inhibition treatment information was collected prior to the event occurrence), dose-gradient (the effect size was increased with longer term therapy), biological plausibility and coherence (animal studies support the direct cardioprotection of RAS inhibition beyond lowering BP ²¹⁶). Moreover, being observational, we could not evaluate the risk benefit ratio of the lower BP targets, medication use, and adverse side effects. Some of the analyses (i.e., marginal structural models) are likely to be underpowered because of a relatively small sample size leading to wide confidence intervals. Although the EDC Study has been followed over 25 years, the cohort is still relatively young. We, therefore, have limited power to examine specific cardiovascular outcomes at this point in time, such as stroke, cardiovascular mortality, myocardial infarction, and "softer" outcomes (e.g., angina or coronary stenosis >50%). However, we have used a rigorous assessment of CAD events and have previously demonstrated that this is a valid outcome for evaluation of risk prediction models ¹⁴⁷.

5.5 Future Research

Several research questions still remain to be answered with regard to BP management in the T1D population. Hypertension begins to affect T1D individuals at a young age ^{125,126}. However, very few previous studies reported the ways in which BP from youth throughout young adulthood is related to complication outcomes in this population. In future research, we intend to evaluate the trajectories and the magnitude of risk of elevated BP for complication outcomes in a subgroup of the EDC cohort with a baseline age < 27 years. This is a comparable age group to the Life For A Child (LFAC) program, a global health program which has been focusing on helping T1D children in resource-limited countries. This younger group tends to have a shorter diabetes duration at baseline, which offers us the opportunity to study individuals from an early phase of diabetes. It is also of greater direct relevance to the youth onset nature of the EDC cohort as baseline measures are available at a young age. The current series of studies has focused on a composite CAD outcome of soft and hard events. An outcome of MACE, which has been a standard endpoint measured in randomized clinical trials, should also be examined in the further research, especially on the evaluation of BP management goals and the effects of RAS inhibition treatment. Furthermore, a comparative effectiveness analysis based on large datasets is needed to directly compare the effects of RAS inhibitors and other classes of antihypertensive medications.

5.6 Public Health and Clinical Implications

The United States has both the largest T1D population and the highest diabetes-related health expenditures in the world ⁴⁷. T1D has affected approximately a million people in the nation

according to the NHANES of 1999-2010⁴⁸. Cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of death in long standing T1D ⁵⁶. Advances in diabetes care over the past couple of decades have resulted in a remarkable improvement in the prevention and delay of microvascular complications ⁵⁷ as well as mortality ⁵². However, the risk of cardiovascular complications remains high in T1D ⁶². Although the causes of poor cardiovascular outcomes are multifactorial, we have focused on BP because this association is plausible and modifiable. It also has substantial clinical implications for long term healthy outcomes. Importantly, there are still major gaps in knowledge on effective BP control in this high-risk population to optimize cardiovascular health.

We have demonstrated SBP to be a reliable and powerful predictor of cardiovascular risk in T1D; PP starts rising when T1D individuals reach their late 30s and has shown strong prognostic significance on cardiovascular outcomes in age 35 and older. We also have found PP is particularly effective in risk prediction in those who have a higher glycemia exposure. Although no statistically significant improvement of model fit was observed for the combined BP measure of SBP and PP versus a single SBP in this cohort, these findings raise the possibility that, in addition to SBP, PP may also be helpful to incorporate into the clinical evaluation in the T1D population, for those who are over 35 years of age and/or have poor glycaemia control.

Even though high BP has consistently been identified as a strong and independent cardiovascular risk factor in the T1D population ^{147–150}, there still is a lack of trial-based evidence to guide BP management goals. We have found the SBP and DBP below the thresholds of 120 and 80 mmHg, respectively, are associated with minimal cardiovascular risk. Our findings, from an epidemiological representative and longitudinal T1D cohort, raise the need for those settling treatment guidelines to consider lower goals (120/80mmHg) than now exist (140/90mmHg), especially for young adults with childhood-onset T1D as in the EDC cohort. Indeed, using the

PARF calculation, we have found that a BP cutoff 120/80 mmHg, compared to the cutoff 140/90 mmHg, is able to identify a further 18% CAD events in this TD cohort, or nearly doubling of the PARF.

Very limited evidence has documented whether or not RAS inhibition treatment affords superior cardioprotection in T1D. A preference for RAS inhibitors was only recommended in the presence of raised albuminuria according the current ADA guidelines. Our current results have supported that RAS inhibition treatment tends to reduce cardiovascular risk in individuals having long-standing T1D, and the beneficial effect seems enhanced with longer term treatment. Moreover, we have found evidence that RAS inhibitors might offer cardiovascular benefit beyond BP control and albuminuria reduction in this patient population. These findings add important information to the understanding of how RAS inhibition affects cardiovascular health. The results also implicated interventional clinical trials of RAS inhibitors in the T1D population may be warranted.

In aggregate, this body of work has therefore demonstrated a comprehensive examination of risk prediction and control of BP on cardiovascular outcomes in T1D. Our findings from a representative and long-term follow-up study cohort have contributed to filling some of the critical gaps in the understanding of the magnitude of risk of high BP associated with adverse cardiovascular outcomes as well as its management in relation to minimal risk. Our results thus have important implications in clinical practice and preventive medicine, emphasizing the importance of effective BP control for further reduction in cardiovascular risk in this high-risk population.

Appendix A Supplemental Materials of Paper II

	Model for SBP	l for SBP Model for DBP			Model for MAP	
Variables ¹	HR (95% CI)	p value	HR (95% CI)	p value	HR (95% CI)	p value
Cumulative BP (per 500 mmHg-years)	1.3 (1.03, 1.6)	0.027	1.5 (0.99, 2.1)	0.054	1.4 (1.02, 1.9)	0.038
Age	2.2 (1.9, 2.6)	< 0.001	2.3 (1.9, 2.7)	< 0.001	2.3 (1.9, 2.6)	< 0.001
Female	1.3 (0.9, 1.9)	0.099	1.4 (0.9, 1.9)	0.083	1.3 (0.9, 1.9)	0.088
Ever smoking	1.04 (0.8, 1.4)	0.801	1.1 (0.8, 1.4)	0.741	1.05 (0.8, 1.4)	0.761
BMI	0.9 (0.7, 1.04)	0.127	0.9 (0.7, 1.04)	0.128	0.9 (0.7, 1.04)	0.126
HbA1c	1.3 (1.02, 1.5)	0.033	1.2 (1.01, 1.5)	0.037	1.2 (1.01, 1.5)	0.035
non-HDL cholesterol	1.6 (1.4, 2.0)	< 0.001	1.6 (1.4, 2.0)	< 0.001	1.6 (1.4, 2.0)	< 0.001
HDL cholesterol	0.8 (0.7, 0.96)	0.017	0.8 (0.7, 0.97)	0.020	0.8 (0.7, 0.96)	0.019
Raised albuminuria	2.5 (1.8, 3.6)	< 0.001	2.6 (1.8, 3.6)	< 0.001	2.5 (1.8, 3.6)	< 0.001
Current antihypertensive use	0.4 (0.3, 0.6)	< 0.001	0.4 (0.3, 0.6)	< 0.001	0.4 (0.3, 0.6)	< 0.001

Table 26 Time-updated Cumulative BPs (mmHg-years) with CAD (Adjutment for Age but not Diabetes Duration)

Per SD increase if a continuous variable, unless specified

BMI, HbA1c, and lipids (non-HDLc, HDLc and triglycerides) were updated means (time- invariant) in the models

BMI: body mass index, BP: blood pressure, CAD: coronary artery disease, CI: confidence interval, DBP: diastolic blood pressure, HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c, HDLc: high density lipoprotein cholesterol, HR: hazard ratio, MAP: mean arterial pressure, SBP: systolic blood pressure, SD: standard deviation

Table 27 Dos-gradient Association of Time-weighted BPs and CAD (Adjustment for Age

	Model 1		Model 2		
	HR (95% CI)	p value	HR (95% CI)	p value	
SBP, mmHg					
<110	0.9 (0.6, 1.3)	0.498	1.1 (0.7, 1.6)	0.763	
110 to <120	ref		ref		
120 to <130	1.6 (1.1, 2.4)	0.020	1.5 (1.02, 2.3)	0.039	
130 to <140	2.3 (1.4, 3.7)	< 0.001	1.9 (1.2, 3.0)	0.011	
140+	3.2 (1.9, 5.4)	< 0.001	2.6 (1.5, 4.5)	< 0.001	
DBP, mmHg					
<60	1.1 (0.6, 2.0)	0.689	1.0 (0.6, 1.8)	0.985	
60 to <70	ref		ref		
70 to <80	1.9 (1.3, 2.7)	< 0.001	1.8 (1.2, 2.6)	0.004	
80 to <90	5.9 (3.9, 8.9)	< 0.001	4.5 (2.9, 6.9)	< 0.001	
90+	9.3 (5.3, 16.3)	< 0.001	5.6 (3.1, 10.2)	< 0.001	
MAP, mmHg					
<80	0.9 (0.6, 1.4)	0.780	1.0 (0.7, 1.5)	0.999	
80 to <90	ref		ref		
90 to <100	2.8 (2.0, 4.0)	< 0.001	2.4 (1.7, 3.5)	< 0.001	
100 to <110	4.3 (2.7, 6.9)	< 0.001	3.1 (1.9,5.2)	< 0.001	
110+	13.6 (7.0, 2)	< 0.001	8.3 (4.2, 16.4)	< 0.001	

but not Diabetes Duration)

Model 1: Adjusted for age, sex, and current use of antihypertensive medications

Model 2: Model 1+ time-weighted HbA1c, ever smoking, updated mean BMI, HDL and non-HDL cholesterol, and raised albuminuria

BMI: body mass index, BP: blood pressure, CAD: coronary artery disease, CI: confidence interval, DBP: diastolic blood pressure, HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c, HDL: high density lipoprotein, HR: hazard ratio, MAP: mean arterial pressure

Table 28 Risk Stratification b	y Time-weighted BPs and	Time-weighted HbA1c for CAD
---------------------------------------	-------------------------	-----------------------------

	Model 1		Model 2	
	HR (95% CI)	p value	HR (95% CI)	p value
SBP/DBP				
BP≥120/80 vs. <120/80	2.4 (1.8, 3.3)	< 0.001	1.9 (1.4, 2.6)	< 0.001
BP<120/80, and HbA1c<8	ref		Ref	
BP≥120/80, and HbA1c<8	2.4 (1.3, 4.3)	0.004	2.1 (1.1, 4.0)	0.028
BP<120/80, and HbA1c≥8	2.3 (1.4, 3.7)	0.001	1.7 (0.99, 2.9)	0.055
BP≥120/80, and HbA1c≥8	5.8 (3.5, 9.8)	< 0.001	3.4 (1.9, 6.0)	< 0.001
MAP				
MAP≥90 vs. <90	3.4 (2.5, 4.6)	< 0.001	2.5 (1.8, 3.5)	< 0.001
MAP<90, and HbA1c<8	ref		ref	
MAP≥90, and HbA1c<8	4.4 (2.4, 8.0)	< 0.001	3.2 (1.7, 6.1)	< 0.001
MAP<90, and HbA1c≥8	2.6 (1.6, 4.2)	< 0.001	1.9 (1.1, 3.2)	0.017
MAP≥90, and HbA1c≥8	8.4 (5.1, 14.1)	< 0.001	4.9 (2.7, 8.7)	< 0.001

Risk Prediction (Adjustment for Age but not Diabetes Duration)

Model 1: Adjusted for age, sex, and current use of antihypertensive medications

Model 2: Model 1+ ever smoking, updated mean BMI, HDL and non-HDL cholesterol, and raised albuminuria

BMI: body mass index, BP: blood pressure, CAD: coronary artery disease, CI: confidence interval, HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c, HDL: high density lipoprotein, HR: hazard ratio, MAP: mean arterial pressure

Table 29 Stratified Analysis of Time-weighted BPs and CAD by Antihypertensive Use

	Subgroup of never tr antihypertensives (n=223, events=89)	reated by	Subgroup of ever treated by antihypertensives (n=382, events=130)		
	HR (95% CI)	p value	HR (95% CI)	p value	
$BP \ge 120/80 \text{ vs.} \\ <120/80$	2.1 (1.2, 3.7)	0.006	2.5 (1.6, 3.9)	< 0.001	
$MAP \ge 90 \text{ vs.} < 90$	2.4 (1.4, 4.2)	0.001	3.8 (2.4, 5.9)	< 0.001	

Status (Adjustment for Age but not Diabetes Duration)

Adjusted for age, sex, ever smoking, time-weighted HbA1c, and updated mean BMI, HDL and non-HDL cholesterol, and raised albuminuria

BMI: body mass index, BP: blood pressure, CAD: coronary artery disease, CI: confidence interval, HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c, HDL: high density lipoprotein, HR: hazard ratio, MAP: mean arterial pressure

Appendix B Supplemental Materials of Paper III: Sensitivity Analysis with Different Model Specifications

	p value		Covariates for Model 1	Covariates for Model 2	Covariates for Model 3	Covariates for Model 4
variables	Model A: Prediction of RAS inhibition exposure	Model B: Prediction of CAD outcomes	p value <0.25 in both RAS inhibition and CAD models	p value <0.25 in both models or only the CAD model	p value <0.25 in both models or only RAS inhibition model	p value <0.25 in either of the two models
Age	0.15	0.00	v	V	v	v
Diabetes duration	0.28	0.15		V		v
Female	0.10	0.75			v	v
MI family history	0.05	0.15	v	V	v	v
College education	0.30	0.12		V		v
Diabetes diagnosis year $< vs \ge 1965$	0.08	0.60			v	v
Haptoglobin allele	0.44	0.25		V		v
Ever smoked at baseline	0.21	0.31			V	v
Race	0.49	0.71				
HbA1c	0.05	0.00	V	V	v	v
Current smoker	0.28	0.20		V		v
BMI	0.43	0.43				
High WHR	0.35	0.61				

Table 30 Associations of Covariates with RAS Inhibition Exposure and with CAD Outcome

Table 30 Continued

SBP	0.91	0.14		V		V
Hypertension	0.00	0.30			V	v
DBP	0.90	0.48				
eGFR	0.19	0.05	V	V	V	v
Urine AER	0.00	0.02	V	V	V	V
non-HDL	0.03	0.96			V	v
HDL	0.33	0.01		V		v
Triglycerides	0.80	0.65				
WBC	0.15	0.62			V	v
Covariates	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5 (More parsimonious)	
--	-------------------	-------------------	-------------------	-------------------	-----------------------------	
Age	V	V	V	V	V	
Diabetes duration		V		v		
Female			v	v	V	
MI family history	v	v	v	v	V	
College education		v		v	v	
Diabetes diagnosis year $< vs \ge 1965$			v	v		
Haptoglobin allele		V		v	V	
Ever smoked at baseline			v	v		
Race						
HbA1c	v	v	v	v	V	
Current smoker		v		v		
BMI						
High WHR						
SBP		v		v	V	
Hypertension			v	v		
DBP						
eGFR	v	v	v	V	V	
Urine AER	v	v	v	v	V	
non-HDL			v	v	V	
HDL		v		v	V	
Triglycerides						
WBC			v	v		
No.of Covariates	5	11	11	17	11	
HR (95%CI)	0.77 (0.27, 2.23)	0.72 (0.24, 2.15)	0.74 (0.25, 2.18)	0.62 (0.23, 1.77)	0.58 (0.19, 1.77)	
HR (95%CI) *	0.64 (0.22, 1.85)	0.51 (0.16, 1.62)	0.62 (0.20, 1.87)	0.52 (0.18, 1.53)	0.41 (0.13, 1.33)	

Table 31 Association of Time-varying RAS Inhibition and CAD outcomes by Different Model Specifications

* Other than SBP and AER, the other variables are time-invariant updated mean

Appendix C Supplemental Materials of Paper III: Causal Mediation Analysis with Time-

varying SBP and Albuminuria

Table 32 Mediaiton Analysis with Time-varying Covariates Using Controlled Direct Models

RAS inhibition effect	Total effect (from MSM ^a)	Controlled direct effect	Mediation proportion (extrapolated)			
Mediated by SBP (per 10 mmHg)						
HR (95%CI)	0.62 (0.23, 1.77)	0.73 (0.20, 2.59)				
	(100%)	(66%)	34%			
Mediated by albuminuria (per 1-log unit of AER)						
HR (95%CI)	0.62 (0.23, 1.77)	0.74 (0.16, 3.35)				
	(100%)	(63%)	37%			

AER: urinary albumin excretion ration, MSM: marginal structural model ^a: results from the Model 4 in the Table 30 (Appendix B)

Bibliography

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Diabetes Statistics Report, 2017. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, U.S. Dept of Health and Human Services; 2017.
- 2. Long AN, Dagogo-Jack S. Comorbidities of diabetes and hypertension: mechanisms and approach to target organ protection. *J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich)*. 2011;13(4):244-251. doi:10.1111/j.1751-7176.2011.00434.x
- 3. Jandeleit-Dahm K, Cooper ME. Hypertension and diabetes. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens*. 2002;11(2):221-228.
- 4. Bild D, Teutsch SM. The control of hypertension in persons with diabetes: a public health approach. *Public Health Rep.* 1987;102(5):522-529.
- 5. Ferrannini E, Cushman WC. Diabetes and hypertension : the bad companions. *Lancet*. 2017;380(9841):601-610. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60987-8
- 6. American Diabetes Association. Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus. *Diabetes Care*. 2013;37(Supplement 1):S81-S90.
- 7. World Health Organization. Global Report on Diabetes. World Health Organization, Geneva, 2016.
- 8. Ogurtsova K, da Rocha Fernandes JD, Huang Y, et al. IDF Diabetes Atlas: Global estimates for the prevalence of diabetes for 2015 and 2040. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*. 2017;128:40-50. doi:10.1016/j.diabres.2017.03.024
- 9. Inzucchi SE. Diagnosis of Diabetes. *N Engl J Med.* 2012;367(6):542-550. doi:10.1056/NEJMcp1103643
- Chamberlain JJ, Rhinehart AS, Shaefer CF, Neuman A. Diagnosis and Management of Diabetes: Synopsis of the 2016 American Diabetes Association Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes. *Ann Intern Med.* 2016;164(8):542. doi:10.7326/M15-3016
- 11. Atkinson MA, Eisenbarth GS, Michels AW. Type 1 diabetes. *Lancet*. 2014;383(9911):69-82. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60591-7
- 12. DeFronzo RA. Pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Med Clin North Am.* 2004;88(4):787-835. doi:10.1016/j.mcna.2004.04.013
- 13. Expert Committee on the Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus. Report of the expert committee on the diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Care*. 2003;26 Suppl 1:S5-20.

- 14. Skyler JS, Bakris GL, Bonifacio E, et al. Differentiation of Diabetes by Pathophysiology, Natural History, and Prognosis. *Diabetes*. 2017;66(2):241-255. doi:10.2337/db16-0806
- 15. Flier JS, Underhill LH, Eisenbarth GS. Type I Diabetes Mellitus. N Engl J Med. 1986;314(21):1360-1368. doi:10.1056/NEJM198605223142106
- 16. Achenbach P, Bonifacio E, Koczwara K, Ziegler A-G. Natural history of type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes*. 2005;54 Suppl 2:S25-31.
- 17. Ziegler AG, Rewers M, Simell O, et al. Seroconversion to multiple islet autoantibodies and risk of progression to diabetes in children. *JAMA*. 2013;309(23):2473-2479. doi:10.1001/jama.2013.6285
- 18. Insel RA, Dunne JL, Atkinson MA, et al. Staging presymptomatic type 1 diabetes: a scientific statement of JDRF, the Endocrine Society, and the American Diabetes Association. *Diabetes Care*. 2015;38(10):1964-1974. doi:10.2337/dc15-1419
- 19. Katsarou A, Gudbjörnsdottir S, Rawshani A, et al. Type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Nat Rev Dis Prim.* 2017;3:17016. doi:10.1038/nrdp.2017.16
- 20. Kukko M, Virtanen SM, Toivonen A, et al. Geographical variation in risk HLA-DQB1 genotypes for type 1 diabetes and signs of beta-cell autoimmunity in a high-incidence country. *Diabetes Care*. 2004;27(3):676-681.
- 21. Elding Larsson H, Vehik K, Bell R, et al. Reduced prevalence of diabetic ketoacidosis at diagnosis of type 1 diabetes in young children participating in longitudinal follow-up. *Diabetes Care*. 2011;34(11):2347-2352. doi:10.2337/dc11-1026
- 22. Elding Larsson H, Vehik K, Gesualdo P, et al. Children followed in the TEDDY study are diagnosed with type 1 diabetes at an early stage of disease. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2014;15(2):118-126. doi:10.1111/pedi.12066
- 23. Ram R, Morahan G. Effects of type 1 diabetes risk alleles on immune cell gene expression. *Genes (Basel)*. 2017;8(6). doi:10.3390/genes8060167
- 24. Singal DP, Blajchman MA. Histocompatibility (HL-A) antigens, lymphocytotoxic antibodies and tissue antibodies in patients with diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes*. 1973;22(6):429-432.
- 25. Jerram S, Leslie RD. The Genetic Architecture of Type 1 Diabetes. *Genes (Basel)*. 2017;8(8):209. doi:10.3390/genes8080209
- 26. Knip M, Kukko M, Kulmala P, et al. Humoral beta-cell autoimmunity in relation to HLAdefined disease susceptibility in preclinical and clinical type 1 diabetes. *Am J Med Genet*. 2002;115(1):48-54. doi:10.1002/ajmg.10343

- 27. Pugliese A, Boulware D, Yu L, et al. HLA-DRB1*15:01-DQA1*01:02-DQB1*06:02 Haplotype Protects Autoantibody-Positive Relatives From Type 1 Diabetes Throughout the Stages of Disease Progression. *Diabetes*. 2016;65(4):1109-1119. doi:10.2337/db15-1105
- 28. Sanjeevi CB, Lybrand TP, DeWeese C, et al. Polymorphic amino acid variations in HLA-DQ are associated with systematic physical property changes and occurrence of IDDM. Members of the Swedish Childhood Diabetes Study. *Diabetes*. 1995;44(1):125-131.
- 29. Pociot F, Lernmark Å. Genetic risk factors for type 1 diabetes. *Lancet*. 2016;387(10035):2331-2339. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30582-7
- 30. Ram R, Mehta M, Nguyen QT, et al. Systematic Evaluation of Genes and Genetic Variants Associated with Type 1 Diabetes Susceptibility. *J Immunol*. 2016;196(7):3043-3053. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1502056
- 31. Zaccardi F, Webb DR, Yates T, Davies MJ. Pathophysiology of type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus: a 90-year perspective. *Postgrad Med J.* 2016;92(1084):63-69. doi:10.1136/postgradmedj-2015-133281
- 32. Knowler WC, Barrett-Connor E, Fowler SE, et al. Reduction in the Incidence of Type 2 Diabetes with Lifestyle Intervention or Metformin. *N Engl J Med.* 2002;346(6):393-403. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa012512
- 33. Perreault L, Pan Q, Mather KJ, et al. Effect of regression from prediabetes to normal glucose regulation on long-term reduction in diabetes risk: results from the Diabetes Prevention Program Outcomes Study. *Lancet (London, England)*. 2012;379(9833):2243-2251. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60525-X
- 34. Li N, Katzmarzyk PT, Horswell R, et al. BMI and coronary heart disease risk among lowincome and underinsured diabetic patients. *Diabetes Care*. 2014;37(12):3204-3212. doi:10.2337/dc14-1091
- 35. Perreault L, Temprosa M, Mather KJ, et al. Regression From Prediabetes to Normal Glucose Regulation Is Associated With Reduction in Cardiovascular Risk: Results From the Diabetes Prevention Program Outcomes Study. *Diabetes Care*. 2014;37(9):2622-2631. doi:10.2337/dc14-0656
- 36. Guariguata L, Whiting DR, Hambleton I, Beagley J, Linnenkamp U, Shaw JE. Global estimates of diabetes prevalence for 2013 and projections for 2035. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*. 2014;103(2):137-149. doi:10.1016/j.diabres.2013.11.002
- 37. Entmacher PS, Marks HH. Diabetes in 1964, A World Survey. *Diabetes*. 1965;14:212-223.
- 38. Wild S, Roglic G, Green A, Sicree R, King H. Global prevalence of diabetes: estimates for the year 2000 and projections for 2030. *Diabetes Care*. 2004;27(5):1047-1053.

- 39. Menke A, Casagrande S, Geiss L, Cowie CC. Prevalence of and Trends in Diabetes Among Adults in the United States, 1988-2012. *JAMA*. 2015;314(10):1021. doi:10.1001/jama.2015.10029
- 40. Boyle JP, Thompson TJ, Gregg EW, Barker LE, Williamson DF. Projection of the year 2050 burden of diabetes in the US adult population: dynamic modeling of incidence, mortality, and prediabetes prevalence. *Popul Health Metr.* 2010;8(1):29. doi:10.1186/1478-7954-8-29
- 41. Dabelea D, Mayer-Davis EJ, Saydah S, et al. Prevalence of Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes Among Children and Adolescents From 2001 to 2009. *JAMA*. 2014;311(17):1778. doi:10.1001/jama.2014.3201
- 42. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. CDC WONDER: Underlying Cause of Death. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, U.S. Dept of Health and Human Services; 2017.
- 43. American Diabetes Association. Economic Costs of Diabetes in the U.S. in 2007. *Diabetes Care*. 2008;31(3):596-615. doi:10.2337/dc08-9017
- 44. Hogan P, Dall T, Nikolov P, American Diabetes Association. Economic costs of diabetes in the US in 2002. *Diabetes Care*. 2003;26(3):917-932.
- 45. American Diabetes Association. Economic Costs of Diabetes in the U.S. in 2012. *Diabetes Care*. 2013;36(4):1033-1046. doi:10.2337/dc12-2625
- 46. Torpy JM, Campbell A, Glass RM. Chronic Diseases of Children. *JAMA*. 2010;303(7):682. doi:10.1001/jama.303.7.682
- 47. International Diabetes Federation. IDF Diabetes Atlas, 8th edn. Brussels, Belgium: International Diabetes Federation, 2017.
- 48. Menke A, Orchard TJ, Imperatore G, Bullard KM, Mayer-Davis E, Cowie CC. The Prevalence of Type 1 Diabetes in the United States. *Epidemiol Sync/Dessertation/LiteratureReview/Review/T1D_CAD_2014.pdf*. 2013;24(5):773-774. doi:10.1097/EDE.0b013e31829ef01a
- 49. Eeg-Olofsson K, Cederholm J, Nilsson PM, et al. Glycemic control and cardiovascular disease in 7,454 patients with type 1 diabetes: an observational study from the Swedish National Diabetes Register (NDR). *Diabetes Care*. 2010;33(7):1640-1646. doi:10.2337/dc10-0398
- 50. Livingstone SJ, Levin D, Looker HC, et al. Estimated Life Expectancy in a Scottish Cohort With Type 1 Diabetes, 2008-2010. *JAMA*. 2015;313(1):37. doi:10.1001/jama.2014.16425
- 51. Gagnum V, Stene LC, Sandvik L, et al. All-cause mortality in a nationwide cohort of childhood-onset diabetes in Norway 1973–2013. *Diabetologia*. 2015;58(8):1779-1786. doi:10.1007/s00125-015-3623-7

- 52. Morgan E, Cardwell CR, Black CJ, McCance DR, Patterson CC. Excess mortality in Type 1 diabetes diagnosed in childhood and adolescence: a systematic review of populationbased cohorts. Acta Diabetol. 2015;52(4):801-807. doi:10.1007/s00592-014-0702-z
- 53. Simmons D. Excess deaths in women with type 1 diabetes: time to act. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol*. 2015;3(3):164-165. doi:10.1016/S2213-8587(14)70272-4
- 54. Skrivarhaug T, Bangstad H-J, Stene LC, Sandvik L, Hanssen KF, Joner G. Long-term mortality in a nationwide cohort of childhood-onset type 1 diabetic patients in Norway. *Diabetologia*. 2006;49(2):298-305. doi:10.1007/s00125-005-0082-6
- 55. Cause-specific mortality in insulin-treated diabetic patients: A 20-year follow-up. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*. 2008;80(1):16-23. doi:10.1016/J.DIABRES.2007.10.034
- 56. Secrest AM, Becker DJ, Kelsey SF, Laporte RE, Orchard TJ. Cause-specific mortality trends in a large population-based cohort with long-standing childhood-onset type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes*. 2010;59(12):3216-3222. doi:10.2337/db10-0862
- 57. Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group, Nathan DM, Genuth S, et al. The Effect of Intensive Treatment of Diabetes on the Development and Progression of Long-Term Complications in Insulin-Dependent Diabetes Mellitus. *N Engl J Med.* 1993;329(14):977-986. doi:10.1056/NEJM199309303291401
- 58. Soedamah-Muthu SS, Fuller JH, Mulnier HE, Raleigh VS, Lawrenson RA, Colhoun HM. High risk of cardiovascular disease in patients with type 1 diabetes in the U.K.: a cohort study using the general practice research database. *Diabetes Care*. 2006;29(4):798-804.
- 59. Pambianco G, Costacou T, Ellis D, Becker DJ, Klein R, Orchard TJ. The 30-year natural history of type 1 diabetes complications: The Pittsburgh epidemiology of diabetes complications study experience. *Diabetes*. 2006;55(5):1463-1469. doi:10.2337/db05-1423
- 60. Benjamin EJ, Blaha MJ, Chiuve SE, et al. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics—2017 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2017;135(10). doi:10.1161/CIR.00000000000485
- 61. de Ferranti SD, de Boer IH, Fonseca V, et al. Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus and Cardiovascular Disease: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association and American Diabetes Association. *Diabetes Care*. 2014;37(10):2843-2863. doi:10.2337/dc14-1720
- 62. Miller RG, Mahajan HD, Costacou T, Sekikawa A, Anderson SJ, Orchard TJ. A Contemporary Estimate of Total Mortality and Cardiovascular Disease Risk in Young Adults With Type 1 Diabetes: The Pittsburgh Epidemiology of Diabetes Complications Study. *Diabetes Care*. 2016;39(1):1-8. doi:10.2337/dc16-1162
- 63. Reutens AT. Epidemiology of Diabetic Kidney Disease. *Med Clin North Am.* 2013;97(1):1-18. doi:10.1016/j.mcna.2012.10.001

- 64. Costacou T, Orchard TJ. Cumulative Kidney Complication Risk by 50 Years of Type 1 Diabetes: The Effects of Sex, Age, and Calendar Year at Onset. *Diabetes Care*. 2018;41(3):426-433. doi:10.2337/dc17-1118
- 65. Orchard TJ, Secrest AM, Miller RG, Costacou T. In the absence of renal disease, 20 year mortality risk in type 1 diabetes is comparable to that of the general population: A report from the Pittsburgh Epidemiology of Diabetes Complications Study. *Diabetologia*. 2010;53(11):2312-2319. doi:10.1007/s00125-010-1860-3
- 66. Chobanian A V, Bakris GL, Black HR, et al. The Seventh Report of the Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure: the JNC 7 report. *JAMA*. 2003;289(19):2560-2572. doi:10.1001/jama.289.19.2560
- 67. Forouzanfar MH, Afshin A, Alexander LT, et al. Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment of 79 behavioural, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or clusters of risks, 1990–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *Lancet*. 2016;388(10053):1659-1724. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31679-8
- 68. World Health Organization. Global Status Report on Noncommunicable Diseases 2010. World Health Organization, Geneva, 2011
- 69. Vasan RS, Beiser A, Seshadri S, et al. Residual lifetime risk for developing hypertension in middle-aged women and men: The Framingham Heart Study. *JAMA*. 2002;287(8):1003-1010.
- 70. Rimoldi SF, Scherrer U, Messerli FH. Secondary arterial hypertension: when, who, and how to screen? *Eur Heart J.* 2014;35(19):1245-1254. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/eht534
- 71. Beevers G, Lip GY, O'Brien E. ABC of hypertension: The pathophysiology of hypertension. *BMJ*. 2001;322(7291):912-916.
- 72. Coffman TM. Under pressure: the search for the essential mechanisms of hypertension. *Nat Med.* 2011;17(11):1402-1409. doi:10.1038/nm.2541
- 73. Staessen JA, Wang J, Bianchi G, Birkenhäger WH. Essential hypertension. *Lancet*. 2003;361(9369):1629-1641. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(03)13302-8
- 74. Gkaliagkousi E, Gavriilaki E, Triantafyllou A, Douma S. Clinical Significance of Endothelial Dysfunction in Essential Hypertension. *Curr Hypertens Rep.* 2015;17(11):85. doi:10.1007/s11906-015-0596-3
- 75. Montecucco F, Pende A, Quercioli A, Mach F. Inflammation in the pathophysiology of essential hypertension. *J Nephrol*. 24(1):23-34.
- 76. Grassi G, Mark A, Esler M. The Sympathetic Nervous System Alterations in Human Hypertension. *Circ Res.* 2015;116(6):976-990. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.303604

- 77. Tsounis D, Bouras G, Giannopoulos G, Papadimitriou C, Alexopoulos D, Deftereos S. Inflammation markers in essential hypertension. *Med Chem.* 2014;10(7):672-681.
- 78. Messerli FH, Williams B, Ritz E. Essential hypertension. *Lancet*. 2007;370(9587):591-603. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61299-9
- 79. Nadar SK, Tayebjee MH, Messerli F, Lip GYH. Target organ damage in hypertension: pathophysiology and implications for drug therapy. *Curr Pharm Des.* 2006;12(13):1581-1592.
- 80. Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2015 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2015;131(4):e29-322. doi:10.1161/CIR.00000000000152
- 81. Whelton PK, Carey RM, Aronow WS, et al. 2017 ACC/AHA/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/AGS/APhA/ASH/ASPC/NMA/PCNA Guideline for the Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Management of High Blood Pressure in Adults. *Hypertension*. 2018;71(6):1269-1324. doi:10.1161/HYP.000000000000066
- 82. Dorsey JL, Becker MH, Al. E. Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes—2018. *Diabetes Care*. 2018;41(Supplement 1):S55-S64. doi:10.2337/dc18-S006
- 83. Strandberg TE, Salomaa V V, Vanhanen HT, Pitkälä K, Miettinen TA. Isolated diastolic hypertension, pulse pressure, and mean arterial pressure as predictors of mortality during a follow-up of up to 32 years. *J Hypertens*. 2002;20(3):399-404.
- 84. Hadaegh F, Shafiee G, Hatami M, Azizi F. Systolic and diastolic blood pressure, mean arterial pressure and pulse pressure for prediction of cardiovascular events and mortality in a Middle Eastern population. *Blood Press.* 2012;21(1):12-18. doi:10.3109/08037051.2011.585808
- 85. Guo J, Fujiyoshi A, Masaki K, et al. The role of initial and longitudinal change in blood pressure on progression of arterial stiffness among multiethnic middle-aged men. J Hypertens. 2017;35(1):111-117. doi:10.1097/HJH.00000000001144
- 86. James PA, Oparil S, Carter BL, et al. 2014 evidence-based guideline for the management of high blood pressure in adults: report from the panel members appointed to the Eighth Joint National Committee (JNC 8). *JAMA*. 2014;311(5):507-520. doi:10.1001/jama.2013.284427
- 87. Pickering TG, Hall JE, Appel LJ, et al. Recommendations for Blood Pressure Measurement in Humans and Experimental Animals: Part 1: Blood Pressure Measurement in Humans: A Statement for Professionals From the Subcommittee of Professional and Public Education of the American Heart Association Council on High Blood Pressure Research. *Circulation*. 2005;111(5):697-716. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000154900.76284.F6
- 88. Krause T, Lovibond K, Caulfield M, McCormack T, Williams B, Guideline Development Group. Management of hypertension: summary of NICE guidance. *BMJ*. 2011;343:d4891.

- 89. Franklin SS, Gustin W, Wong ND, et al. Hemodynamic patterns of age-related changes in blood pressure. The Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*. 1997;96(1):308-315.
- 90. Franklin SS, Larson MG, Khan SA, et al. Does the Relation of Blood Pressure to Coronary Heart Disease Risk Change With Aging? : The Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*. 2001;103(9):1245-1249. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.103.9.1245
- 91. Kengne A-PA-PA-P, Czernichow S, Huxley R, et al. Blood pressure variables and cardiovascular risk: new findings from ADVANCE. *Hypertension*. 2009;54(2):399-404. doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.109.133041
- 92. Peralta CA, Katz R, Newman AB, Psaty BM, Odden MC. Systolic and Diastolic Blood Pressure, Incident Cardiovascular Events, and Death in Elderly Persons: The Role of Functional Limitation in the Cardiovascular Health Study. *Hypertension*. 2014;64(3):472-480. doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.114.03831
- 93. Armstrong C, Joint National Committee. JNC8 guidelines for the management of hypertension in adults. *Am Fam Physician*. 2014;90(7):503-504.
- 94. Nichols W, O'Rourke M. Properties of the Arterial Wall. In McDonald's Blood Flow in Arteries: Theoretical, Experimental and Clinical Principles. 4 Ed. London, England: Edward Arnold; 1998.
- 95. Darne B, Girerd X, Safar M, Cambien F, Guize L. Pulsatile versus steady component of blood pressure: a cross-sectional analysis and a prospective analysis on cardiovascular mortality. *Hypertens (Dallas, Tex 1979)*. 1989;13(4):392-400.
- 96. Lewington S, Clarke R, Qizilbash N, Peto R, Collins R, Prospective Studies Collaboration. Age-specific relevance of usual blood pressure to vascular mortality: a meta-analysis of individual data for one million adults in 61 prospective studies. *Lancet (London, England)*. 2002;360(9349):1903-1913.
- 97. Angell SY, De Cock KM, Frieden TR. A public health approach to global management of hypertension. *Lancet*. 2015;385(9970):825-827. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(14)62256-X
- 98. Forouzanfar MH, Liu P, Roth GA, et al. Global Burden of Hypertension and Systolic Blood Pressure of at Least 110 to 115 mm Hg, 1990-2015. *JAMA*. 2017;317(2):165. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.19043
- 99. Yoon SSS, Carroll MD, Fryar CD. Hypertension Prevalence and Control Among Adults: United States, 2011-2014. *NCHS Data Brief*. 2015;(220):1-8.
- 100. Rapsomaniki E, Timmis A, George J, et al. Blood pressure and incidence of twelve cardiovascular diseases: lifetime risks, healthy life-years lost, and age-specific associations in 1.25 million people. *Lancet (London, England)*. 2014;383(9932):1899-1911. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60685-1

- 101. Neaton JD, Wentworth D. Serum cholesterol, blood pressure, cigarette smoking, and death from coronary heart disease. Overall findings and differences by age for 316,099 white men. *Arch Intern Med.* 1992;152(1):56-64.
- 102. Kishi S, Teixido-Tura G, Ning H, et al. Cumulative Blood Pressure in Early Adulthood and Cardiac Dysfunction in Middle Age. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2015;65(25):2679-2687. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2015.04.042
- 103. Pletcher MJ, Bibbins-Domingo K, Lewis CE, et al. Prehypertension during young adulthood and coronary calcium later in life. *Ann Intern Med.* 2008;149(2):91-99.
- 104. Ettehad D, Emdin CA, Kiran A, et al. Blood pressure lowering for prevention of cardiovascular disease and death: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet (London, England)*. 2016;387(10022):957-967. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01225-8
- 105. Bundy JD, Li C, Stuchlik P, et al. Systolic Blood Pressure Reduction and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease and Mortality. *JAMA Cardiol.* 2017;2(7):775. doi:10.1001/jamacardio.2017.1421
- 106. Perloff D, Grim C, Flack J, et al. Human blood pressure determination by sphygmomanometry. Human Blood Pressure Determination by Sphygmomanometry. *Circulation*. 1993;88:2460-2470. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.88.5.2460
- 107. Wen SW, Kramer MS, Hoey J, Hanley JA, Usher RH. Terminal digit preference, random error, and bias in routine clinical measurement of blood pressure. *J Clin Epidemiol*. 1993;46(10):1187-1193.
- 108. Graves JW, Bailey KR, Grossardt BR, et al. The impact of observer and patient factors on the occurrence of digit preference for zero in blood pressure measurement in a hypertension specialty clinic: evidence for the need of continued observation. Am J Hypertens. 2006;19(6):567-572. doi:10.1016/j.amjhyper.2005.04.004
- 109. Wingfield D, Cooke J, Thijs L, et al. Terminal digit preference and single-number preference in the Syst-Eur trial: influence of quality control. *Blood Press Monit*. 2002;7(3):169-177.
- 110. Stang A, Moebus S, Möhlenkamp S, et al. Algorithms for converting random-zero to automated oscillometric blood pressure values, and vice versa. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2006;164(1):85-94. doi:10.1093/aje/kwj160
- 111. McGurk C, Nugent A, McAuley D, Silke B. Sources of inaccuracy in the use of the Hawksley random-zero sphygmomanometer. *J Hypertens*. 1997;15(12 Pt 1):1379-1384.
- 112. Brown WC, Kennedy S, Inglis GC, Murray LS, Lever AF. Mechanisms by which the Hawksley random zero sphygmomanometer underestimates blood pressure and produces a non-random distribution of RZ values. *J Hum Hypertens*. 1997;11(2):75-93.

- 113. Eriksson M, Carlberg B, Jansson J-H. Comparison of blood pressure measurements between an automated oscillometric device and a Hawksley random-zero sphygmomanometer in the northern Sweden MONICA study. *Blood Press Monit*. 2012;17(4):164-170. doi:10.1097/MBP.0b013e328356ef58
- 114. Parati G, Faini A, Valentini M. Blood pressure variability: Its measurement and significance in hypertension. *Curr Hypertens Rep.* 2006;8(3):199-204. doi:10.1007/s11906-006-0051-6
- 115. Llabre MM, Ironson GH, Spitzer SB, Gellman MD, Weidler DJ, Schneiderman N. How many blood pressure measurements are enough? An application of generalizability theory to the study of blood pressure reliability. *Psychophysiology*. 1988;25(1):97-106.
- 116. Blood pressure studies in 14 communities. A two-stage screen for hypertension. *JAMA*. 1977;237(22):2385-2391.
- 117. Maahs DM, Kinney GL, Wadwa P, et al. Hypertension prevalence, awareness, treatment, and control in an adult type 1 diabetes population and a comparable general population. *Diabetes Care*. 2005;28(2):301-306.
- 118. Miller RG, Secrest AM, Ellis D, Becker DJ, Orchard TJ. Changing impact of modifiable risk factors on the incidence of major outcomes of type 1 diabetes: The Pittsburgh epidemiology of diabetes complications study. *Diabetes Care*. 2013;36(12):3999-4006. doi:10.2337/dc13-1142
- 119. Giannini C, Mohn A, Chiarelli F, Kelnar CJH. Macrovascular angiopathy in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev.* 2011;27(5):436-460. doi:10.1002/dmrr.1195
- 120. Tarnow L, Rossing P, Gall MA, Nielsen FS, Parving HH. Prevalence of arterial hypertension in diabetic patients before and after the JNC-V. *Diabetes Care*. 1994;17(11):1247-1251.
- 121. Nørgaard K, Feldt-Rasmussen B, Borch-Johnsen K, Saelan H, Deckert T. Prevalence of hypertension in type 1 (insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia*. 1990;33(7):407-410.
- 122. de Pablos-Velasco PL, Martínez-Martín FJ, Aguilar JA. Prevalence of hypertension in IDDM patients in the northern Grand Canary Island, according to the WHO/ISH and JNC-V/ADA criteria. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*. 1997;38(3):191-197.
- 123. Collado-Mesa F, Colhoun HM, Stevens LK, et al. Prevalence and management of hypertension in type 1 diabetes mellitus in Europe: the EURODIAB IDDM Complications Study. *Diabet Med.* 1999;16(1):41-48.
- 124. Ronnback M, Fagerudd J, Forsblom C, et al. Altered age-related blood pressure pattern in type 1 diabetes. *Circulation*. 2004;110(9):1076-1082. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000139903.29522.8D

- 125. Schwab KO, Doerfer J, Hecker W, et al. Spectrum and prevalence of atherogenic risk factors in 27,358 children, adolescents, and young adults with type 1 diabetes: cross-sectional data from the German diabetes documentation and quality management system (DPV). *Diabetes Care*. 2006;29(2):218-225.
- 126. Steigleder-Schweiger C, Rami-Merhar B, Waldhör T, et al. Prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes in Austria. *Eur J Pediatr*. 2012;171(8):1193-1202. doi:10.1007/s00431-012-1704-x
- 127. Schwab KO, Doerfer J, Marg W, Schober E, Holl RW, DPV Science Initiative and the Competence Network Diabetes mellitus. Characterization of 33 488 children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes based on the gender-specific increase of cardiovascular risk factors. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2010;11(5):357-363. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5448.2010.00665.x
- 128. de Boer IH, Kestenbaum B, Rue TC, et al. Insulin Therapy, Hyperglycemia, and Hypertension in Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus. *Arch Intern Med.* 2008;168(17):1867. doi:10.1001/archinternmed.2008.2
- 129. Costacou T, Orchard TJ. Differential Effect of Glycemia on the Incidence of Hypertension by Sex: The Epidemiology of Diabetes Complications study. *Diabetes Care*. 2013;36(1):77-83. doi:10.2337/dc12-0708
- 130. James S, Gallagher R, Dunbabin J, Perry L. Prevalence of vascular complications and factors predictive of their development in young adults with type 1 diabetes: systematic literature review. *BMC Res Notes*. 2014;7:593. doi:10.1186/1756-0500-7-593
- 131. Van Buren PN, Toto R. Hypertension in Diabetic Nephropathy: Epidemiology, Mechanisms, and Management. *Adv Chronic Kidney Dis.* 2011;18(1):28-41. doi:10.1053/j.ackd.2010.10.003
- 132. Epstein M, Sowers JR. Diabetes Mellitus and Hypertension. *Hypertension*. 1992;19(5):403-418. doi:10.1161/01.HYP.19.5.403
- 133. Schultz CJ, Andrew W Neil H, Neil Dalton R, et al. Blood pressure does not rise before the onset of microalbuminuria in children followed from diagnosis of type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2001;24(3):555-560. doi:10.2337/diacare.24.3.555
- 134. Chang S, Chen Y, Chenier I, Le S, Tran M. Angiotensin II Type II Receptor Deficiency Accelerates the Development of Nephropathy in Type I Diabetes via Oxidative Stress and ACE2. 2011;2011. doi:10.1155/2011/521076
- 135. Feldt-Rasmussen B, Nørgaard K, Jensen T, Deckert T. Hypertension in the course of insulin dependent diabetes mellitus and its pathogenetic mechanisms. *J Diabet Complications*. 4(2):60-62.
- 136. Conway B, Miller RG, Costacou T, et al. Temporal patterns in overweight and obesity in Type 1 diabetes. *Diabet Med*. 2010;27(4):398-404. doi:10.1111/j.1464-5491.2010.02956.x

- 137. Cleland SJ, Fisher BM, Colhoun HM, Sattar N, Petrie JR. Insulin resistance in type 1 diabetes: what is 'double diabetes' and what are the risks? *Diabetologia*. 2013;56(7):1462-1470. doi:10.1007/s00125-013-2904-2
- 138. Krolewski AS, Canessa M, Warram JH, et al. Predisposition to Hypertension and Susceptibility to Renal Disease in Insulin-Dependent Diabetes Mellitus. *N Engl J Med.* 1988;318(3):140-145. doi:10.1056/NEJM198801213180303
- 139. Stanton RC. Diabetic Kidney Disease and Hypertension. *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes*. 2016;124:93-98.
- 140. Mogensen CE. Microalbuminuria and hypertension with focus on type 1 and type 2 diabetes. *J Intern Med.* 2003;254(1):45-66.
- Coonrod BA, Ellis D, Becker DJ, et al. Predictors of microalbuminuria in individuals with IDDM. Pittsburgh Epidemiology of Diabetes Complications Study. *Diabetes Care*. 1993;16(10):1376-1383.
- 142. Roshan B, Stanton RC. A story of microalbuminuria and diabetic nephropathy. J Nephropathol. 2013;2(4):234-240. doi:10.12860/JNP.2013.37
- 143. Krolewski AS, Gohda T, Niewczas MA. Progressive renal decline as the major feature of diabetic nephropathy in type 1 diabetes. *Clin Exp Nephrol.* 2014;18(4):571-583. doi:10.1007/s10157-013-0900-y
- 144. Krolewski AS, Niewczas MA, Skupien J, et al. Early progressive renal decline precedes the onset of microalbuminuria and its progression to macroalbuminuria. *Diabetes Care*. 2014;37(1):226-234. doi:10.2337/dc13-0985
- 145. Krolewski AS. Progressive Renal Decline: The New Paradigm of Diabetic Nephropathy in Type 1 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2015;38(6):954-962. doi:10.2337/dc15-0184
- 146. Schwab KO, Doerfer J, Krebs A, et al. Early atherosclerosis in childhood type 1 diabetes: Role of raised systolic blood pressure in the absence of dyslipidaemia. *Eur J Pediatr.* 2007;166(6):541-548. doi:10.1007/s00431-007-0440-0
- 147. Zgibor JC, Ruppert K, Orchard TJ, et al. Development of a coronary heart disease risk prediction model for type 1 diabetes: The Pittsburgh CHD in Type 1 Diabetes Risk Model. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* 2010;88(3):314-321. doi:10.1016/j.diabres.2010.02.009
- 148. Cederholm J, Eeg-Olofsson K, Eliasson B, Zethelius B, Gudbjörnsdottir S, Swedish National Diabetes Register. A new model for 5-year risk of cardiovascular disease in Type1 diabetes; from the Swedish National Diabetes Register (NDR). *Diabet Med.* 2011;28(10):1213-1220. doi:10.1111/j.1464-5491.2011.03342.x
- 149. Vistisen D, Andersen GS, Hansen CS, et al. Prediction of first cardiovascular disease event in type 1 diabetes mellitus the steno type 1 risk engine. *Circulation*. 2016;133(11):1058-1066. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.018844

- 150. Nathan DM, Bebu I, Braffett BH, et al. Risk factors for cardiovascular disease in type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes*. 2016;65(5):1370-1379. doi:10.2337/db15-1517
- 151. Orchard TJ, Costacou T. Cardiovascular complications of type 1 diabetes: update on the renal link. *Acta Diabetol*. 2017;54(4):325-334. doi:10.1007/s00592-016-0949-7
- 152. Hansson L, Zanchetti A, Carruthers SG, et al. Effects of intensive blood-pressure lowering and low-dose aspirin in patients with hypertension: principal results of the Hypertension Optimal Treatment (HOT) randomised trial. HOT Study Group. *Lancet (London, England)*. 1998;351(9118):1755-1762.
- 153. Tuomilehto J, Rastenyte D, Birkenhäger WH, et al. Effects of calcium-channel blockade in older patients with diabetes and systolic hypertension. Systolic Hypertension in Europe Trial Investigators. N Engl J Med. 1999;340(9):677-684. doi:10.1056/NEJM199903043400902
- 154. The Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes (ACCORD) Study Group. Effects of intensive blood-pressure control in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *N Engl J Med.* 2010;362(17):1575-1585. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1001286
- 155. Margolis KL, O'Connor PJ, Morgan TM, et al. Outcomes of Combined Cardiovascular Risk Factor Management Strategies in Type 2 Diabetes: The ACCORD Randomized Trial. *Diabetes Care*. 2014;37(6):1721-1728. doi:10.2337/dc13-2334
- 156. Emdin CA, Rahimi K, Neal B, Callender T, Perkovic V, Patel A. Blood pressure lowering in type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA*. 2015;313(6):603. doi:10.1001/jama.2014.18574
- 157. Fuller JH, Stevens LK, Wang SL, WHO Multinational Study Group. Risk factors for cardiovascular mortality and morbidity: The WHO multinational study of vascular disease in diabetes. *Diabetologia*. 2001;44:S54-S64. doi:10.1007/pl00002940
- 158. Orchard TJ, Forrest KY, Kuller LH, Becker DJ, Pittsburgh Epidemiology of Diabetes Complications Study. Lipid and blood pressure treatment goals for type 1 diabetes: 10-year incidence data from the Pittsburgh Epidemiology of Diabetes Complications Study. *Diabetes Care*. 2001;24(6):1053-1059.
- 159. Sibal L, Law HN, Gebbie J, Dashora UK, Agarwal SC, Home P. Predicting the Development of Macrovascular Disease in People with Type 1 Diabetes: A 9-Year Followup Study. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 2006;1084(1):191-207. doi:10.1196/annals.1372.037
- 160. Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation Study Investigators. Effects of ramipril on cardiovascular and microvascular outcomes in people with diabetes mellitus: results of the HOPE study and MICRO-HOPE substudy. *Lancet (London, England)*. 2000;355(9200):253-259.

- 161. Lindholm LH, Ibsen H, Dahlöf B, et al. Cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in patients with diabetes in the Losartan Intervention For Endpoint reduction in hypertension study (LIFE): a randomised trial against atenolol. *Lancet*. 2002;359(9311):1004-1010. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(02)08090-X
- 162. Brunström M, Eliasson M, Nilsson PM, Carlberg B. Blood pressure treatment levels and choice of antihypertensive agent in people with diabetes mellitus. *J Hypertens*. 2017;35(3):453-462. doi:10.1097/HJH.00000000001183
- 163. Thomopoulos C, Parati G, Zanchetti A. Effects of blood pressure lowering on outcome incidence in hypertension. J Hypertens. 2015;33(2):195-211. doi:10.1097/HJH.0000000000447
- 164. Ryan C, Vega A, Drash A. Cognitive deficits in adolescents who developed diabetes early in life. *Pediatrics*. 1985;75(5):921-927.
- 165. Nunley KA, Rosano C, Ryan CM, et al. Clinically relevant cognitive impairment in Middle-Aged adults with childhood-onset type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2015;38(9):1768-1776. doi:10.2337/dc15-0041
- 166. Brands AMA, Biessels GJ, de Haan EHF, Kappelle LJ, Kessels RPC. The effects of type 1 diabetes on cognitive performance: a meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care*. 2005;28(3):726-735.
- 167. Naguib JM, Kulinskaya E, Lomax CL, Garralda ME. Neuro-cognitive Performance in Children with Type 1 Diabetes—A Meta-analysis. *J Pediatr Psychol*. 2009;34(3):271-282. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsn074
- 168. Lopez OL, Jagust WJ, DeKosky ST, et al. Prevalence and Classification of Mild Cognitive Impairment in the Cardiovascular Health Study Cognition Study. Arch Neurol. 2003;60(10):1385. doi:10.1001/archneur.60.10.1385
- 169. The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial/Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications (DCCT/EDIC) Study Research Group. Long-Term Effect of Diabetes and Its Treatment on Cognitive Function. *N Engl J Med.* 2007;356(18):1842-1852. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa066397
- Jacobson AM, Ryan CM, Cleary PA, et al. Biomedical risk factors for decreased cognitive functioning in type 1 diabetes: An 18 year follow-up of the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT) cohort. *Diabetologia*. 2011;54(2):245-255. doi:10.1007/s00125-010-1883-9
- 171. Brands AMA, Kessels RPC, Hoogma RPLM, et al. Cognitive Performance, Psychological Well-Being, and Brain Magnetic Resonance Imaging in Older Patients With Type 1 Diabetes. *Diabetes*. 2006;55(6):1800-1806. doi:10.2337/db05-1226
- 172. Ferguson SC, Blane A, Perros P, et al. Cognitive ability and brain structure in type 1 diabetes: relation to microangiopathy and preceding severe hypoglycemia. *Diabetes*. 2003;52(1):149-156.

- 173. Ryan CM, Geckle MO, Orchard TJ. Cognitive efficiency declines over time in adults with Type 1 diabetes: effects of micro- and macrovascular complications. *Diabetologia*. 2003;46(7):940-948. doi:10.1007/s00125-003-1128-2
- 174. Brismar T, Maurex L, Cooray G, et al. Predictors of cognitive impairment in type 1 diabetes. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. 2007;32(8-10):1041-1051. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2007.08.002
- 175. Ryan CM, Williams TM, Orchard TJ, Finegold DN. Psychomotor slowing is associated with distal symmetrical polyneuropathy in adults with diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes*. 1992;41(1):107-113.
- 176. Biessels GJ, Deary IJ, Ryan CM. Cognition and diabetes: a lifespan perspective. *Lancet Neurol.* 2008;7(2):184-190. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(08)70021-8
- 177. Iadecola C, Yaffe K, Biller J, et al. Impact of Hypertension on Cognitive Function: A Scientific Statement from the American Heart Association. *Hypertension*. 2016;68(6):e67e94. doi:10.1161/HYP.00000000000053
- 178. Tzourio C, Laurent S, Debette S. Is Hypertension Associated With an Accelerated Aging of the Brain? *Hypertension*. 2014;63(5):894-903. doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.113.00147
- 179. De Silva TM, Faraci FM. Microvascular Dysfunction and Cognitive Impairment. *Cell Mol Neurobiol*. 2016;36(2):241-258. doi:10.1007/s10571-015-0308-1
- 180. Kuller LH, Margolis KL, Gaussoin SA, et al. Relationship of hypertension, blood pressure, and blood pressure control with white matter abnormalities in the Women's Health Initiative Memory Study (WHIMS) MRI trial. J Clin Hypertens. 2010;12(3):203-212. doi:10.1111/j.1751-7176.2009.00234.x
- 181. Gottesman RF, Schneider ALC, Albert M, et al. Midlife Hypertension and 20-Year Cognitive Change. *JAMA Neurol*. 2014;71(10):1218. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2014.1646
- 182. Kannel WB, McGee DL. Update on some epidemiologic features of intermittent claudication: the Framingham Study. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 1985;33(1):13-18.
- 183. Murabito JM, Evans JC, Nieto K, Larson MG, Levy D, Wilson PW f. Prevalence and clinical correlates of peripheral arterial disease in the Framingham Offspring Study. *Am Heart J.* 2002;143(6):961-965.
- 184. Adler AI, Stevens RJ, Neil A, Stratton IM, Boulton AJM, Holman RR. UKPDS 59: hyperglycemia and other potentially modifiable risk factors for peripheral vascular disease in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2002;25(5):894-899.

- 185. The Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation Study Investigators. Effects of an Angiotensin-Converting–Enzyme Inhibitor, Ramipril, on Cardiovascular Events in High-Risk Patients. *N Engl J Med.* 2000;342(3):145-153. doi:10.1056/NEJM200001203420301
- 186. Olson JC, Erbey JR, Forrest KYZZ, Williams K, Becker DJ, Orchard TJ. Glycemia (or, in women, estimated glucose disposal rate) predict lower extremity arterial disease events in type 1 diabetes. *Metabolism*. 2002;51(2):248-254. doi:10.1053/meta.2002.30021
- 187. Zhang X, Gregg EW, Cheng YJ, et al. Diabetes mellitus and visual impairment: national health and nutrition examination survey, 1999-2004. *Arch Ophthalmol.* 2008;126(10):1421. doi:10.1001/archopht.126.10.1421
- 188. Congdon NG, Friedman DS, Lietman T. Important causes of visual impairment in the world today. *JAMA*. 2003;290(15):2057-2060. doi:10.1001/jama.290.15.2057
- 189. Wong TY, Cheung CMG, Larsen M, Sharma S, Simó R. Diabetic retinopathy. *Nat Rev Dis Prim.* 2016;2:16012. doi:10.1038/nrdp.2016.12
- 190. Klein R, Knudtson MD, Lee KE, Gangnon R, Klein BEK. The Wisconsin Epidemiologic Study of Diabetic Retinopathy XXII. The Twenty-Five-Year Progression of Retinopathy in Persons with Type 1 Diabetes. *Ophthalmology*. 2008;115(11):1859-1868. doi:10.1016/j.ophtha.2008.08.023
- 191. Do DV., Wang X, Vedula SS, et al. Blood pressure control for diabetic retinopathy. *Sao Paulo Med J.* 2015;133(3):278-279. doi:10.1590/1516-3180.20151333T1
- 192. Chase HP, Garg SK, Harris S, Hoops S, Jackson WE, Holmes DL. Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor treatment for young normotensive diabetic subjects: a two-year trial. *Ann Ophthalmol.* 1993;25(8):284-289.
- 193. Chaturvedi N, Porta M, Klein R, et al. Effect of candesartan on prevention (DIRECT-Prevent 1) and progression (DIRECT-Protect 1) of retinopathy in type 1 diabetes: randomised, placebo-controlled trials. *Lancet (London, England)*. 2008;372(9647):1394-1402. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61412-9
- 194. Chaturvedi N, Fuller JH, Pokras F, et al. Circulating plasma vascular endothelial growth factor and microvascular complications of type 1 diabetes mellitus: the influence of ACE inhibition. *Diabet Med.* 2001;18(4):288-294.
- 195. Klein R, Moss SE, Sinaiko AR, et al. The relation of ambulatory blood pressure and pulse rate to retinopathy in type 1 diabetes mellitus: the renin-angiotensin system study. *Ophthalmology*. 2006;113(12):2231-2236. doi:10.1016/j.ophtha.2006.06.003
- 196. Lloyd CE, Klein R, Maser RE, Kuller LH, Becker DJ, Orchard TJ. The progression of retinopathy over 2 years: the Pittsburgh Epidemiology of Diabetes Complications (EDC) Study. *J Diabetes Complications*. 9(3):140-148.

- 197. Papanas N, Ziegler D. Risk Factors and Comorbidities in Diabetic Neuropathy : An Update 2015. *Rev Diabet Stud.* 2015;12(1-2):48-62. doi:10.1900/RDS.2015.12.48
- 198. Maser RE, Steenkiste AR, Dorman JS, et al. Epidemiological correlates of diabetic neuropathy. Report from Pittsburgh Epidemiology of Diabetes Complications Study. *Diabetes*. 1989;38(11):1456-1461.
- 199. Forrest K, Maser RE, Pambianco G, Becker DJ, Orchard TJ. Hypertension as a Risk Factor for Diabetic Neuropathy: A Prospective Study. *Diabetes*. 1997;46(4):665-670. doi:10.2337/diab.46.4.665
- 200. Tesfeye, S. Chaturvedi, N. Eaton S et al. Vascular risk factors and diabetic neuropathy. *N Engl J Med.* 2005;352:341-350.
- 201. Lewis EJ, Hunsicker LG, Bain RP, Rohde RD. The effect of angiotensin-convertingenzyme inhibition on diabetic nephropathy. The Collaborative Study Group. *N Engl J Med*. 1993;329(20):1456-1462. doi:10.1056/NEJM199311113292004
- 202. Sawicki PT, Mühlhauser I, Didjurgeit U, Berger M. Effects of intensification of antihypertensive care in diabetic nephropathy. *J Diabetes Complications*. 1995;9(4):315-317. doi:10.1016/1056-8727(95)80030-I
- 203. Chaturvedi N. Randomised placebo-controlled trial of lisinopril in normotensive patients with insulin-dependent diabetes and normoalbuminuria or microalbuminuria. *Lancet*. 1997;349(9068):1787-1792. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736%2896%2910244-0
- 204. Lewis JB, Berl T, Bain RP, Rohde RD, Lewis EJ. Effect of intensive blood pressure control on the course of type 1 diabetic nephropathy. Collaborative Study Group. *Am J Kidney Dis*. 1999;34(5):809-817. doi:10.1016/S0272-6386(99)70036-3
- 205. O'Hare P, Bilbous R, Mitchell T, et al. Low-dose ramipril reduces microalbuminuria in type 1 diabetic patients without hypertension: results of a randomized controlled trial. *Diabetes Care*. 2000;23(12):1823-1829.
- 206. Poulsen PL, Ebbehøj E, Nosadini R, et al. Early ACE-i intervention in microalbuminuric patients with type 1 diabetes: effects on albumin excretion, 24 h ambulatory blood pressure, and renal function. *Diabetes Metab.* 2001;27(1):123-128.
- 207. Katayama S, Kikkawa R, Isogai S, et al. Effect of captopril or imidapril on the progression of diabetic nephropathy in Japanese with type 1 diabetes mellitus: a randomized controlled study (JAPAN-IDDM). *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*. 2002;55(2):113-121.
- 208. The Microalbuminuria Captopril Study Group. Captopril reduces the risk of nephropathy in IDDM patients with microalbuminuria. *Diabetologia*. 1996;39(5):587-593. doi:10.1007/BF00403306

- 209. The EUCLID study group. Randomised placebo-controlled trial of lisinopril in normotensive patients with insulin-dependent diabetes and normoalbuminuria or microalbuminuria. The EUCLID Study Group. *Lancet (London, England)*. 1997;349(9068):1787-1792.
- 210. Shankar A, Klein R, Klein BEK, Nieto FJ, Moss SE. Relationship between low-normal blood pressure and kidney disease in type 1 diabetes. *Hypertension*. 2007;49(1):48-54. doi:10.1161/01.HYP.0000252431.75154.3a
- 211. Ku E, McCulloch CE, Mauer M, Gitelman SE, Grimes BA, Hsu C. Association Between Blood Pressure and Adverse Renal Events in Type 1 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2016;39(12):2218-2224. doi:10.2337/dc16-0857
- 212. Nichols GA, Bell TJ, Pedula KL, O'Keeffe-Rosetti M. Medical care costs among patients with established cardiovascular disease. *Am J Manag Care*. 2010;16(3):e86-e93.
- 213. Schram MT, Chaturvedi N, Fuller JH, Stehouwer CD, EURODIAB Prospective Complications Study Group. Pulse pressure is associated with age and cardiovascular disease in type 1 diabetes: the Eurodiab Prospective Complications Study. *J Hypertens*. 2003;21(11):2035-2044. doi:10.1097/01.hjh.0000098119.00558.91
- 214. Chamberlain JJ, Johnson EL, Leal S, Rhinehart AS, Shubrook JH, Peterson L. Cardiovascular Disease and Risk Management: Review of the American Diabetes Association Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes 2018. *Ann Intern Med.* 2018;168(9):640. doi:10.7326/M18-0222
- 215. Group TSR. A Randomized Trial of Intensive versus Standard Blood-Pressure Control. *N* Engl J Med. 2015;373(22):2103-2116. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1511939
- 216. Muñoz-Durango N, Fuentes C, Castillo A, et al. Role of the Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System beyond Blood Pressure Regulation: Molecular and Cellular Mechanisms Involved in End-Organ Damage during Arterial Hypertension. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2016;17(7):797. doi:10.3390/ijms17070797
- 217. Bangalore S, Fakheri R, Toklu B, Messerli FH. Diabetes mellitus as a compelling indication for use of renin angiotensin system blockers: systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized trials. *Bmj*. 2016;352352(December):i438. doi:10.1136/bmj.i438
- 218. Catalá-López F, Macías Saint-Gerons D, González-Bermejo D, et al. Cardiovascular and Renal Outcomes of Renin–Angiotensin System Blockade in Adult Patients with Diabetes Mellitus: A Systematic Review with Network Meta-Analyses. Taal MW, ed. *PLOS Med.* 2016;13(3):e1001971. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001971
- 219. Brunström M, Eliasson M, Nilsson PM, Carlberg B. Blood pressure treatment levels and choice of antihypertensive agent in people with diabetes mellitus: an overview of systematic reviews. 2017:453-462. doi:10.1097/HJH.000000000001183

- 220. Mancia G, Fagard R, Narkiewicz K, et al. 2013 Practice guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Hypertension (ESH) and the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). J Hypertens. 2013;31(10):1925-1938. doi:10.1097/HJH.0b013e328364ca4c
- 221. Sobolewski BA, Zgibor JC, Orchard TJ. ACE inhibitors and calcium channel blockers : patterns of use and associations with mortality in type 1 diabetes. 2004;65:37-43. doi:10.1016/j.diabres.2003.11.017
- 222. Maahs DM, Snell-bergeon JK, Kinney GL, et al. ACE-I / ARB treatment in type 1 diabetes patients with albuminuria is associated with lower odds of progression of coronary artery calcification. *J Diabetes Complications*. 2017;21(2007):273-279. doi:10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2006.04.004
- 223. Pickering TG. Measurement of Blood Pressure In and Out of the Office. *J Clin Hypertens*. 2005;7(2):123-129. doi:10.1111/j.1524-6175.2005.04093.x
- 224. Allen NB, Siddique J, Wilkins JT, et al. Blood pressure trajectories in early adulthood and subclinical atherosclerosis in middle age. *JAMA J Am Med Assoc*. 2014;311(5):490-497. doi:10.1001/jama.2013.285122
- 225. McEvoy JW, Chen Y, Rawlings A, et al. Diastolic Blood Pressure, Subclinical Myocardial Damage, and Cardiac Events: Implications for Blood Pressure Control. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2016;68(16):1713-1722. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2016.07.754
- 226. Safar ME. Review: Pulse pressure, arterial stiffness and wave reflections (augmentation index) as cardiovascular risk factors in hypertension. *Ther Adv Cardiovasc Dis.* 2008;2(1):13-24. doi:10.1177/1753944707086652
- 227. Bernardi L, Gordin D, Bordino M, et al. Oxygen-induced impairment in arterial function is corrected by slow breathing in patients with type 1 diabetes. *Sci Rep.* 2017;7(1):6001. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-04947-4
- 228. Gordin D, Rönnback M, Forsblom C, Heikkilä O, Saraheimo M, Groop P-H. Acute hyperglycaemia rapidly increases arterial stiffness in young patients with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetologia*. 2007;50(9):1808-1814. doi:10.1007/s00125-007-0730-0
- 229. Nunley K, Ryan C., Orchard TJ, et al. White matter hyperintensities in middle-aged adults with childhood-onset type 1 diabetes. *Neurology*. 2015;84(20):2062-2069. doi:10.2337/db14-0723
- Levy BI, Schiffrin EL, Mourad J-J, et al. Impaired Tissue Perfusion: A Pathology Common to Hypertension, Obesity, and Diabetes Mellitus. *Circulation*. 2008;118(9):968-976. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.763730

- 231. Kodama S, Horikawa C, Fujihara K, et al. Meta-Analysis of the Quantitative Relation Between Pulse Pressure and Mean Arterial Pressure and Cardiovascular Risk in Patients With Diabetes Mellitus. Am J Cardiol. 2014;113(6):1058-1065. doi:10.1016/j.amjcard.2013.12.005
- 232. Schram MT, Kostense PJ, Van Dijk RAJM, et al. Diabetes, pulse pressure and cardiovascular mortality: The Hoorn Study. *J Hypertens*. 2002;20(9):1743-1751. doi:10.1097/00004872-200209000-00017
- 233. Orchard TJ, Dorman JS, Maser RE, et al. Prevalence of complications in IDDM by sex and duration. Pittsburgh Epidemiology of Diabetes Complications Study II. *Diabetes*. 1990;39(9):1116-1124.
- 234. Wagener DK, Sacks JM, LaPorte RE, Macgregor JM. The Pittsburgh study of insulindependent diabetes mellitus. Risk for diabetes among relatives of IDDM. *Diabetes*. 1982;31(2):136-144.
- 235. Borhani N, Kass E, Langford H, Payne G, Remington R, Stamler J. The hypertension detection and follow-up program: Hypertension detection and follow-up program cooperative group. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 1976;5(2):207-215.
- 236. Prince CT, Becker DJ, Costacou T, Miller RG, Orchard TJ. Changes in glycaemic control and risk of coronary artery disease in type 1 diabetes mellitus: findings from the Pittsburgh Epidemiology of Diabetes Complications Study (EDC). *Diabetologia*. 2007;50(11):2280-2288. doi:10.1007/s00125-007-0797-7
- 237. Allain CC, Poon LS, Chan CS, Richmond W, Fu PC. Enzymatic determination of total serum cholesterol. *Clin Chem.* 1974;20(4):470-475.
- 238. Warnick GR, Albers JJ. Heparin--Mn2+ quantitation of high-density-lipoprotein cholesterol: an ultrafiltration procedure for lipemic samples. *Clin Chem.* 1978;24(6):900-904
- 239. Ellis D, Coonrod BA, Dorman JS, et al. Choice of urine sample predictive of microalbuminuria in patients with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Am J Kidney Dis*. 1989;13(4):321-328.
- 240. Harrell FEJ. rms: Regression Modeling Strategies. R package version 5.1-2. https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/rms/index.html. Published 2018. Accessed October 28, 2018.
- 241. Uno H, Cai T, Pencina MJ, D'Agostino RB, Wei LJ. On the C-statistics for evaluating overall adequacy of risk prediction procedures with censored survival data. *Stat Med.* 2011;30(10):1105-1117. doi:10.1002/sim.4154
- 242. Goeman JJ. L1 Penalized Estimation in the Cox Proportional Hazards Model. *Biometrical* J. 2009;52(1):NA-NA. doi:10.1002/bimj.200900028

- 243. Oyeyemi GM, Ogunjobi EO, Folorunsho AI. On Performance of Shrinkage Methods A Monte Carlo Study. 2015;5(2):72-76. doi:10.5923/j.statistics.20150502.04
- 244. Shahraki HR, Salehi A, Zare N. Survival Prognostic Factors of Male Breast Cancer in Southern Iran: a LASSO-Cox Regression Approach. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev*. 2015;16(15):6773-6777. doi:10.7314/APJCP.2015.16.15.6773
- 245. Ojeda FM, Müller C, Börnigen D, et al. Comparison of Cox Model Methods in A Lowdimensional Setting with Few Events. *Genomics, Proteomics Bioinforma*. 2016;14(4):235-243. doi:10.1016/j.gpb.2016.03.006
- 246. Hadaegh F, Hatami M, Sheikholeslami F, Azizi F. Pulse pressure and systolic blood pressure are powerful independent predictors of cardiovascular disease in diabetic adults: results of an 8.4 years follow-up of Tehran Lipid and Glucose Study (TLGS). *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes*. 2010;118(9):638-643. doi:10.1055/s-0030-1254085
- 247. Lawes CMM, Bennett D a, Parag V, et al. Blood pressure indices and cardiovascular disease in the Asia Pacific region: a pooled analysis. *Hypertension*. 2003;42(1):69-75. doi:10.1161/01.HYP.0000075083.04415.4B
- 248. Franklin SS, Lopez VA, Wong ND, et al. Single versus combined blood pressure components and risk for cardiovascular disease: the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*. 2009;119(2):243-250. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.797936
- 249. Guo J, Fujiyoshi A, Willcox B, et al. Increased Aortic Calcification Is Associated With Arterial Stiffness Progression in Multiethnic Middle-Aged MenNovelty and Significance. *Hypertension*. 2017;69(1):102-108. doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.116.08459
- 250. Sell DR, Monnier VM. Molecular Basis of Arterial Stiffening: Role of Glycation A Mini-Review. *Gerontology*. 2012;58(3):227-237. doi:10.1159/000334668
- 251. Stehouwer CDA, Henry RMA, Ferreira I. Arterial stiffness in diabetes and the metabolic syndrome: a pathway to cardiovascular disease. *Diabetologia*. 2008;51(4):527-539. doi:10.1007/s00125-007-0918-3
- 252. Payne RA, Wilkinson IB, Webb DJ. Arterial Stiffness and Hypertension: Emerging Concepts. *Hypertension*. 2010;55(1):9-14. doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.107.090464
- 253. Gordin D, Waden J, Forsblom C, et al. Pulse Pressure Predicts Incident Cardiovascular Disease but Not Diabetic Nephropathy in Patients With Type 1 Diabetes (The FinnDiane Study). *Diabetes Care*. 2011;34(4):886-891. doi:10.2337/dc10-2013
- 254. De Boer IH, Bangalore S, Benetos A, et al. Diabetes and hypertension: A position statement by the American diabetes association. *Diabetes Care*. 2017;40(9):1273-1284. doi:10.2337/dci17-0026

- 255. Nathan DM, Cleary PA, Backlund J-YC, et al. Intensive Diabetes Treatment and Cardiovascular Disease in Patients with Type 1 Diabetes. *N Engl J Med.* 2005;353(25):2643-2653. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa052187
- 256. Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT)/Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications (EDIC) Study Research Group. Intensive Diabetes Treatment and Cardiovascular Outcomes in Type 1 Diabetes: The DCCT/EDIC Study 30-Year Follow-up. *Diabetes Care*. 2016;39(5):686-693. doi:10.2337/dc15-1990
- 257. American Diabetes Association. 9. Cardiovascular Disease and Risk Management: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes—2018. *Diabetes Care*. 2018;41(Supplement 1):S86-S104. doi:10.2337/dc18-S009
- 258. Pool LR, Ning H, Wilkins J, Lloyd-Jones DM, Allen NB. Use of Long-term Cumulative Blood Pressure in Cardiovascular Risk Prediction Models. *JAMA Cardiol*. 2018;60611:1-5. doi:10.1001/JAMACARDIO.2018.2763
- 259. Wang YX, Song L, Xing AJ, Gao M, Zhao HY, Li CH. Predictive Value of Cumulative Blood Pressure for All-Cause Mortality and Cardiovascular Events. *Nat Publ Gr.* 2017;(September 2016):1-8. doi:10.1038/srep41969
- 260. Robin X, Turck N, Hainard A, et al. pROC: An open-source package for R and S+ to analyze and compare ROC curves. *BMC Bioinformatics*. 2011;12. doi:10.1186/1471-2105-12-77
- 261. López-Ratón M, Rodríguez-Álvarez MX, Suárez CC, Sampedro FG. OptimalCutpoints : An *R* Package for Selecting Optimal Cutpoints in Diagnostic Tests. *J Stat Softw.* 2014;61(8). doi:10.18637/jss.v061.i08
- 262. Pool LR, Ning H, Wilkins J, Lloyd-Jones DM, Allen NB. Use of Long-term Cumulative Blood Pressure in Cardiovascular Risk Prediction Models. *JAMA Cardiol.* 2018;60611:1-5. doi:10.1001/JAMACARDIO.2018.2763
- 263. Liu J, Huang Y, Chen G, et al. Cumulative systolic blood pressure exposure in relation to cognitive function in middle-aged and elderly adults. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2016;95(48):e5514. doi:10.1097/MD.00000000005514
- 264. Zemaitis P, Liu K, Jacobs DR, et al. Cumulative systolic BP and changes in urine albuminto-creatinine ratios in nondiabetic participants of the multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2015;9(11):1922-1929. doi:10.2215/CJN.02450314
- 265. Kramer H, Colangelo L, Lewis CE, et al. Cumulative exposure to systolic blood pressure during young adulthood through midlife and the urine albumin-to-creatinine ratio at midlife. *Am J Hypertens*. 2017;30(5):502-509. doi:10.1093/ajh/hpx012

- Tsao PS, Niebauer J, Buitrago R, et al. Interaction of diabetes and hypertension on determinants of endothelial adhesiveness. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1998;18(6):947-953.
- 267. Orchard TJ, Costacou T, Kretowski A, Nesto RW. Type 1 Diabetes and Coronary Artery Disease. *Diabetes Care*. 2006;29(11):2528-2538. doi:10.2337/dc06-1161
- 268. Whelton PK, Carey RM, Aronow WS, et al. 2017 ACC/AHA/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/AGS/APhA/ASH/ASPC/NMA/PCNA Guideline for the Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Management of High Blood Pressure in Adults: Executive Summary: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. *Hypertension*. 2018;71(6):1269-1324. doi:10.1161/HYP.000000000000066
- 269. Austin PC. An Introduction to Propensity Score Methods for Reducing the Effects of Confounding in Observational Studies. *Multivariate Behav Res.* 2011;46(3):399-424. doi:10.1080/00273171.2011.568786
- 270. Bucolo G, David H. Quantitative determination of serum triglycerides by the use of enzymes. *Clin Chem.* 1973;19(5):476-482.
- 271. Levey AS, Stevens LA, Schmid CH, et al. A new equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate. *Ann Intern Med.* 2009;150(9):604-612.
- 272. Koch W, Latz W, Eichinger M, et al. Genotyping of the common haptoglobin Hp 1/2 polymorphism based on PCR. *Clin Chem*. 2002;48(9):1377-1382.
- Costacou T, Ferrell RE, Orchard TJ. Haptoglobin genotype: a determinant of cardiovascular complication risk in type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes*. 2008;57(6):1702-1706. doi:10.2337/db08-0095
- 274. Levy NS, Vardi M, Miller-lotan R, Cleary PA. An enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for the determination of the human haptoglobin phenotype. 2013;51(8):1615-1622. doi:10.1515/cclm-2013-0018.
- 275. Lange T, Vansteelandt S, Bekaert M. A Simple Unified Approach for Estimating Natural Direct and Indirect Effects. Am J Epidemiol. 2012;176(3):190-195. doi:10.1093/aje/kwr525
- 276. Lange T, Hansen KW, Sørensen R, Galatius S. Applied mediation analyses: a review and tutorial. *Epidemiol Health*. 2017;39:e2017035. doi:10.4178/epih.e2017035
- 277. Hernán MA, Brumback B, Robins JM. Marginal Structural Models to Estimate the Joint Causal Effect of Nonrandomized Treatments. *J Am Stat Assoc.* 2001;96(454):440-448. doi:10.1198/016214501753168154

- 278. van Buuren S. Multiple imputation of discrete and continuous data by fully conditional specification. *Stat Methods Med Res.* 2007;16(3):219-242. doi:10.1177/0962280206074463
- 279. White IR, Royston P, Wood AM. Multiple imputation using chained equations: Issues and guidance for practice. *Stat Med.* 2011;30(4):377-399. doi:10.1002/sim.4067
- Rubin DB. Multiple Imputation for Nonresponse in Surveys. John Wiley & Sons, Inc; 1987.doi:10.1002/9780470316696
- 281. Austin PC. An Introduction to Propensity Score Methods for Reducing the Effects of Confounding in Observational Studies. *Multivariate Behav Res.* 2011;46(3):399-424. doi:10.1080/00273171.2011.568786
- 282. Putnam K, Shoemaker R, Yiannikouris F, Cassis LA. The renin-angiotensin system: a target of and contributor to dyslipidemias, altered glucose homeostasis, and hypertension of the metabolic syndrome. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* 2012;302(6):H1219-30. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.00796.2011
- 283. Lange T, Hansen KW, Sørensen R, Galatius S. Applied mediation analyses: a review and tutorial. *Epidemiol Health*. 2017;39:e2017035. doi:10.4178/epih.e2017035
- 284. Zhao L, Song Y, Dong P, Li Z, Yang X, Wang S. Brachial Pulse Pressure and Cardiovascular or All-Cause Mortality in the General Population: A Meta-Analysis of Prospective Observational Studies. J Clin Hypertens. 2014;16(9):678-685. doi:10.1111/jch.12375
- 285. Mosley WJ, Greenland P, Garside DB, Lloyd-Jones DM. Predictive utility of pulse pressure and other blood pressure measures for cardiovascular outcomes. *Hypertension*. 2007;49(6):1256-1264. doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.106.083592
- 286. Safar ME, Levy BI, Struijker-Boudier H. Current Perspectives on Arterial Stiffness and Pulse Pressure in Hypertension and Cardiovascular Diseases. *Circulation*. 2003;107(22):2864-2869. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000069826.36125.B4
- 287. Franklin SS, Gokhale SS, Chow VH, et al. Does Low Diastolic Blood Pressure Contribute to the Risk of Recurrent Hypertensive Cardiovascular Disease Events?: The Framingham Heart Study. *Hypertension*. 2015;65(2):299-305. doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.114.04581
- 288. Swasey KK, Orchard TJ, Costacou T. Trends in cardiovascular risk factor management in type 1 diabetes by sex. *J Diabetes Complications*. 2018;32(4):411-417. doi:10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2018.01.003
- 289. Marcovecchio ML, Chiesa ST, Bond S, et al. ACE Inhibitors and Statins in Adolescents with Type 1 Diabetes. *N Engl J Med.* 2017;377(18):1733-1745. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1703518

290. Hill AB. The Environment And Disease: Association Or Causation? *Proc R Soc Med.* 1965;58(5):295-300.